


















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































shorter year, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost 
of a financial liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Company estimates the expected 
cash flows by considering all the contractual terms 
of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, 
extension, call and similar options) but does not 
consider the expected credit losses. Interest income 
is included in finance income in the statement of profit 
and loss.

	 e)	 Taxes

		  Current income tax

		  Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting 
date in the countries where the Company operates 
and generates taxable income.

		  Current income tax relating to items recognised 
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss 
(either in other comprehensive income or in equity). 
Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in Other comprehensive 
income (OCI) or directly in equity. 

		  Management periodically evaluates positions taken 
in the tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation 
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation 
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The 
Company shall reflect the effect of uncertainty for 
each uncertain tax treatment by using either most 
likely method or expected value method, depending 
on which method predicts better resolution of the 
treatment.

		  Deferred tax

		  Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date.

		  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except:

		  •	 When the deferred tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 

in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

		  •	 In respect of taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries 
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future

		  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, the carry forward of unused 
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses 
can be utilised, except:

		  •	 When the deferred tax asset relating to the 
deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

		  •	 In respect of deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only 
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 
and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised 

		  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-
assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

		  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on 
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

		  Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit 
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
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items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

		  The Company offsets deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right 
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities which intend either to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each 
future year in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 
recovered.

		  In the situation where the Company is entitled to a Tax 
holiday under the income Tax Act, 1961 enacted in India 
or Tax laws prevailing in the respective tax jurisdictions 
where it operates, no deferred tax (asset or liability) 
is recognised in respect of temporary differences 
which reverse during the tax holiday year, to the extent 
the Company’s gross total income is subject to the 
deduction during the tax holiday year. Deferred tax in 
respect of temporary differences which reverse after 
the tax holiday year is recognized in the year in which 
the temporary differences originate. For recognition 
of deferred taxes, the temporary differences which 
originate first are considered to reverse first.

		  Deferred Tax includes Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) 
recognizes MAT credit available as an asset only to 
the extent that there is convincing evidence that 
the Company will pay normal income tax during the 
specified year, i.e. the year for which MAT credit is 
allowed to be carried forward. The Company reviews 
the “MAT credit entitlement” asset at each reporting 
date and writes down the asset to the extent the 
Company does not have convincing evidence that it 
will pay normal tax during the specified year.

		  Goods and Service taxe paid on acquisition of assets 
or on incurring expenses

		  Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of sales/ value added taxes paid, except:

		  •	 When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets 
or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item, as applicable

		  •	 When receivables and payables are stated with 
the amount of tax included

		  The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet.

	 f)	 Property, plant and equipment

		  Capital work in progress is stated at cost, net of 
accumulated impairment loss, if any. Plant and 
equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if 
any Items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment 
and servicing equipment are recognized as property, 
plant and equipment when they meet the definition of 
property, plant and equipment. Otherwise, such items 
are classified as inventory. Such cost includes the 
cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment and 
borrowing cost for long term construction projects 
if the recognition criteria are met. Likewise, when a 
major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised 
in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as 
a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 
When significant parts of plant and equipment are 
required to be replaced at intervals, the Company 
depreciates them separately based on their specific 
useful lives. All other repair and maintenance costs are 
recognised in Statement of profit or loss as incurred. 
Depreciation on tangible assets is provided on the 
straight-line method over the useful lives of assets 
estimated by the management. Depreciation for 
assets purchased/ sold during a year is proportionately 
charged. Leases relating to land are amortized equally 
over the year of lease. Leased mines are depreciated 
over the estimated useful life of the mine or lease year, 
which ever is lower. The Management estimates the 
useful lives for the fixed assets, except lease mines and 
leasehold land, as follows.

		  •	 Building	 30 to 60 years

		  •	 Plant and Machinery	 * 5 to 25 years

		  •	 Office equipment	 3 to 25 years

		  •	 Furniture and fixtures	 10 years

		  •	 Salt works reservoir	 10 years

		  •	 Vehicles	 8 to 10 years

		  •	 Wind Turbine Generator	 20 to 22 years

		  •	 Temporary structures	 3 years

		  * �For these class of assets, based on internal 
assessment, the management believes that the 
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useful lives as given above best represent the year 
over which management expects to use these 
assets. Hence the useful lives for these assets is 
different from the useful lives as prescribed under 
Part C of Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013. The 
management believes that these estimated useful 
lives are realistic and reflect fair approximation of the 
year over which the assets are likely to be used.

		  The present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning of an asset after its use is included 
in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition 
criteria for a provision are met.

		  An item of property, plant and equipment and any 
significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income 
statement when the asset is derecognised.

		  The residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

	 g)	 Intangible assets

		  Intangible assets acquired separately are measured 
on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

		  Intangible assets comprising of computer software 
and trademark with finite useful life are amortised on 
straight line basis over estimated useful life of three 
years

		  Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over 
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation year and 
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with 
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end 
of each reporting year. Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset 
are considered to modify the amortisation year or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes 

in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on 
intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss unless such expenditure 
forms part of carrying value of another asset.

		  Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 
amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, 
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. 
The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to 
be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from 
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective.

		  An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., 
at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition 
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in the statement of profit and loss 
when the asset is derecognised.

		  Research and development costs

		  Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development 
expenditures on an individual project are recognised 
as an intangible asset when the Company can 
demonstrate:

		  •	 The technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that the asset will be available 
for use or sale

		  •	 Its intention to complete and its ability and 
intention to use or sell the asset

		  •	 How the asset will generate future economic 
benefits

		  •	 The availability of resources to complete the asset

		  •	 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
during development

		  Following initial recognition of the development 
expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins 
when development is complete and the asset is 
available for use. It is amortised over the year of 
expected future benefit. Amortisation expense is 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. During 
the year of development, the asset is tested for 
impairment annually.
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	 h)	 Asset for sale and discontinued operations

		  The Company classifies non-current assets as held 
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered 
principally through a sale rather than through 
continuing use. Actions required to complete the 
sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant 
changes to the sale will be made or that the decision 
to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be 
committed to the sale expected within one year from 
the date of classification.

		  For these purposes, sale transactions include 
exchanges of non-current assets for other non-current 
assets when the exchange has commercial substance. 
The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded 
met only when the assets is available for immediate 
sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that 
are usual and customary for sales of such assets, its 
sale is highly probable; and it will genuinely be sold, 
not abandoned. The Company treats sale of the asset 
to be highly probable when:

		  •	 The appropriate level of management is 
committed to a plan to sell the asset,

		  •	 An active programme to locate a buyer and 
complete the plan has been initiated (if applicable),

		  •	 The asset is being actively marketed for sale at a 
price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair 
value,

		  •	 The sale is expected to qualify for recognition as 
a completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification, and

		  •	 Actions required to complete the plan indicate that 
it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan 
will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn.

		  Non-current assets held for sale are measured at 
the lower of their carrying amount and the fair value 
less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental 
costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, 
excluding finance costs and income tax expense. 
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are 
presented separately in the balance sheet.

		  Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised.

		  Discontinued operations are excluded from the results 
of continuing operations and are presented as a single 
amount as profit/ loss after tax from discontinued 
operations in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

		  As mandated by Ind AS 105, assets and liabilities has 
not been reclassified or re-presented for prior period 
i.e. year ended March 31, 2021. 

		  Basis of segregation into discontinued operations 
and additional disclosures in respect of discontinued 
operations are provided in note 45 to the financial 
statements.

	 i)	 Borrowing costs

		  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial year of time to get ready for its 
intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the year in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist 
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing 
cost also includes exchange differences to the extent 
regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

	 j)	 Leases

		  The Company assesses at contract inception whether 
a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a year of time in exchange for consideration.

		  Company as a lessee

		  The Company applies a single recognition and 
measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The 
Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the 
right to use the underlying assets.

		  i)	 Right-of-use assets

			   •	 The Company recognises right-of-use assets 
at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., 
the date the underlying asset is available 
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured 
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost 
of right-of-use assets includes the amount 
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of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct 
costs incurred, and lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use 
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

			   •	 Plant and machinery 3 to 15 years

			   •	 Motor vehicles and other equipments 3 to 5 
years

			   If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the 
Company at the end of the lease term or the 
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, 
depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

			   The right-of-use assets are also subject to 
impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in 
section (p) Impairment of non-financial assets.

		  ii)	 Lease Liabilities

			   At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Company recognises lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in substance fixed 
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include 
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 
certain to be exercised by the Company and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, 
if the lease term reflects the Company exercising 
the option to terminate. Variable lease payments 
that do not depend on an index or a rate are 
recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred 
to produce inventories) in the period in which 
the event or condition that triggers the payment 
occurs

			   In calculating the present value of lease payments, 
the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date because the 
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the 
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the 
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there 

is a modification, a change in the lease term, a 
change in the lease payments.

		  iii)	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

			   The Company applies the short-term lease 
recognition exemption to its short-term leases 
of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain 
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of 
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases 
of office equipment that are considered to be 
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

	 k)	 Inventories

		  Inventories, except for Stores & Spares and Loose Tools, 
are stated at cost or net realizable value, whichever is 
lower Costs incurred in bringing each product to its 
present location and condition are accounted for as 
follows:

		  •	 Raw materials: cost includes cost of purchase and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition. Cost is 
determined on weighted average cost basis, 
except in case of cotton, for which cost is 
determined on specific cost basis.

		  •	 Finished goods: Cost of Finished Goods include 
material cost, cost of conversion, depreciation, 
other overheads to the extent applicable.

		  •	 Work in progress: It is valued at cost determined 
by taking material cost, labour charges, and 
direct expenses taking into account the stage of 
completion.

		  •	 Stock in trade: cost includes cost of purchase and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition. Cost is 
determined on weighted average basis.

		  •	 Stores and spares: are stated at cost less provision, 
if any, for obsolescence.

		  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale.

Notes to the Standalone Financial  Statements

235

Fi n a n c i a l  S t at e m e n t s

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores unless specified otherwise)



	 l)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

		  The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates 
the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating 
unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or Company’s of assets. When 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount.

		  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. In determining fair value less 
costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken 
into account. If no such transactions can be identified, 
an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, 
quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or 
other available fair value indicators

		  The Company bases its impairment calculation on 
detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which 
are prepared separately for each of the Company’s 
CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. 
These budgets and forecast calculations generally 
cover a year of three years For longer years, a long-
term growth rate is calculated and applied to project 
future cash flows after the third year. To estimate cash 
flow projections beyond years covered by the most 
recent budgets/forecasts, the Company extrapolates 
cash flow projections in the budget using a steady or 
declining growth rate for subsequent years, unless 
an increasing rate can be justified. In any case, this 
growth rate does not exceed the long-term average 
growth rate for the products, industries, or country 
or countries in which the entity operates, or for the 
market in which the asset is used.

		  Impairment losses of continuing operations, including 
impairment on inventories, are recognised in profit and 

loss section of the statement of profit and loss, except 
for properties previously revalued with the revaluation 
taken to OCI. For such properties, the impairment is 
recognised in OCI up to the amount of any previous 
revaluation.

		  For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
an indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the Company estimates the asset’s 
or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the assumptions used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the 
carrying of the asset does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
years Such reversal is recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a 
revaluation increase.

	 m)	 Provisions

		  General

		  Provisions are recognised when the Company has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. When the 
Company expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.

		  If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost.
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		  Decommissioning liability

		  The present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning of an asset after its use and 
leasehold improvements on termination of lease is 
included in the cost of the respective asset if the 
recognition criteria for a provision are met. The 
Company records a provision for decommissioning 
costs of its plant for manufacturing of Soda Ash 
and leasehold improvements at the leasehold land. 
Decommissioning costs are provided at the present 
value of expected costs to settle the obligation using 
estimated cash flows and are recognised as part of 
the cost of the particular asset. The cash flows are 
discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the 
risks specific to the decommissioning liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred 
and recognised in the statement of profit and loss 
as a finance cost. The estimated future costs of 
decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted 
as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future 
costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or 
deducted from the cost of the asset.

	 n)	 Gratuity and other post-employment benefits

		  Retirement benefit in the form of provident fund 
and superannuation fund is a defined contribution 
scheme. The Company has no obligation, other than 
the contribution payable to the provident fund and 
superannuation fund. The Company recognizes 
contribution payable to the provident fund and 
superannuation fund scheme as an expense, when an 
employee renders the related service. If the contribution 
payable to the scheme for service received before the 
balance sheet date exceeds the contribution already 
paid, the deficit payable to the scheme is recognized as 
a liability after deducting the contribution already paid. If 
the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution 
due for services received before the balance sheet date, 
then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that 
the pre-payment will lead to, for example, a reduction in 
future payment or a cash refund.

		  Gratuity and Leave Encashment which are defined 
benefits are accrued based on actuarial valuation as at 
the Balance Sheet date. The Company operates a defined 
benefit gratuity plan in India, which requires contributions 
to be made to a separately administered fund. The cost 
of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is 
determined using the projected unit credit method.

		  Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains 
and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding 
amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability and the return on plan assets (excluding 
amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the 
balance sheet with a corresponding debit or credit 
to retained earnings through OCI in the year in which 
they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent years.

		  Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on 
the earlier of:

		  •	 The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, 
and

		  •	 The date that the company recognises related 
restructuring costs

		  Net interest is calculated by applying the discount 
rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The 
company recognises the following changes in the 
net defined benefit obligation as an expense in the 
statement of profit and loss:

		  •	 Service costs comprising current service 
costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and

		  •	 Net interest expense or income

		  •	 Accumulated leave, which is expected to be 
utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as 
short-term employee benefit. The Company 
measures the expected cost of such absences 
as the additional amount that it expects to pay 
as a result of the unused entitlement that has 
accumulated at the reporting date. The Company 
recognizes expected cost of short-term employee 
benefit as an expense, when an employee renders 
the related service.

	 o)	 Share-based payments

		  Employees (including senior executives) of the 
Company receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services 
as consideration for equity instruments (equity-
settled transactions). Employees working in the 
business development Company are granted share 
appreciation rights, which are settled in cash (cash-
settled transactions).
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		  •	 Equity-settled transactions

			   The cost of equity-settled transactions is 
determined by the fair value at the date when 
the grant is made using an appropriate valuation 
model.

			   That cost is recognised, together with a 
corresponding increase in share-based payment 
(SBP) reserves in equity, over the year in which 
the performance and/or service conditions 
are fulfilled in employee benefits expense. The 
cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at each reporting date until 
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the 
vesting year has expired and the Company’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the 
statement of profit and loss for a year represents 
the movement in cumulative expense recognised 
as at the beginning and end of that year and is 
recognised in employee benefits expense.

			   Service and non-market performance conditions 
are not taken into account when determining the 
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood 
of the conditions being met is assessed as part of 
the Company’s best estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market 
performance conditions are reflected within 
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions 
attached to an award, but without an associated 
service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are 
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to 
an immediate expensing of an award unless there 
are also service and/or performance conditions.

			   No expense is recognised for awards that do not 
ultimately vest because non-market performance 
and/or service conditions have not been met. 
Where awards include a market or non-vesting 
condition, the transactions are treated as vested 
irrespective of whether the market or non-
vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all 
other performance and/or service conditions are 
satisfied.

			   When the terms of an equity-settled award are 
modified, the minimum expense recognised is 
the grant date fair value of the unmodified award, 

provided the original vesting terms of the award 
are met. An additional expense, measured as at 
the date of modification, is recognised for any 
modification that increases the total fair value 
of the share-based payment transaction, or is 
otherwise beneficial to the employee. Where 
an award is cancelled by the entity or by the 
counterparty, any remaining element of the fair 
value of the award is expensed immediately 
through profit or loss.

			   The dilutive effect of outstanding options is 
reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share.

	 p)	 Financial instruments

		  A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.

		  Financial assets

		  Initial recognition and measurement

		  All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 
plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular 
day trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the 
date that the Company commits to purchase or sell 
the asset.

		  Subsequent measurement

		  For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets are classified in four categories:

		  •	 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt 
instruments)

		  •	 Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) with recycling 
of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

		  •	 Financial assets designated at fair value through 
OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and 
losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)

		  •	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
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		  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

		  A ’financial asset’ is measured at the amortised cost if 
both the following conditions are met:

		  (a)	 The asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and

		  (b)	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding.

		  This category is the most relevant to the Company. 
After initial measurement, such financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is 
included in finance income in the profit or loss. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognised in 
the profit or loss. The Company financial assets at 
amortised cost includes trade receivables and loan 
to an associate and loan to a director included under 
other non-current financial assets.

		�  Financial assets at fair value through OCI (FVTOCI) 
(debt instruments)

		  A ’financial asset’ is classified as at the FVTOCI if both 
of the following criteria are met:

		  (a)	 The objective of the business model is achieved 
both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and

		  (b)	 The asset’s contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

		  Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category 
are measured initially as well as at each reporting date 
at fair value. For debt instruments, at fair value through 
OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation 
and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in 
the profit or loss and computed in the same manner 
as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The 
remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. 
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value changes 
recognised in OCI is reclassified from the equity to 
profit or loss. 

		  The Company’s debt instruments at fair value through 
OCI includes investments in quoted debt instruments 
included under other non-current financial assets.

		  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

		  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with net 
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss. 

		  This category includes derivative instruments and 
listed equity investments which the Company had not 
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through OCI. 
Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised 
in the statement of profit and loss when the right of 
payment has been established.

		�  Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI 
(equity instruments)

		  Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to 
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity 
instruments designated at fair value through OCI 
when they meet the definition of equity under Ind AS 
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not 
held for trading. The classification is determined on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis. Equity instruments 
which are held for trading and contingent consideration 
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination 
to which Ind AS103 applies are classified as at FVTPL.

		  Gains and losses on these financial assets are never 
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as 
other income in the statement of profit and loss when 
the right of payment has been established, except 
when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a 
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in 
which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity 
instruments designated at fair value through OCI are 
not subject to impairment assessment. 

		  Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category 
are measured at fair value with all changes recognized 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Derecognition

		  A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 
financial asset or part of a Company of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from 
the Company’s balance sheet) when:
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		  •	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired, or

		  •	 The company has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 
company has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the company 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

		  When the Company has transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to 
what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of 
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, 
nor transferred control of the asset, the Company 
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the 
extent of the Companies continuing involvement. In 
that case, the Company also recognises an associated 
liability. The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 
and obligations that the Company has retained.

		  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset 
and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Company could be required to repay.

		  Impairment of financial assets

		  In accordance with Ind-AS 109, the Company applies 
expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement 
and recognition of impairment loss on the following 
financial assets and credit risk exposure:

		  (a)	 Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are 
measured at amortised cost e.g., debt securities, 
deposits, trade receivables and bank balance.

		  (b	 Financial assets that are debt instruments and are 
measured as at FVTOCI

		  (c )	 Lease receivables under Ind-AS 116.

		  (d)	 Trade receivables or any contractual right to 
receive cash or another financial asset that results 
from transactions that are within the scope of Ind 
AS 115

		  For recognition of impairment loss on other financial 
assets and risk exposure, the Company determines 
that whether there has been a significant increase 
in the credit risk since initial recognition. If credit risk 
has not increased significantly, 12-month ECL is used 
to provide for impairment loss. However, if credit risk 
has increased significantly, lifetime ECL is used. If, in 
a subsequent year, credit quality of the instrument 
improves such that there is no longer a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, then the 
entity reverts to recognising impairment loss allowance 
based on 12-month ECL.

		  Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting 
from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument. The 12 -month ECL is a 
portion of the lifetime ECL which results from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

		  ECL is the difference between all contractual cash 
flows that are due to the Company in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the entity 
expects to receive (i.e., all cash shortfalls), discounted 
at the original EIR. When estimating the cash flows, an 
entity is required to consider:

		  •	 All contractual terms of the financial instrument 
(including prepayment, extension, call and similar 
options) over the expected life of the financial 
instrument. However, in rare cases when the 
expected life of the financial instrument cannot 
be estimated reliably, then the entity is required to 
use the remaining contractual term of the financial 
instrument.

		  •	 Cash flows from the sale of collateral held or 
other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms

			   ECL impairment loss allowance (or reversal) 
recognized during the year is recognized as 
income/expense in the statement of profit and 
loss (P&L). This amount is reflected in a separate 
line in the P&L as an impairment gain or loss. The 
balance sheet presentation for various financial 
instruments is described below:

		  •	 Financial assets measured as at amortised cost, 
contract assets and lease receivables: ECL is 
presented as an allowance, i.e. as an integral part 
of the measurement of those assets in the balance 
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sheet. The allowance reduces the net carrying 
amount. Until the asset meets write-off criteria, the 
Company does not reduce impairment allowance 
from the gross carrying amount.

		  •	 Loan commitments and financial guarantee 
contracts: ECL is presented as a provision in the 
balance sheet, i.e. as a liability.

		  •	 Debt instruments measured at FVTOCI: Since 
financial assets are already reflected at fair value, 
impairment allowance is not further reduced from 
its value. Rather, ECL amount is presented as 
‘accumulated impairment amount’ in the OCI.

		  Financial liabilities

		  Initial recognition and measurement

		  Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate.

		  All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
and in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

		  The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and 
other payables, loans and borrowings including bank 
overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and derivative 
financial instruments.

		  Subsequent measurement

		  For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
liabilities are classified in two categories: 

		  •	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 

		  •	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and 
borrowings)”

		  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

		  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are 
classified as held for trading if they are incurred for 
the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This 
category also includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Company that are not designated 

as hedging instruments in hedge relationships 
as defined by Ind-AS 109. Separated embedded 
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless 
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

		  Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognised in the profit or loss.

		  Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition 
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at 
the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria 
in Ind-AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated as 
FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes 
in own credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/
loss are not subsequently transferred to P&L. However, 
the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss 
within equity. All other changes in fair value of such 
liability are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss. The Company has not designated any financial 
liability as at fair value through profit and loss.

		�  Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Loans and 
Borrowings)

		  This is the category most relevant to the Company. 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation 
process.

		  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation 
is included as finance costs in the statement of profit 
and loss.

		  This category generally applies to borrowings. For 
more information refer Note 16.

		  Derecognition

		  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced 
by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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		  Embedded derivatives

		  An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid 
(combined) instrument that also includes a non-
derivative host contract - with the effect that some of 
the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a 
way similar to a stand-alone derivative. An embedded 
derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that 
otherwise would be required by the contract to 
be modified according to a specified interest rate, 
financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign 
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or 
credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of 
a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific 
to a party to the contract. Reassessment only occurs 
if there is either a change in the terms of the contract 
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial 
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss.

		  If the hybrid contract contains a host that is a financial 
asset within the scope of Ind AS 109, the Company 
does not separate embedded derivatives. Rather, it 
applies the classification requirements contained in 
Ind AS 109 to the entire hybrid contract. Derivatives 
embedded in all other host contracts are accounted 
for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value 
if their economic characteristics and risks are not 
closely related to those of the host contracts and the 
host contracts are not held for trading or designated 
at fair value though profit or loss. These embedded 
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in 
fair value recognised in profit or loss, unless designated 
as effective hedging instruments.

		  Reclassification of financial assets

		  The Company determines classification of financial 
assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After 
initial recognition, no reclassification is made for 
financial assets which are equity instruments and 
financial liabilities. For financial assets which are debt 
instruments, a reclassification is made only if there is 
a change in the business model for managing those 
assets. Changes to the business model are expected 
to be infrequent. The Company’s senior management 
determines change in the business model as a result 
of external or internal changes which are significant to 
the Company’s operations. Such changes are evident 
to external parties. A change in the business model 

occurs when the Company either begins or ceases to 
perform an activity that is significant to its operations. If 
the Company reclassifies financial assets, it applies the 
reclassification prospectively from the reclassification 
date which is the first day of the immediately next 
reporting year following the change in business 
model. The Company does not restate any previously 
recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains 
or losses) or interest. The following table shows various 
reclassification and how they are accounted for as per 
below:

		  i)	 Amortised cost to FVTPL - Fair value is measured at 
reclassification date. Difference between previous 
amortized cost and fair value is recognised in P&L.

		  ii)	 FVTPL to Amortised Cost - Fair value at 
reclassification date becomes its new gross 
carrying amount. EIR is calculated based on the 
new gross carrying amount.

		  iii)	 Amortised cost to FVTOCI - Fair value is 
measured at reclassification date. Difference 
between previous amortised cost and fair value 
is recognised in OCI. No change in EIR due to 
reclassification.

		  iv)	 FVTOCI to Amortised cost - Fair value at 
reclassification date becomes its new amortised 
cost carrying amount. However, cumulative 
gain or loss in OCI is adjusted against fair value. 
Consequently, the asset is measured as if it had 
always been measured at amortised cost.

		  v)	 FVTPL to FVTOCI - Fair value at reclassification 
date becomes its new carrying amount. No other 
adjustment is required.

		  vi)	 FVTOCI to FVTPL - Assets continue to be measured 
at fair value. Cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in OCI is reclassified to Statement of 
Profit and Loss at the reclassification date.

		  Offsetting of financial instruments

		  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously.
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	 q)	� Derivative financial instruments and hedge 
accounting

		  Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

		  The Company uses derivative financial instruments, 
such as forward currency contracts, to hedge its 
foreign currency risks. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the 
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives 
are carried as financial assets when the fair value is 
positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is 
negative.

		  Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.

	 r)	 Cash and cash equivalents

		  Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet 
comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Bank balances other than the balance included in cash 
and cash equivalents represents balance on account 
of unpaid dividend and margin money deposit with 
banks.

	 s)	 Dividend

		  The Company recognises a liability to pay dividend 
to equity holders when the distribution is authorised 
and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of 
the Company. As per the corporate laws in India, a 
distribution is authorised when it is approved by the 
shareholders A corresponding amount is recognised 
directly in equity.

	 t)	 Government Grants

		  Government grants are recognised when there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attached conditions complied in. When the 
grant relates to an expense item, it Is recognised as 
Income on a systematic basis over the years that the 
related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, 
are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is 
recognised as an income in equal amounts over the 
expected useful life of the related asset. When the 

Company receives grants of non-monetary assets, the 
asset and the grant are recorded at fair value amounts 
and released to profit or loss over the expected useful 
life in a pattern of consumption of the benefit of the 
underlying asset i.e. by equal annual instalments.

		  When loans or similar assistance are provided by 
governments or related institutions, with an interest 
rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect 
of this favourable interest is regarded as a government 
grant. The loan or assistance is initially recognised and 
measured at fair value and the government grant is 
measured as the difference between the initial carrying 
value of the loan and the proceeds received. The loan 
is subsequently measured as per the accounting policy 
applicable to financial liabilities.

	 u)	 Foreign currencies

		  The company’s financial statements are presented in 
INR, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

		  Transactions and balances

		  Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded 
in the functional currency, using the spot exchange 
rates at the date of the transaction first qualifies 
for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at 
the reporting date. Exchange differences that arise 
on settlement of monetary items e recognised in 
Statement of Profit and Loss. Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when 
the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising 
on translation of nonmonetary items measured at 
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the 
gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., 
translation differences on items whose fair value gain 
or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also 
recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

	 v)	 Investment in subsidiary

		  Investment in subsidiary is carried at cost in the 
separate financial statements. Investment carried at 
cost is tested for impairment as per IND AS 36.
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	 w)	 Contingent Liabilities

		  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events whose existence will be confirmed 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events beyond the control 
of the Company or a present obligation that is not 
recognized because it is not probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A 
contingent liability also arises in extremely rare cases 
where there is a liability that cannot be recognized 
because it cannot be measured reliably. The Company 
does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses 
its existence in the financial statements. Contingent 
assets are only disclosed when it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity.

	 x)	 Earnings per share

		  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the 
net profit or loss attributable to equity holders of parent 
company (after deducting preference dividends and 
attributable taxes) by the weighted average number of 
equity shares outstanding during the year.

		  Partly paid equity shares are treated as a fraction of 
an equity share to the extent that they are entitled to 
participate in dividends relative to a fully paid equity 
share during the reporting year. The weighted average 
number of equity shares outstanding during the year 
is adjusted for events such as bonus issue, bonus 
element in a rights issue, share split, and reverse share 
split (consolidation of shares) that have changed 
the number of equity shares outstanding, without a 
corresponding change in resources.

		  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable 
to equity shareholders of the parent company and 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the year are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential equity shares.

	 y)	 Onerous Contracts

		  If the Company has a contract that is onerous, the 
present obligation under the contract is recognised 
and measured as a provision. However, before 
a separate provision for an onerous contract is 
established, the Company recognises any impairment 
loss that has occurred on assets dedicated to that 

contract. An onerous contract is a contract under 
which the unavoidable costs (i.e., the costs that the 
Company cannot avoid because it has the contract) 
of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed 
the economic benefits expected to be received under 
it. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the 
least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the 
lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation 
or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. The cost of 
fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relate 
directly to the contract (i.e., both incremental costs 
and an allocation of costs directly related to contract 
activities).”

	 z)	 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

		  New and amended standards

		  (i)	 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: 
Amendments to Ind AS 109, Ind AS 107, Ind AS 
104 and Ind AS 116 

			   The amendments provide temporary reliefs 
which address the financial reporting effects 
when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced 
with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate 
(RFR).	

			   The amendments include the following practical 
expedients: 		

			   -	 A practical expedient to require contractual 
changes, or changes to cash flows that 
are directly required by the reform, to be 
treated as changes to a floating interest rate, 
equivalent to a movement in a market rate of 
interest 

			   -	 Permit changes required by IBOR reform 
to be made to hedge designations and 
hedge documentation without the hedging 
relationship being discontinued 

			   -	 Provide temporary relief to entities from 
having to meet the separately identifiable 
requirement when an RFR instrument is 
designated as a hedge of a risk component 

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the company. The Company intends 
to use the practical expedients in future periods if 
they become applicable.

GHCL Limited Integrated Annual  Report  2021-22

244

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores unless specified otherwise)



		  (ii)	 Conceptual framework for financial reporting 
under Ind AS issued by ICAI

			   The Framework is not a Standard and it does not 
override any specific standard. Therefore, this does 
not form part of a set of standards pronounced 
by the standard-setters. While, the Framework 
is primarily meant for the standard-setter for 
formulating the standards, it has relevance to the 
preparers in certain situations such as to develop 
consistent accounting policies for areas that are 
not covered by a standard or where there is choice 
of accounting policy, and to assist all parties to 
understand and interpret the Standards.

			   The amendments made in following standards due 
to Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
under Ind AS .includes amendment of the footnote 
to the definition of an equity instrument in Ind AS 
102- Share Based Payments, footnote to be added 
for definition of liability i.e. definition of liability is 
not revised on account of revision of definition 
in conceptual framework in case of Ind AS 37 - 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets etc.		

			   The MCA has notified the Amendments to Ind AS 
consequential to Conceptual Framework under 
Ind AS vide notification dated June 18, 2021, 
applicable for annual periods beginning on or 
after April 1, 2021. Accordingly, the Conceptual 
Framework is applicable for preparers for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 
2021.		

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Company.

		  (iii)	 Ind AS 116: COVID-19 related rent 
concessions 	

			   MCA issued an amendment to Ind AS 116 Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 to 
update the condition for lessees to apply the relief 
to a reduction in lease payments originally due on 

or before 30 June 2022 from 30 June 2021. The 
amendment applies to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 April 2021. In case a lessee 
has not yet approved the financial statements for 
issue before the issuance of this amendment, then 
the same may be applied for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020.

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Company.

		  (iv)	 Ind AS 103: Business combination 

			   The amendment states that to qualify for 
recognition as part of applying the acquisition 
method, the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed must meet the definitions 
of assets and liabilities in the Framework for 
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements in accordance with Indian Accounting 
Standards* issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India at the acquisition date. 
Therefore, the acquirer does not recognise those 
costs as part of applying the acquisition method. 
Instead, the acquirer recognises those costs 
in its post-combination financial statements in 
accordance with other Ind AS.		

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Company

		  (v)	 Amendment to Ind AS 105, Ind AS 16 and Ind AS 
28

			   The definition of “Recoverable amount” is 
amended such that the words “the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use” are replaced with “higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use”. 
The consequential amendments are made in Ind 
AS 105, Ind AS 16 and Ind AS 28.		

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Company.
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3	 Property, plant and equipment (Contd.)

 Net book value 
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Property, plant and equipment 2,454.53 2,656.62
Capital work in progress 212.98 80.54
Asset classified as held for sale 576.26 2.34

	 Property plant and equipment are subject to charge to secure the company’s borrowings as discussed in Note 16

	 On transition to Ind AS (i.e. 1 April 2015), the company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all Property, plant 
and equipment measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as the deemed cost of Property, plant and 
equipment.

	 Leasehold Land *

	 Land for soda ash plant and for corporate office are taken on lease from the Government of India for a year of 90 to 99 years. 
leasehold lands are capitalised and amortised over the life of lease or life of assets (whichever is lower).

	 Leased Mines #

	 Leased mines represents expenditure incurred on development of mines.

	 Asset held for sale **

	 Assets held for sale represents the assets of Home textile business at Vapi unit to be transferred by the company pursuent to a 
Business transfer agreement and Land in Madurai (Yarn Unit) approved by Board for transfer in future. ( Refer Note no 47)

	 Capitalised borrowing costs

	 The amount of borrowing cost capitalised during the year ended March 31, 2022 was NIL (for the year March 31, 2021: INR 
0.34 Crore) on account of capacity expansion of soda ash plant and other capital expenditure. The rate used to determine the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was NIL (for the year March 31 2021: 8.25%) which is the effective interest 
rate of the specific borrowing.

4	 Intangible assets

Cost Trademarks Software Total Amount

As at April 1, 2020 2.65 8.61 11.26
Additions – 3.59 3.59
Disposals – (0.00) (0.00)
As at March 31, 2021 2.65 12.20 14.85
Additions – – –
Disposals-continuing operations
Adjustments due to Discontinued operations (2.65) (1.26) (3.91)
As at March 31, 2022 0.00 10.94 10.94
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4	 Intangible assets (Contd.)

Amortisation Trademarks Software Total Amount

As at April 1, 2020 2.43 3.37 5.80
Amortization 0.22 2.78 3.00
Disposals (0.00) (0.00)
As at March 31, 2021 2.65 6.15 8.80
Amortization-continuing operations – 2.91 2.91
Amortization-discontinued operations 0.12 0.12
Disposals- Amortization charge for the year continuing operations – –
Disposals- Amortization discontinuing operations (2.65) (0.85) (3.50)
As at March 31, 2022 0.00 8.33 8.33

Net book value Trademarks Software Total Amount

As at March 31, 2022 0.00 2.61 2.61
As at March 31, 2021 0.00 6.05 6.05

CWIP
Amount in CWIP for a period of

TotalLess   than 
1 year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More    than    

3 years

Projects in progress -2021-22 198.78 8.00 5.78 0.42 212.98
Projects in progress -2020-21 60.65 17.30 2.19 0.40 80.54

	 Intangible assets include license for trademark acquired for obtaining exclusive manufacturing and marketing rights for one of 
its innovative textile product in USA.

	 On transition to Ind AS (i.e. 1 April 2015), the company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all Intangible assets 
measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as the deemed cost of Intangible assets.

	 Capital Work in progress aging schedule(CWIP)

CWIP
To be completed in

Less than1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years

Debottlenecking project at Soda ash plant
As at 31st March 2022 55.53 - - -
As at 31st March 2021 - 14.17 - -

	� Completion schedule for capital-work-in progress, whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to 
its original plan :

	 All title deeds of Immovable Property are held in name of the Company
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Unquoted equity shares
Investment in Subsidiary Companies, at cost
Investment in Grace Home Fashion LLC
Gross Amount of Investment 24.97 24.97
Less: Provison for diminution in value of investment (Refer Note 51) (24.97) –
Net Amount of Investment in Grace Home Fashions LLC – 24.97
Investment in Dan River Properties LLC 0.00 0.00
Investment in GHCL Textiles Limited 0.01 0.01
Total Investments in subsidiaries 0.01 24.98
Unquoted equity shares, at amortised cost
5200 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 5200 equity shares) of INR 10/- each 
fully paid up of DM Solar Farm Pvt Ltd *

0.01 0.01

132,700 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 63,400 equity shares) of INR 10/- 
each fully paid up of OPG Power Generation Pvt Ltd

0.15 0.07

12,00,000 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 12,00,000) of INR 10/- each fully 
paid up of SSMT Power Pvt Ltd *

1.20 1.20

950 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 950) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Puvaneshwari Enterprises#

0.00 0.00

950 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 950) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Sarojarajan Green Power Eenergy#

0.00 0.00

970 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 970) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
AFCM Wind Farms Pvt Ltd#

0.00 0.00

970 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 970) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
AJSM Green Energy Pvt Ltd#

0.00 0.00

780 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 780) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
APGL Green Energy Pvt Ltd#

0.00 0.00

780 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 780) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Jaichander Wind Farms Pvt Ltd#

0.00 0.00

780 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 780) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Sushmitha Titiksha Green Energy Pvt Ltd#

0.00 0.00

2,440 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 2,440) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Prechander Wind Farms#

0.00 0.00

2,440 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 2,440) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Prechander Green Energy#

0.00 0.00

2,440 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 2,440) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Jayanthi Wind Farms#

0.00 0.00

2,440 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 2,440) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Jayanthi Green Energy#

0.00 0.00

2600 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: NIL) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Vaayu Renewable Energy (Mandvi) Pvt Ltd*#

0.00 –

100 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 100 equity shares) of TCP Ltd of INR 10/- 
each fully paid up#

0.00 0.00

Unquoted debt securities (at amortised cost)

5	 Investments
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5	 Investments (Contd.)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Investment in government securities
7 years National Savings Certificates 0.04 0.04
(Pledged with government authorities)
Quoted equity shares(through FVTOCI)
83,000 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 83,000 equity shares) of HDFC Bank 
Limited of INR 1/- each fully paid up

12.20 12.74

68,598 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 68,598 equity shares) of IDBI Bank 
Limited of INR 10/- each fully paid up

0.29 0.30

285 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 285 equity shares) of Bank of Baroda 
(formally known as Dena Bank) of INR 10/- each fully paid up

0.00 0.00

272,146 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 272,146 equity shares) of GTC 
Industries Limited of INR 10/- each fully paid up

2.54 0.73

4,500 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 4,500 equity shares) of Canara Bank of 
INR 10/- each fully paid up

0.10 0.05

Total 16.55 15.15
Non-current 16.55 15.15
Aggregate book value of quoted investments 15.13 13.82
Aggregate market value of quoted investments 15.13 13.82
Aggregate value of unquoted investments 26.40 26.32
Aggregate amount of Diminuition in value of investments 24.97 –
Total 16.56 40.13

	 *Company does not exercise any significant influence on DM Solar Farm Pvt Ltd, SSMT Power Pvt Ltd & Vaayu Renewable 
Energy (Mandvi) Pvt Ltd thus are not considered as associates.

	 Investments at fair value through OCI (fully paid) reflect investment in quoted and unquoted equity securities and quoted 
debt securities. These equity shares are designated as FVTOCI as they are not held for trading purpose and are not in similar line 
of business as the Company. Thus disclosing their fair value fluctuation in profit or loss will not reflect the purpose of holding. 
The Company has not transferred any gain or loss within equity in the previous year. Refer note 39 for determination of their fair 
values.

	 #	 Amount being in thousands are not appearing

6	 Other non-current financial assets

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Security deposits 9.44 8.65
Bank deposits with more than 12 months maturity
–	 On escrow account# 12.08 9.79
–	 On account of margin money deposited* 0.15 0.80
Total other non-current financial assets 21.67 19.24

	 # As per the guidelines of the Ministry of Coal, Government of India all Coal Mine owners who are operating Coal Mines are required to prepare a Mine 
Closure Plan and on approval of such plan need to open an escrow for depositing money towards mine closure activity. Annual amount to be deposited 
shall be as per mine closure plan. Total amount deposited along with interest shall be refunded as per conditions of approved mine plan.

	 * Margin money held with banks against opening of letter of credit (LC) and bank gurantee
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8	 Inventories

9	 Trade receivables

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Inventories valued at lower of cost and net realizable value
Raw materials (at cost) 559.72 357.71
[includes in transit INR 8.76 Crore (At March 31 ,2021: 6.68 Crore)]
Work-in-progress (at cost) 27.92 62.96
Finished goods (at lower of cost and net realisable value) 96.81 172.80
[includes in transit INR 26.03 Crore (At March 31 ,2021: 28.31 Crore)]
Stock-in-trade (at lower of cost and net realisable value) 54.33 22.32
[includes in transit Nil (At March 31, 2021: INR 3.32 Crore)]
Stores and spares (at lower of cost and net realisable value) 203.17 124.69
Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value 941.95 740.48

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Trade receivables 220.75 213.23
Receivable from related parties (Refer Note 36) 52.91 37.43
Total trade receivables 273.66 250.66

Break-up for security details:
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Trade receivables
Secured, considered good  75.97  47.81 
Unsecured, considered good  198.26  202.85 
Gross Trade receivable  274.23  250.66 
Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts  (0.57)  -   
Net Total trade receivables  273.66  250.66 

7	 Other-non current assets

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Capital advances 84.81 60.94
Deposit with statutory authorities under protest 5.54 5.63
Total 90.35 66.57

	 No Advances are due from directors or other officer of the Company either severally or jointly with any other person. Nor any 
advances are due from firm or any private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or a member 
other than stated above.
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9	 Trade receivables (Contd.)

10A Cash and cash equivalent

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Balances with bank
–	 On current account 16.65 32.48
–	 Deposits with original maturity of less than three months 213.37
Cash on hand 0.08 0.17
Total cash and cash equivalents 230.10 32.65

	 No trade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the Company either severally or jointly with any other 
person. Nor any trade or other receivable are due from firm or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, 
a director or a member other than stated above.

	 For terms and conditions related to related party receivables, Refer Note 36

	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 45 to 180 days.

Particulars	

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Less  than 
6 months

6 months 
1 year

1-2 
years

 2-3 
years

 
More  than 

3 years
 Total

(i)	 Undisputed Trade receivables  –  
considered good

As at 31-03-2022  239.59  31.67  -    2.12  0.28  273.66 
As at 31-03-2021  219.47  16.45  13.58  0.85  0.31  250.66 
(ii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables – which 

have significant increase in credit risk
 -   

As at 31-03-2022  -    0.03  0.11  0.07  0.36  0.57 
As at 31-03-2021  -    -    -    -   - -

(iii)	 Disputed Trade Receivables     considered 
good

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv)	 Disputed Trade Receivables considered 
doubtful

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Gross Trade receivable     
As at 31-03-2022  239.59  31.70  0.11  2.19  0.64  274.23 
As at 31-03-2021  219.47  16.45  13.58  0.85  0.31  250.66 
Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts
As at 31-03-2022  (0.57)
As at 31-03-2021
Net trade receivables
As at 31-03-2022  273.66 
As at 31-03-2021  250.66 
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11A	Loans current

	 (Unsecured, considered good, unless stated otherwise)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Loan to employees 2.01 2.23
Loan to subsidiary company (Refer Note 36) 0.66 1.50
Loan to ESOS trust (Refer Note 36 & 43) 5.53 5.70

8.20 9.43

	 No Loans are due from directors or other officer of the Company either severally or jointly with any other person. Nor any loans 
are due from firm or any private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or a member other than 
stated above.

	 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets which generate a fixed or variable interest income for the Company. 
The carrying value may be affected by changes in the credit risks of the counter parties.

10B Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

–	 On unpaid dividend account 4.52 4.26
–	 On account of margin money deposited* 7.13 9.40
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents 11.65 13.66

	 * Margin money held with banks against opening of letter of credit (LC) and bank gurantee.

	 As at March 31 2022, the Company has available INR 242 Crores (As at March 31 2021: INR 630 Crores) of undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities.

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise the following:
Balances with bank
–	 On current account 16.65 32.48
–	 Deposits with original maturity of less than three months 213.37 –
Cash on hand 0.08 0.17
Cash at bank and Cash on hand attributable to discontinued operations(Note 45) 0.17 –
Total cash and cash equivalents 230.27 32.65
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	 Breakup of financial assets carried at amortised cost

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Loans (Refer Note 11A) 8.20 9.43
Security Deposits (Refer Note 6) 9.44 8.65
Trade receivables (Refer Note 9) 273.66 250.66
Cash and cash equivalents (Refer Note 10A) 230.10 32.65
Investments in Unquoted equity shares (Refer Note 5) 1.38 1.29
Investments in Unquoted debt securities (Refer Note 5) 0.04 0.04
Total financial assets carried at amortised cost 522.82 302.71

(H in Crores)

Type of Borrower

Amount of loan 
or advance in 
the nature of 

loan outstanding

Percentage to 
the total Loans 
and Advances 

in the nature of 
loans

Promoters
March 31, 2022 –
March 31, 2021 –
Directors
March 31, 2022 – –
March 31, 2021 – –
KMPs
March 31, 2022 0.09 1.10%
March 31, 2021 0.12 1.25%
Related Parties
March 31, 2022 0.66 8.05%
March 31, 2021 1.50 15.91%

	 Details of Loans or Advances in the nature of loans are granted to promoters, directors, KMPs and the related parties (as defined 
under Companies Act, 2013,) either severally or jointly with any other person, that are repayable on demand or without specifying 
any terms or period of repayment :
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11B	Derivative instruments

11C	Other current financial asset

	 (Unsecured, considered good, unless stated otherwise)

12	 Income Tax and deferred tax

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Foreign exchange forward contracts – 4.14
Total derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss – 4.14

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Export incentives receivable 2.94 2.54
GST refund receivable – 5.90
Subvention receivable 2.41 3.38
Others 0.60 0.76
(Include Insurance claim receivable)

5.95 12.58

Current tax assets (net)
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Income tax paid / TDS/TCS (At March 31, 2021: net of provision of INR 107.01 Crore) – 9.73
Total – 9.73

Current tax liabilities (net)
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Income tax payable (net of income tax paid/TDS/TCS of H INR 226.09 ) 14.54 –
Total 14.54 –

	 Derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss reflect the positive change in fair value of those foreign exchange 
forward contracts that are not designated in hedge relationships, but are, nevertheless, intended to reduce the level of foreign 
currency risk for expected sales and purchases.
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Accounting profit before tax from continuing operations  786.97 418.33
Profit/(loss) before tax from a discontinued operation  81.46 4.07
Accounting profit before income tax  868.43 422.40
At India’s statutory income tax rate of 25.168% (March 31, 2021: 25.168%)  218.57 106.31
Adjustment for tax purposes:
–	� Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years  -    (0.69)
–	� Difference in book depreciation & amortisation and depreciation & 

amortisation as per Income Tax Act, 1961
 4.36  3.49 

–	� Charity, donation and CSR expenses  2.49  2.48 
–	� Deduction under chapter VI-A  (0.04)  (0.52)
–	� Dimunition in value of investment  6.28  -   
–	� Loss of sale/disposal of land held for sale  0.40  2.19 
–	� Others  2.45  0.09 
At the effective income tax rate of 27.01% (March 31, 2021: 26.83%%)  234.52  113.35 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss from continuing 
operations

 204.10  104.85 

Deferred tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss from continuing 
operations

 8.43  7.42 

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss from 
discontinued operations

 21.99  1.08 

 234.52  113.35 
Tax adjustment for earlier years  (0.03)  (0.93)
Total tax expense  234.49  112.42 

Deferred tax expense/(income) relates to the following:
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Depreciation & amortisation 10.83 3.53
Expenditure debited to Statement of Profit and loss but allowed for tax purposes 
in subsequent years (on payment basis)

(1.38) 4.22

Right to use asset (0.27) (0.40)
Lease liabilites 0.12 0.14
Deferred tax expense/(income) 9.30 7.49
Deferred tax (income) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 0.11 (0.41)
Total Deferred tax expense/(income) 9.41 7.08

12	 Income Tax and deferred tax (Contd.)

	 Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by India’s domestic tax rate for March 31, 2022 and 
March 31, 2021:
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Deferred tax relates to the following:
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Deferred tax Liability
Property, Plant and Equipment (273.87) (263.04)
Right to use asset (2.79) (3.06)
Deferred Tax Assets
Expenditure debited to Statement of Profit and loss but allowed for tax purposes 
in subsequent years (on payment basis)

3.69 2.41

Lease liabilites 3.40 3.53
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (269.57) (260.16)
Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:
Deferred tax assets 7.09 5.94
Deferred tax liabilities (276.66) (266.10)
Deferred tax liabilities, net (269.57) (260.16)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Balances with statutory authorities 64.97 15.65
Advances recoverable in cash or kind 65.76 15.05
Prepaid expenses 2.55 3.65
Total other current assets 133.28 34.35

Particulars Number of Shares (of INR 10 each) Amount

As at April 1, 2020 17,50,00,000 175.00
Increase/(Decrease) during the year – –
At March 31, 2021 17,50,00,000 175.00
Increase/(Decrease) during the year – –
At March 31, 2022 17,50,00,000 175.00

12	 Income Tax and deferred tax (Contd.)

	 The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

13	 Other current assets

	 (Unsecured, Considered good, unless stated otherwise)

	 No advances are due from directors or other officer of the Company either severally or jointly with any other person. Nor any advances are 
due from firm or any private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or a member other than stated above.

14	 Share capital

	 Authorised share capital

	 Terms / rights attached to equity shares

	 The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of INR 10 per share. Each shareholder is entitled to one vote 
per equity share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the 
ensuring Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. In the event of liquidation on the Company, the equity 
shareholders are eligible to receive remaining assets of the Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion 
to their shareholding.
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14	 Share capital (Contd.)

	 Issued, Subscribed and fully paid up equity shares

Particulars Number of Shares Amount

Equity shares of INR 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid
As at April 1, 2020 9,50,13,286 95.01
Changes in share capital – –
At March 31, 2021 9,50,13,286 95.01
Changes in share capital- ESOS issued during the year ( July 15,2021) 3,37,500 0.34
At March 31, 2022 9,53,50,786 95.35

	 Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Shareholder’s holding more than 5 % shares
Promoter & Promoter Group 19.07% 19.24%
DSP Small Cap Fund   8.53% 9.09%
Ares Diversified 4.86% 5.19%

	 As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders/members and other declarations received from 
shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of shares.

	 No shares have been issued by the Company for consideration other than cash, during the year of five years immediately 
preceding the reporting date.

	 Shares reserved for issue under options

	 For details of shares reserved for issue under the Share based payment plan of the company, please Refer Note 33

	 Details of shares held by promoters as at 31st March 2022

Sr. 
no.

Promoter name
No. of Shares 
at beginning 

of the year

Change 
during the 

year

No. of 
Shares at 

the year end

%of total 
shares

% Change 
during the *

1 HINDUSTAN COMMERCIAL COMPANY LIMITED* 29,44,737 – 29,44,737 3.09% 0.01%
2 GEMS COMMERCIAL COMPANY LIMITED * 29,40,207 – 29,40,207 3.08% 0.01%
3 BANJAX LIMITED * 27,89,700 – 27,89,700 2.93% 0.01%
4 HEXABOND LIMITED * 27,18,200 – 27,18,200 2.85% 0.01%
5 OVAL INVESTMENT PVT.LTD.* 25,88,848 – 25,88,848 2.72% 0.01%
6 LHONAK ENTERNATIONAL PRIVATE LIMITED* 13,65,599 – 13,65,599 1.43% 0.01%
7 ANURAG DALMIA HUF * 5,72,774 – 5,72,774 0.60% 0.00%
8 CARISSA INVESTMENT PRIVATE LIMITED * 4,81,752 – 4,81,752 0.51% 0.00%
9 HARVATEX ENGINEERING AND 

PROCESSING COMPANYLIMITED *
4,15,723 – 4,15,723 0.44% 0.00%

10 WGF FINANCIAL SERVICES LTD * 3,78,807 – 3,78,807 0.40% 0.00%
11 ANURAG TRADING LEASING AND 

INVESTMENT COMPANYPRIVATE LTD *
2,87,200 – 2,87,200 0.30% 0.00%

12 DALMIA FINANCE LTD * 2,00,244 – 2,00,244 0.21% 0.00%
13 ARCHANA TRADING AND INVESTMENT 

COMPANY PRIVATE LIMITED *
1,32,848 – 1,32,848 0.14% 0.00%
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14	 Share capital (Contd.)

	 Details of shares held by promoters :

Sr. 
no.

Promoter name
No. of Shares 
at beginning 

of the year

Change 
during the 

year

No. of 
Shares at 

the year end

%of total 
shares

% Change 
during the *

14 ANURAG DALMIA 1,00,000 10,000.00 1,10,000 0.12% -0.01%
15 NEELABH DALMIA 69,500 35,000.00 1,04,500 0.11% -0.04%
16 BHARATPUR INVESTMENT LIMITED * 38,842 – 38,842 0.04% 0.00%
17 SANJAY TRADING INVESTMENT COMPANY 

PRIVATE LIMITED *
29,100 – 29,100 0.03% 0.00%

18 GENERAL EXPORTS AND CREDITS LIMITED* 17,000 – 17,000 0.02% 0.00%
19 GOLDEN TOBACCO LIMITED * 16,578 – 16,578 0.02% 0.00%
20 PASHUPATINATH COMMERCIAL PVT. LTD.* 15,000 – 15,000 0.02% 0.00%
21 SOVEREIGN COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. * 6,000 – 6,000 0.01% 0.00%
22 DALMIA HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED * 5,707 – 5,707 0.01% 0.00%
23 TRISHUL COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. * 5,100 – 5,100 0.01% 0.00%
24 SWASTIK COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. * 3,700 – 3,700 0.00% 0.00%
25 ALANKAR COMMERCIAL PRIVATE LIMITED* 2,600 – 2,600 0.00% 0.00%
26 RICKLUNSFORD TRADE AND INDUSTRIAL 

INVESTMENT LTD *
1,960 – 1,960 0.00% 0.00%

27 CHIRAWA INVESTMENT LIMITED * 1,860 – 1,860 0.00% 0.00%
28 MOURYA FINANCE LIMITED * 1,860 – 1,860 0.00% 0.00%
29 LAKSHMI VISHNU INVESTMENT LIMITED * 1,860 – 1,860 0.00% 0.00%
30 SIKAR INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED * 1,800 – 1,800 0.00% 0.00%
31 ANTARCTICA INVESTMENT PVT LTD * 768 – 768 0.00% 0.00%
32 COMOSUM INVESTMENT PVT LTD * 701 – 701 0.00% 0.00%
33 LOVELY INVESTMENT PVT LTD * 645 – 645 0.00% 0.00%
34 ALTAR INVESTMENT P LTD* 318 – 318 0.00% 0.00%
35 ILAC INVESTMENT PRIVATE LIMITED * 217 – 217 0.00% 0.00%
36 DEAR INVESTMENT P. LTD.* 55 – 55 0.00% 0.00%
37 RAM KRISHNA DALMIA FOUNDATION 1,45,000 (1,45,000.00) – 0.00% 0.15%

Total 1,82,82,810 (1,00,000) 1,81,82,810 19.07% 0.17%

	 * Change during the year on account of shares issued Pursuant to exercise of employee stock option by the employees

	 Details of shares held by promoters as at 31st March 2021

Sr. 
no.

Promoter name
No. of Shares 
at beginning 

of the year

Change 
during the 

year

No. of 
Shares at 

the year end

%of total 
shares

% Change 
during the

1 HINDUSTAN COMMERCIAL COMPANY 
LIMITED*

23,33,590 6,11,147 29,44,737 3.10% 0.64%

2 GEMS COMMERCIAL COMPANY LIMITED 29,40,207 – 29,40,207 3.09% –
3 BANJAX LIMITED 27,89,700 – 27,89,700 2.94% –
4 HEXABOND LIMITED 27,18,200 – 27,18,200 2.86% –
5 OVAL INVESTMENT PVT.LTD. 25,88,848 – 25,88,848 2.72% –
6 LHONAK ENTERNATIONAL PRIVATE 

LIMITED
13,65,599 – 13,65,599 1.44% –
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Sr. 
no.

Promoter name
No. of Shares 
at beginning 

of the year

Change 
during the 

year

No. of 
Shares at 

the year end

%of total 
shares

% Change 
during the

7 ANURAG DALMIA HUF 5,49,602 23,172 5,72,774 0.60% 0.02%
8 CARISSA INVESTMENT PRIVATE LIMITED 4,81,752 – 4,81,752 0.51% –
9 HARVATEX ENGINEERING AND 

PROCESSING COMPANYLIMITED
4,15,723 – 4,15,723 0.44% –

10 WGF FINANCIAL SERVICES LTD 3,78,807 – 3,78,807 0.40% –
11 ANURAG TRADING LEASING AND 

INVESTMENT COMPANYPRIVATE LTD
2,87,200 – 2,87,200 0.30% –

12 DALMIA FINANCE LTD 2,00,244 – 2,00,244 0.21% –
13 ARCHANA TRADING AND INVESTMENT 

COMPANY PRIVATE LIMITED
1,32,848 – 1,32,848 0.14% –

14 ANURAG DALMIA 1,00,000 – 1,00,000 0.11% –
15 NEELABH DALMIA 11,000 58,500 69,500 0.07% 0.06%
16 BHARATPUR INVESTMENT LIMITED 38,842 – 38,842 0.04% –
17 SANJAY TRADING INVESTMENT COMPANY 

PRIVATE LIMITED
29,100 – 29,100 0.03% –

18 GENERAL EXPORTS AND CREDITS LIMITED 17,000 – 17,000 0.02% –
19 GOLDEN TOBACCO LIMITED 16,578 – 16,578 0.02% –
20 PASHUPATINATH COMMERCIAL PVT. LTD. 15,000 – 15,000 0.02% –
21 SOVEREIGN COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. 6,000 – 6,000 0.01% –
22 DALMIA HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED 5,707 – 5,707 0.01% –
23 TRISHUL COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. 5,100 – 5,100 0.01% –
24 SWASTIK COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. 3,700 – 3,700 0.00% –
25 ALANKAR COMMERCIAL PRIVATE LIMITED 2,600 – 2,600 0.00% –
26 RICKLUNSFORD TRADE AND INDUSTRIAL 

INVESTMENT LTD
1,960 – 1,960 0.00% –

27 CHIRAWA INVESTMENT LIMITED 1,860 – 1,860 0.00% –
28 MOURYA FINANCE LIMITED 1,860 – 1,860 0.00% –
29 LAKSHMI VISHNU INVESTMENT LIMITED 1,860 – 1,860 0.00% –
30 SIKAR INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 1,800 – 1,800 0.00% –
31 ANTARCTICA INVESTMENT PVT LTD 768 – 768 0.00% –
32 COMOSUM INVESTMENT PVT LTD 701 – 701 0.00% –
33 LOVELY INVESTMENT PVT LTD 645 – 645 0.00% –
34 ALTAR INVESTMENT P LTD 318 – 318 0.00% –
35 ILAC INVESTMENT PRIVATE LIMITED 217 – 217 0.00% –
36 DEAR INVESTMENT P. LTD. 55 – 55 0.00% –
37 RAM KRISHNA DALMIA FOUNDATION 1,65,000 (20,000) 1,45,000 0.15% –0.02%
38 INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES LIMITED* 6,11,147 (6,11,147) – 0.00% –0.64%

Total 1,82,21,138 61,672 1,82,82,810 19.24% 0.06%

	 *	 Due to merger/amalgamation of company

14	 Share capital (Contd.)

	 Details of shares held by promoters :
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	 Notes:

	 15A	Capital reserve

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020 7.57
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2021 7.57
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2022 7.57

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020 73.89
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2021 73.89
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2022 73.89

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020 16.36
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2021 16.36
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2022 16.36

		  The company had recognised cash subsidy received from government on account of its operations, surplus on re-issue of 
forfeited shares and forfeiture of preferential warrants under capital reserve in earlier years.

	 15B	Business development reserve

		  In earlier years, certain fixed assets of the Company were revalued at their respective fair value as determined by government 
approved competent valuer appointed by the Company. The amount of such revaluation was transferred to business 
development reserve, as per scheme of arrangement as approved by Hon’ble Gujarat High Court on 30th November, 2008.

	 15C	Capital redemption reserve

15	 Other equity

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Capital reserve (Note 15A) 7.57 7.57
Business development reserve (Note 15B) 73.89 73.89
Capital redemption reserve (Note 15C) 16.36 16.36
Securities premium (Note 15D) 10.68 –
Retained earnings (Note 15E) 2,861.83 2,279.83
Share based payment reserve (Note 15F) 5.51 11.42
General reserve (Note 15G) 5.45 5.45
FVTOCI reserve (Note 15H) 13.61 12.29
Total 2,994.90 2,406.81
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15	 Other equity (Contd.)

Particulars Amount

At April 1, 2020 9.87
Changes during the year 1.55
At March 31, 2021 11.42
Changes during the year (5.92)
At March 31, 2022 5.51

		  The Company has share option scheme under which options to subscribe for the Company’s shares have been granted to 
certain executives and senior employees.

		  The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payments provided to 
employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. Refer Note 33 for further details of these 
plans.

Particulars Amount

At April 1, 2020 1,971.07
Changes during the year-Profit for the year 309.98
Changes during the year-Other comprehensive income (1.22)
At March 31, 2021 2,279.83
Changes during the year-Profit for the year 633.94
Changes during the year-Dividend Paid during the year (52.27)
Changes during the year-Other comprehensive income 0.33
At March 31, 2022 2,861.83

	 15F	 Share based payment reserve

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020 –
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2021 –
Changes during the year-on account of shares issued pursunt to exercise of employee stock 
option by the employees

10.68

At March 31, 2022 10.68

		  In earlier years, an amount of INR 16.36 Crore (equivalent to nominal value of the equity shares bought back and cancelled 
by the company) has been transferred to Capital Redemption Reserve from General Reserves pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 69 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the article 7 of the Article of Association of the Company.

	 15D	Securities premium

		  During the year company has issued 3,37,500 equity shares of H 10 yeach under ESOS scheme. The excess of aggregate 
consideration received over the face value of shares amounting to INR 10.68 Crore is credited to Securities premium.

	 15E	 Retained earnings
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Particulars Amount

At April 1, 2020 5.45
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2021 5.45
Changes during the year –
At March 31, 2022 5.45

	 15G	General reserve

15	 Other equity (Contd.)

Particulars Amount

Grand Total (15) as at March 2020 2,090.55
Grand Total (15) as at March 2021 2,406.81
Grand Total (15) as at March 2022 2,994.90

		  The company recognises the profit or loss on fair value of investments under fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI) reserve.

		  Distributions made and proposed

		  Proposed dividends on equity shares are subject to approval at the annual general meeting and are not recognized as a 
liability as at year end.

	 15H	FVTOCI reserve

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020 6.34
Changes during the year 5.95
At March 31, 2021 12.29
Changes during the year 1.32
At March 31, 2022 13.61

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Cash dividends on equity shares declared and paid:
Final dividend for the year ended on March 31, 2021: INR 5.50 per share 
(March 31, 2020: NIL)

52.27 –

52.27 –
Proposed dividends on equity shares:
Proposed dividend for the year ended on March 31,2022: H 15.00 per 
equity share (including H 5.00 per equity share as a special dividend) 
(March 31, 2021: INR 5.50 per share)

143.03 52.27

143.03 52.27
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16a	Borrowings

Non-current Borrowings     
Nature of 
Charge

Effective 
interest 

rate %
Maturity

 As at  
March 31, 2022 

 As at  
March 31, 2021 

Term Loans
From Banks
Rupee Term Loans (secured) Refer Note 

a to h
7.72% December 2022 

- April 2028
415.64 550.88

Foreign currency loans (secured) Refer Note i 3.21% April 2025 8.96 12.94
Total non-current borrowings 424.60 563.82
Current Borrowings
Short Term Loans from Banks 4.91% On Demand 198.05 41.35
Short Term Loans from Banks 4.55% On Demand 10.00
Current maturities of long term loan
-Rupee Term Loans (secured) 7.72% April 2022 - 

March 2023
130.81 149.05

-Foreign currency loans (secured) 3.21% April 2022 - 
March 2023

3.99 13.88

Total current Borrowings 342.85 204.28
Aggregate Secured loans 757.45 768.10
Aggregate Unsecured loans 10.00 –

16.1	Term loans from banks / institutions have been secured against: -

	 a)	 Loan aggregating to H 12.83 crores (Previous Year H 23.43 crores) is secured by exclusive charge on the specific fixed assets 
created out of the proceeds of the loan for Company’s Soda Ash Division situated at village Sutrapada, Veraval in Gujarat. 
The remaining tenure of the loans is 1 to 2 years.

	 b)	 Loan aggregating to H 441.42 crores (Previous Year H 329.60 crores) is secured by way of first pari passu charge on movable 
fixed assets of Soda Ash Division situated at village Sutrapada, Veraval, Gujarat excluding assets exclusively charged to 
other lenders both present and future. The remaining tenure of the loans is 3 to 6 years.

	 c)	 Loan aggregating to Nil (Previous Year H 46.20 crores) is secured by exclusive charge on specific fixed assets created out of 
the proceeds of the for Company’s Home Textile Division situated at Vapi in Gujarat.

	 d)	 Loan aggregating to NIL (Previous Year H 5.73 crores) is secured by an exclusive first charge over movable fixed assets 
pertaining to Windmill Project situated at Jodia, Jamnagar District, Gujarat, both present and future, created out of the 
proceeds of the loan. The term loan has been prepaid during current year.

	 e)	 Loan aggregating to H 92.21 crores (Previous Year H144.42 crores) is secured by exclusive charge on the specific fixed assets 
created out of the proceeds of the loan for Company’s Textile Division situated at Madurai, Tamil Nadu. The remaining 
tenure of the loans is 3 to 6 years.

	 f)	 Loan aggregating to NIL (Previous Year H 124.74 crores) is secured by first charge on pari passu basis over movable fixed 
assets of Company’s Textile division present and future situated at Paravai and Manaparai, Tamilnadu excluding movable 
assets already hypothecated on exclusive charge basis. Term Loan has been prepaid during current year.

	 g)	 Loan aggregating to NIL (Previous Year H 9.88 crores) is secured by first exclusive charge on movable fixed assets of Textile 
Division (including Phase I, II, III) Madurai, Tamil Nadu. The loan has been repaid during current year.

	 h)	 Loan aggregating to NIL (Previous Year H 17.24 crores) is secured by an exclusive first charge over movable and immovable 
fixed assets pertaining to Windmill Project situated at Tirunelveli District, Tamilnadu, both present and future, created out of 
the proceeds of the loan. The term loan has been prepaid during current year.
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	 i)	 Loan aggregating to H 12.95 (Previous Year H25.51 crores) crores is secured by an exclusive first charge over movable fixed 
assets pertaining to Windmill Project situated at Tirunelveli District, Tamilnadu, both present and future, created out of the 
proceeds of the loan. The remaining tenure of the loan is 3 years.

	 j)	 Out of all the aforesaid secured Loans appearing in Note 16 (1) (a) to 16 (1) (i) totaling H 559.40 crores (Previous Year H 726.75 
crores), an amount of H 134.80 crores (Previous Year H 162.93 crores) is due for payment in next 12 months and accordingly 
reported under Note 16(b) under the head “Short term borrowings” as “current maturities of Long Term Borrowings”.

	 k)	 The Company has satisfied all the loan covenants..

16	 Borrowings (Contd.)

16b Current borrowings

Particulars
Nature of 
Charge

 As at  
March 31, 2022 

 As at  
March 31, 2021 

Short term loans from banks (Secured)
Cash credit facilities

Refer Note a

– 13.06
Interest Accrued but not due on borrowings 2.02 2.74
Working capital demand loan 195.00 5.00
Sales Bill Discounting 1.03 1.33
Export Packing Credit (Rupee Loan) – 18.67
Export Bill Discounting (Foreign Currency Loan) Refer Note b – 0.55
Secured Short Term Borrowing 198.05 41.35
Current maturities of Long Term Borrowings 134.80 162.93
Total Secured Short Term Borrowing 332.85 204.28
Short term loans from banks - (Unsecured)
Short Term Loan 10.00 –
Total Unsecured Short Term Borrowing 10.00 –
Total 342.85 204.28

16.2	Short term borrowings: This facility is secured by way of hypothecation on inventory and trade receivables and borrowed as under:

	 (a)	 Credit Facilities in Indian Rupees: The facilities availed by way of Cash Credit, Working capital demand loan and Bill 
Discounting are repayable on demand and carries an average interest rate of 4.90% p.a (Previous Year 5.70% p.a) on the 
amount outstanding.

	 (b)	 Credit facilities in foreign currency : The facilities availed by way of foreign currency demand loan, packing credit in foreign 
currency, Export Bill discounting and Supplier’s Credit are repayable as per maturity dates being not more than 1 year and 
carries an average interest NIL (without forward premium) (Previous Year 0.45% p.a) on the amount outstanding.

	 (c )	 Quarterly returns or statements of current assets filed by the Company with banks or financial institutions are in agreement 
with the books of accounts.

16.3 The Company has satisfied all the loan covenants.

16.4	 �As at March 31 2022, the Company had available INR 242 Crores (As at March 31 2021: INR 630 Crores) of undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities.

16.5 �The Company’s long term borrowings under indian rupees carry interest rate in range of 6.60% to 8.4% p.a. (excluding TUFS 
benefit availed in few Textile loans)

16.6 The Company’s long term borrowings under foreign currency carry interest rate of 3.21% p.a.
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	 (B)	 Short term provisions

	 (C)	 Other non-current liabilities

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Provision for Compensated absences 11.47 12.24
Provision for Gratuity (Refer Note 32) – 2.12

11.47 14.36

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Opening balance 0.73 –
Received during the year 0.15 0.87
Released to the statement of profit and loss (0.88) 0.14
Closing balance – 0.73
Current – 0.03
Non-current – 0.70

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Deferred income - Government grants – 0.70
– 0.70

17	 Provisions

	 (A) 	 Long term provisions

Particulars Provision for mines restoration *

As at April 1, 2020 6.27
Arising during the year 0.77
Utilised (4.02)
As at March 31, 2021 3.02
Arising during the year 7.17
Utilised (2.57)
As at March 31, 2022 7.62
Long term provisions 7.62

		  * The Company provides for the estimated expenditure required to restore quarries and mines. The total estimate of restoration expenses is 
apportioned over the year of estimated mineral reserves and a provision is made based on minerals extracted during the year. The total estimate 
of restoration expenses is reviewed yearly, on the basis of technical estimates.

		  Ministry of Textiles has released TUF capital subsidy amounting to INR 0.15 (March 31, 2021 INR 0.87) crore under the Scheme 
of “Technology Upgradation Scheme (Amended)”. Ministry of Textiles has approved the subsidy for purchase of certain 
items of Property, Plant and Equipment. In previous year company had given Bank guarantee to the ministry to Textiles to 
release the capital subsidy.
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18	 Trade payables

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

(a)	 Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 41.67 23.43
(b)	 Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises
300.13 352.09

341.80 375.52
Trade Payables 341.80 375.52
Trade Payables to related parties –
Trade payable ageing schedule : 341.80 375.52

Particulars	

Outstanding for following  periods from 
due date of  payment

Total
 Less than    

1 year 
 1-2 years 

 2-3 
years 

 More  than  
3 years 

 

(i)	 Micro enterprises and small enterprises (MSME) –
	 As at 31-03-2022 41.67 – – – 41.67
	 As at 31-03-2021 23.42 – 0.01 0.00 23.43
(ii)	 Others –
	 As at 31-03-2022 290.85 4.48 2.03 2.77 300.13
	 As at 31-03-2021 343.61 3.56 3.10 1.82 352.09

	 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on around 90 days terms

	 For explanation on company’s credit risk management process Refer Note 40(e)

	 Information as required to be furnished as per section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 
(MSMED Act) for the year ended March 31, 2022 is given below. This information has been determined to the extent such parties 
have been identified on the basis of information available with the Company.

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

i)	 Principal amount and interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier 
covered under MSMED Act:

	 Principal 41.67 23.43
	 Interest – 0.44
ii)	 The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section16, of the MSMED 

Act, 2006 along with the amounts of the payment made to the supplier 
beyond the appointed day during each accounting year.

	 Principal 25.14 43.59
	 Interest 0.45 0.80
iii)	 The amount of interest due and payable for the year of delay in making 

payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the 
year) but without adding the interest specified under MSMED Act.

– –

iv)	 The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each 
accounting year.

– 0.44
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

v)	 The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the 
succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above are 
actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a 
deductible expenditure under section 23 of the MSMED Act, 2006.

– 0.44

18	 Trade payables (Contd.)

19A Derivative instruments

19B Other financial liabilities Current

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Foreign exchange forward contracts 1.46 –
Total derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss 1.46 –

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Other financial liabilities
Dealer deposits * 5.02 6.24
Security deposits 0.95 0.87
Capital creditors 28.11 18.18
Unpaid dividend 4.52 4.26
Interest accrued 0.11 0.44
Others** 300.70 4.87

339.41 34.86

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Statutory dues 43.91 13.92
Deferred income (Refer Note 17C) – 0.03
Liability towards Corporate Social Responsibility ( Refer Note 28) – 0.77
Others 0.14 0.15

44.05 14.87

	 While the Company entered into other foreign exchange forward contracts with the intention of reducing the foreign exchange 
risk of expected sales and purchases, these other contracts are not designated in hedge relationships and are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.

	 * �Dealer deposits for Soda Ash division are interest bearing and have an average term of around 75 days. Interest payable is normally settled annually. 
Other than dealer deposits for soda ash division all other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of around 75 days.	

	 ** Includes amount received from M/s Indo count Industries Limited of H 300 Crore in current year on account of sale of Vapi division, Refer Note 45

20	 Other liabilities
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Segment

For the year ended  
March 31, 2022

 Total  

For the year ended 
 March 31, 2021  Total 

 Inorganic 
Chemicals

Textiles
Inorganic 

Chemicals
Textiles

Type of goods or service
Sale of manufactured products
–	  Soda Ash 2,625.74 – 2,625.74 1,670.02 – 1,670.02
–	 Textile products – 920.49 920.49 – 609.23 609.23
–	 Consumer products 15.44 – 15.44 40.70 – 40.70
Sale of traded products
–	 Consumer products 24.31 – 24.31 0.37 – 0.37
–	 Chemicals 192.38 – 192.38 170.86 – 170.86
Total revenue from contracts with customers 2,857.87 920.49 3,778.36 1,881.95 609.23 2,491.18
India 2,704.66 808.61 3,513.27 1,816.34 569.11 2,385.45
Outside India 153.20 111.88 265.09 65.61 40.12 105.73
Total revenue from contracts with customers 2,857.87 920.49 3,778.36 1,881.95 609.23 2,491.18
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 2,857.87 920.49 3,778.36 1,881.95 609.23 2,491.18
Services transferred over time – – – – – –
Total revenue from contracts with customers 2,857.87 920.49 3,778.36 1,881.95 609.23 2,491.18

Segment

For the year ended  
March 31, 2022

 Total  

For the year ended 
 March 31, 2021  Total 

 Inorganic 
Chemicals 

Textiles 
Inorganic 

Chemicals 
 Textiles

Revenue
External customer * 2,857.87 920.49 3,778.36 1,881.95 609.23 2,491.18
Inter-segment – – – –

2,857.87 920.49 3,778.36 1,881.95 609.23 2,491.18
Inter-segment adjustment and elimination – – – – – –
Total revenue from contracts with customers 2,857.87 920.49 3,778.36 1,881.95 609.23 2,491.18

21	 Revenue from operations-Revenue from contracts with customers

	 1)	 Disaggregated revenue information

		  Set out below is the disaggregation of the Company’s revenue from contracts with customers:

		  Set out below, is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment 
information

		  * Sale of Yarn to Home Textile undertaking at Vapi unit in normal course of business has been considered by the Company as part of its revenue 
from continued operations.
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Trade receivables * 273.66 250.66
Contract liabilities
- Advances from customers** 7.08 3.91

Particulars
For the year 

ended  
March 31, 2022

For the year 
ended  

March 31, 2021

Revenue as per contracted price 3,933.72 2,658.76
Adjustments
Sales return (2.02) (0.14)
Rebate 0.17 (0.18)
Discount (153.51) (167.26)
Revenue from contract with customers 3,778.36 2,491.18

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Advances from customers 7.08 3.91
7.08 3.91

21	 Revenue from contracts with customers (Contd.)

	 2)	 Contract balances

		  The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with 
customers

		  * Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 45 to 180 days.

		  ** Advances from customers relate to payments received in advance of performance under the contract. Advances from customers are recognized 
as revenue as (or when) the Company performs under the contract.

	 3)	 Reconciling the amount of revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with the contracted price

	 4)	 The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 
March are, as follows:

		  Management expects that the entire transaction price allotted to the unsatisfied contract as at the end of the reporting year 
will be recognised as revenue during the next financial year.
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22	 Other income

23	 Cost of raw material consumed ( Refer Note 42) 

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Interest income from financial assets measured at amortised cost
–	 from bank deposits 0.39 0.53
Dividend income 0.05 –
Other non-operating income
Gain on foreign exchange (net) 0.98 1.28
Profit on sale of investments 0.51 1.27
Sale of scrap 6.77 3.42
Miscellaneous income 2.11 0.55

10.81 7.05

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Inventory at the beginning of the year 314.70 376.09
Add: Purchases 1,734.13 888.41

2,048.83 1,264.50
Less: inventory at the end of the year (559.71) (314.70)
Cost of raw material consumed 1,489.12 949.80

24	 (Increase)/decrease in inventories of finished goods, stock-in-trade and work-in-progress

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Opening stock
Finished goods 172.80 141.12
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Finished Goods (71.99) (22.67)
Stock in process 62.96 54.11
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Stock in process (45.50) (37.35)
Stock in trade 22.32 18.21
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Stock in trade – –

140.59 153.42
Closing stock
Finished goods 96.81 172.80
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Finished Goods - (71.99)
Stock in process 27.92 62.96
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Stock in process - (45.50)
Stock in trade 54.33 22.32
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Stock in trade –

179.06 140.59
(Increase)/decrease in inventories of finished goods, stock-in-trade and work-
in-progress

(38.47) 12.83
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25	 Employee benefit expenses

26	 Depreciation and amortization expense

27	 Finance costs

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Salaries, wages and bonus 133.76 110.97
Contribution to provident and other funds 9.44 8.42
Share based payment expenses (Refer Note 33) 0.04 1.56
Gratuity expenses (Refer Note 32) 2.96 2.44
Staff welfare expenses 6.74 4.91

152.94 128.30

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Depreciation of tangible assets (Refer Note 3) 112.38 107.38
Amortization of intangible assets (Refer Note 4) 2.91 2.59
Depreciation of Right-of-use assets (Refer Note 34) 1.49 1.43

116.78 111.40

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Interest on borrowings 48.28 69.86
(Net of TUF interest subsidy amounting to INR 2.12 Crore (March 31, 2021 INR 
0.57 Crore ))
Exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs 3.91 0.14
Interest others 0.40 (4.17)
Bank charges 5.59 5.77
Interest on lease liabilities (Refer note 34) 1.41 1.43
Interest on Tax matters 3.98 1.29

63.57 74.32
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28	 Other expenses

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Consumption of stores and spares 66.06 49.75
Loss due to flood 4.40 –
Other manufacturing expenses 37.38 32.47
Packing expenses 58.84 44.74
Bad Debts - written Off 0.33 1.57
Freight and forwarding 53.44 29.83
Commission on sales 7.88 5.16
Advertisement and business promotion expenses – 0.55
Travelling and conveyance 8.67 6.53
Rent 3.09 3.59
Repairs and maintenance
	 Plant and machinery 22.52 15.10
	 Buildings 1.18 1.50
	 Others 7.80 6.14
Rates and taxes 1.06 0.83
Insurance 16.42 15.72
Deficit on sale/discarding of PPE (Net) 1.58 8.66
Commission to Non Whole time Directors 3.54 1.77
Communication expenses 1.10 1.06
Legal and professional expenses 17.26 11.59
Donation 0.06 0.03
Donation to Political Parties – 0.10
CSR Expenditure (refer details below) 9.85 9.80
Miscellaneous expenses 13.21 11.77

335.67 258.26

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

To Statutory auditor:
	 Audit fee 0.57 0.45
	 Limited review 0.75 0.75
In other capacity
Other services (certification fees) 0.33 0.15
Reimbursements of expenses 0.02 0.02

1.67 1.37
To Cost auditor
Audit fee 0.03 0.03
Reimbursements of expenses 0.00 0.00

0.03 0.03
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28	 Other expenses (Contd.)

	 Details of CSR expenditure

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

e	 Details related to spent / unspent obligations:
	 i)	 Contribution to Public Trust – –
	 ii)	 Contribution to Charitable Trust 9.85 9.03
	 iii)	 Unspent amount in relation to:
		  –	 Ongoing project – 0.77
		  –	 Other than ongoing project” – –

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

a	 Gross amount required to be spent by the 
Company during the year

9.79 9.80

b	 Amount approved by the Board to be spent 
during the year

9.83 9.80

c	 Amount spent during the year ending on 
31st March, 2022:

In cash
Yet to be 

paid in cash*
Total

	 i)	 Construction / acquisition of any asset 0.00 – 0.00
	 ii)	 On purpose other than (i) above 9.85 – 9.85
d	 Amount spent during the year ending on 

31st March, 2021:
In cash

Yet to be 
paid in cash*

Total

	 i)	 Construction / acquisition of any asset 0.02 – 0.02
	 ii)	 On purpose other than (i) above 9.01 0.77 9.78

	 Details of ongoing project and other than ongoing project

In case of S. 135(6) (Ongoing Project)
Closing Balance*

Opening Balance Amount 
required to be 
spent during 

the year

Amount spent during the year

With 
Company

In Separate CSR 
Unspent A/c

From 
Company’s 

bank A/c

From 
Separate CSR 

Unspent A/c
 

With 
Company

In Separate 
CSR 

Unspent A/c

– 0.77 9.79 9.85 0.77 – –

	 *MCA has notified Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Amendment Rules, 2021, Companies (Amendment) Act 2019, Companies 
(Amendment) Act 2021. The notification states that “any amount remaining unspent under section 135 (5), pursuant to any ongoing project, fulfilling 
such conditions as may be prescribed, undertaken by a company in pursuance of its Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, shall be transferred by 
the company within a period of thirty days from the end of the financial year to a special account to be opened by the company in that behalf for that 
financial year in any scheduled bank to be called the Unspent Corporate Social Responsibility Account, and such amount shall be spent by the company 
in pursuance of its obligation towards the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy within a period of three financial years from the date of such transfer, 
failing which, the company shall transfer the same to a Fund specified in Schedule VII, within a period of thirty days from the date of completion of the 
third financial year”.
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29	 Components of Other comprehensive income (OCI)

Particulars FVTOCI reserve Retained earnings Total

The disaggregation of changes to OCI by each type of reserve 
in equity is shown below:
During the year ended March 31, 2022
Gain/(Loss) on FVTOCI financial assets –
Re-measurement Gain/(Loss) on defined measurement plans 
(net of tax)

– 0.33 0.33

Re-measurement of investment in equity 1.32 – 1.32
1.32 0.33 1.65

The disaggregation of changes to OCI by each type of reserve 
in equity is shown below:
During the year ended March 31, 2021
Gain/(Loss) on FVTOCI financial assets
Re-measurement Gain/(Loss) on defined measurement plans 
(net of tax)

– (1.22) (1.22)

Re-measurement of investment in equity 5.95 – 5.95
Total 5.95 (1.22) 4.73

30	 Earnings per share

	 Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the company by weighted 
average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.

	 Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company by the weighted average 
number of Equity shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of Equity shares that would be issued 
on conversion of all the dilutive potential Equity shares into Equity shares..

The following reflects the income and share data used in computation of 
Basic EPS:

For the year ended  
March 31, 2022

For the year ended  
March 31, 2021

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Continuing operations(A) 574.47 306.99
Discontinued operation(B) 59.47 2.99
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for basic earnings (C=(A)+(B)) 633.94 309.98
Weighted average number of equity shares for basic EPS 9,52,53,697 9,50,13,286
Basic earnings per share (Face value of INR 10/- per share)
Continuing operations 60.31 32.31
Discontinued operation 6.24 0.31
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Continuing operations(A) 574.47 306.99
Discontinued operation(B) 59.47 2.99
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent adjusted for the effect of 
dilution(C=(A)+(B))

633.94 309.98

weighted average number of equity shares and common equivalent shares 
outstanding*

9,55,45,654 9,52,62,327

Diluted earnings per equity share - (face value of INR 10/- per share)
Continuing operations 60.13 32.23
Discontinued operation 6.22 0.31
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30	 Earnings per share (contd.)

*Weighted average number of Equity shares adjusted for the effect of 
dilution

For the year ended  
March 31, 2022

For the year ended  
March 31, 2021

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic EPS 9,52,53,697 9,50,13,286
Effect of dilution:
Employee Share Option Scheme 2,91,957 2,49,041
Weighted average number of equity shares and common equivalent shares 
outstanding

9,55,45,654 9,52,62,327

31	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

	 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses and the accompanying disclosures. Uncertainty about the assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets or liabilities affected in future years.

	 Other disclosures relating to the Company’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes: 

	 •	 Financial risk management objectives and policies in Note 40

	 •	 Sensitivity analyses disclosures in Note 32 and Note 40

	 •	 Estimation uncertainty relating to the Global health pandemic on Covid 19 in Note 49

	 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

	 Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

	 (i)	 Judgements

		  In the process of applying the accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the Company’s financial statements:

		  Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Company as lessee

		  The Company evaluates if an arrangement qualifies to be a lease as per the requirements of Ind AS 116. Identification of 
a lease requires significant judgment. The Company uses significant judgement in assessing the lease term (including 
anticipated renewals) and the applicable discount rate.

		  The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable year of a lease, together with both years covered by an 
option to extend the lease if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and years covered by an option to 
terminate the lease if the Company is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. In assessing whether the Company is 
reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend a lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate a lease, it considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for the Company to exercise the option to extend the 
lease, or not to exercise the option to terminate the lease. The Company revises the lease term if there is a change in the 
non-cancellable year of a lease.

		  Revenue from contracts with customers

		  The Company applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of 
revenue from contracts with customers:
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		  Revenues from customer contracts are considered for recognition and measurement when the contract has been approved, 
in writing, by the parties to the contract, the parties to contract are committed to perform the irrespective obligations under 
the contract, and the contract is legally enforceable.

		  The Company’s contracts with customers could include promises to transfer multiple product. The Company assesses the 
products promised in a contract and identifies distinct performance obligations in the contract. Identification of distinct 
performance obligation involves judgement to determine the deliverables and the ability of the customer to benefit 
independently from such deliverables.

		  Judgement is also required to determine the transaction price for the contract and to ascribe the transaction price to each 
distinct performance obligation. The transaction price could be either a fixed amount of customer consideration or variable 
consideration with elements such as volume discounts, cash discount, price concessions and incentives. The transaction 
price is also adjusted for the effects of the time value of money if the contract includes a significant financing component. 
Any consideration payable to the customer is adjusted to the transaction price, unless it is a payment for a distinct product 
from the customer. The estimated amount of variable consideration is adjusted in the transaction price only to the extent 
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur and is 
reassessed at the end of each reporting year. The Company allocates the elements of variable considerations to all the 
performance obligations of the contract unless there is observable evidence that they pertain to one or more distinct 
performance obligations.

		  Provisions and contingencies

		  The assessments undertaken in recognising provisions and contingencies have been made in accordance with Ind AS 
37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’. The evaluation of the likelihood of the contingent events has 
required best judgment by management regarding the probability of exposure to potential loss.

		  Assessment of equity instruments

		  The Company has designated investments in equity instruments as FVTOCI investments since the Company expects to 
hold these investment with no intention to sale. The difference between the instrument’s fair value and Indian GAAP carrying 
amount has been recognized in retained earnings.

	 (ii)	 Estimates and assumptions

		  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are described below. The company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change 
due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the company. Such changes are reflected 
in the assumptions when they occur.

		  Impairment of non-financial assets

		  Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based 
on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices 
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows 
are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet 
committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the CGU being tested. The 
recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows 
and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to impairment assessment of 
property plant and equipment and investment in subsidiary companies, recognised by the Company. Company had done 
the impairment assessment of Home Textile Division during the previous year.

31	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (contd.)
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		  Share-based payments

		  For the measurement of the fair value of equity-settled transactions with employees at the grant date, the Company uses 
a Black-Scholes model for Employee Share Option Plan (GESP). The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value 
for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 33.

		  Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

`		  The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on a number of factors including the effects of 
obsolescence, demand, competition, internal assessment of user experience and other economic factors (such as the 
stability of the industry, and known technological advances) and the level of maintenance expenditure required to obtain 
the expected future cash flows from the asset. The Company reviews the useful life of property, plant and equipment at the 
end of each reporting date.

		  Post-retirement benefit plans

		  Employee benefit obligations (gratuity obligation) are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the 
discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term 
nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at 
each reporting date. Further details about gratuity obligations are given in Note 32.

		  Fair value measurement of financial instruments

		  When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on 
quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the DCF model. The inputs 
to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement 
is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and 
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Refer 
Note 41 for further disclosures

		  Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

		  The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing 
rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a 
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation 
when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. 
The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to 
make certain entity-specific estimates.

		  Judgements, estimates and assumptions for Dicontinued operations

			   a) 	� Sale of Yarn to Home Textile undertaking at Vapi unit in normal course of business has been considered by the 
Company as part of its revenue from continued operations.

			   b) 	� Pursuant to the terms of the BTA, certain assets pertaining to HT Business are pass through in nature (i.e. the 
beneficial ownership of these assumed assets continued to be with the Company) such as export incentives 
receivable, claims receivables which would be transferred immediately to the Company by the Purchaser whenever 
received post-closing date. Consequently, such receivables have been retained by the Company and is forming 
part of the continuing operations.

31	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (contd.)
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31	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (contd.)

		  c) 	 Contingent liabilities of the HT Business have been reported on the basis of list of assumed litigations read with excluded 
liabilities as per the terms specified in the BTA subject to the amendments and substitution vide Supplemental BTA.

32	 Defined benefit and contribution plan

	 Defined contribution plan

	 The Company makes contributions towards provident fund and superannuation fund to a defined contribution retirement 
benefit plan for qualifying employees. Under the plan, the Company is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll 
cost to the retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. Contribution paid for provident fund and superannuation fund are 
recognised as expense for the year :

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Employer’s contribution to provident fund/pension scheme 9.86 8.86
Employer’s contribution to superannuation fund 1.34 1.42

	 Defined benefit plan

	 Gratuity (funded)

	 The employees’ gratuity fund scheme managed by a trust is a defined benefit plan. The present value of the obligation is 
determined based on actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method, which recognises each year of service as 
giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation.

	 Employees who are in continuous service for a year of 5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of gratuity payable to an 
employee upon leaving the company is the 50% of Fixed cost to company per month computed proportionately for 15/26 days 
salary multiplied for the number of years of service. The gratuity plan is a funded plan and the Company makes contributions to 
Group Gratuity Trust registered under Income Tax Act-1961.

	 The most recent actuarial valuation of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation for gratuity were 
carried out as at 31 March 2022. The present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost and 
past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

	 The plan assets are managed by the Gratuity Trust formed by the Company. The management of 100% of the funds is entrusted 
according to norms of Gratuity Trust, whose pattern of investment is available with the Company.
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	 Changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets (in respect of gratuity fund) As at March 31, 2022

Particulars

Gratuity cost charged to profit or loss Re-measurement (gains) / losses in other comprehensive income

As at  
March 31, 

2022

As at 
April 01, 

2021

Service 
cost

Net 
interest 

expense/ 
(Income)

Amount 
included in 

profit or loss 
-discontinued 

operations

Sub-total 
included in 

profit 
or loss 

-Continued 
operations *

Benefits 
paid

Return on 
plan assets 
(excluding 

amounts 
included in 
net interest 

expense)

Actuarial changes 
arising from 

changes in 
financial 

assumptions/
Demographic 
Assumptions

Experience 
adjustments

Subtotal 
included 

in OCI

Contri-
butions 

by 
employer

Defined 
benefit 
obligation

49.17 3.36 3.19 0.40 6.15 (5.67) 1.10 (1.34) (0.24) 49.81

Fair value of 
plan assets

47.05 (3.05) (3.05) – (0.21) (0.21) – 50.31

Benefit 
liability

2.12 0.40 3.10 (0.45) (0.50)

	 * The Gratuity Cost charged to profit or loss amounting INR 0.14 crores. (Previous Year INR 0.19 crores) pertains to employees of captive production 
units and has been included in Raw material and power & fuel costs as explained in Note No. 42

Particulars

Gratuity cost charged to profit or loss Re-measurement (gains) / losses in other comprehensive income

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
April 1, 

2020

Service 
cost

Net 
interest 

expense/ 
(Income)

Amount 
included in 

profit or loss 
-discontinued 

operations

Sub-total 
included in 

profit 
or loss 

-Continued 
operations *

Benefits 
paid

Return on 
plan assets 
(excluding 

amounts 
included in 
net interest 

expense)

Actuarial changes 
arising from 

changes in 
financial 

assumptions/
Demographic 
Assumptions

Experience 
adjustments

Subtotal 
included 

in OCI

Contri-
butions 

by 
employer

Defined 
benefit 
obligation

43.25 2.88 2.85 0.29 5.44 (3.07) 1.13 2.13 3.26 49.17

Fair value of 
plan assets

42.61 (2.81) (2.81) – (1.63) (1.63) – 47.05

Benefit 
liability

0.64 0.29 2.63 1.63 2.12

	 Changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets (in respect of gratuity fund) as at 31st March 2021::

	 The major categories of plan assets of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows:

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Insurance fund 50.31 47.05

32	 Defined benefit and contribution plan (Contd.)

Mortality table - LIC Indian Assured Lives 
Mortality 2012-14 

(Urban)

Indian Assured Lives 
Mortality (2006-08)

Discount rate 6.84% 6.49%
Estimated rate of return on plan assets 6.84% 6.49%
Estimated future salary growth 8.00% 7.00%
Rate of employee turnover 11.00% 11.00%

	 The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity are:
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32	 Defined benefit and contribution plan (Contd.)

	 A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at March 31, 2022 is as shown below:

	 A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at March 31, 2021 is as shown below:

Assumptions Employee turnover Salary Discount rate

Sensitivity level
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease

Impact on defined benefit obligation (0.18) 0.19 1.81 (1.67) (1.67) 1.85

Assumptions Employee turnover Salary Discount rate

Sensitivity level
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease

Impact on defined benefit obligation (0.11) 0.12 1.74 (1.60) (1.60) 1.76

	 The following payments are projected benefits payable in future years from the date of reporting from the fund:

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting year) 15.56 14.73
2nd Following Year 5.54 6.38
3rd Following Year 6.93 6.48
4th Following Year 5.35 5.89
5th Following Year 4.95 4.56
Sum of Years 6 to 10 14.03 14.10
Total expected payments 52.36 52.14

	 The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting year is 5 years (March,31 2021: 5 years).

	 Risks associated with defined benefit plan

	 Gratuity is a defined benefit plan and company is exposed to the Following Risks:

Interest rate Risk: A fall in the discount rate which is linked to the G.Sec. Rate will increase the present value 
of the liability requiring higher proportion. A fall in the discount rate generally increases the 
mark to market value of the assets depending on the duration of asset.

Salary Risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
future salaries of members. As such, an increase in the salary of the members more than 
assumed level will increase the plan’s liability.

Investment Risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate 
which is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting year on 
government bonds. If the return on plan asset is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit. 
Currently, for the plan in India, it has a relatively balanced mix of investments in government 
securities, and other debt instruments.

Asset Liability Matching Risk: The plan faces the ALM risk as to the matching cash flow. Since the plan is invested in lines 
of Rule 101 of Income Tax Rules, 1962, this generally reduces ALM Risk.

Mortality Risk: Since the benefits under the plan is not payable for life time and payable till retirement 
age only, plan does not have any longevity risk.

Concentration Risk: Plan is having a concentration risk all the assets are invested with the insurance company 
and a default will wipe out all the assets. Although probability of this is very low as insurance 
companies have to follow regulatory guidelines which mitigate risk.
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33	 Share based compensation

	 In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (share based employee benefits) Regulations, 2014 and the 
guidance Note on accounting for ‘Employees share-based payments, the scheme detailed below is managed and administered, 
compensation benefits in respect of the scheme is assessed and accounted by the company. To have an understanding of the 
scheme, relevant disclosures are given below.

	 a)	 As approved by the shareholders at their Annual General Meeting held on 23rd July 2015, the Company has got 50,00,000 
number of Options under the employee stock option scheme “GHCL ESOS 2015”. The following details show the actual 
status of ESOS granted during the financial year ended on March 31, 2022.

	 b)	 During the year 25,000 equity share options lapsed upon cessation of employment.

		  The relevant details of the Scheme are as under:

Particulars Grant 3 Grant 5 Grant 6

Date of grant 24/10/2017 24/10/2017 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Date of board approval 24/10/2017 24/10/2017 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Date of shareholder’s 
approval

23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015

Number of options 
granted

25,000 25,000 6,10,000 6,10,000 15,000 15,000

Method of settlement Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity
Vesting year (see table 
below)
Fair value on the date of 
grant (In H)

110.59 123.20 161.33 183.41 183.41 192.68

Exercise year 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years
Vesting conditions As per policy 

approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

Vesting year from the 
Grant date

Grant 3 Grant 5 Grant 6

On completion of 12 
months

25,000 – 6,10,000 – – –

On completion of 24 
months

– 25,000 – – – –

On completion of 36 
months

– – – 6,10,000 15,000

On completion of 48 
months

– – – 15,000

		  Details of the vesting year are:
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Particulars

As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021

Total No. of 
Stock options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Total No. of 
Stock options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Options outstanding at beginning of year 6,67,500 150 8,27,500 150
Options granted during the year – – – –
Options forfeited/lapsed during the year 25,000 150 1,60,000 150
Options exercised during the year 3,37,500 – – –
Options expired during the year – – – –
Options outstanding at end of year 3,05,000 150 6,67,500 150
Options vested but not exercised during the year 7,500 170 1,12,500 151

Particulars Grant 7 Grant 8

Date of grant 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Date of board approval 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Date of shareholder’s approval 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015
Number of options granted 25,000 25,000 60,000 60,000 60,000
Method of settlement Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity
Vesting year (see table below)
Fair value on the date of grant (In H) 183.41 192.68 183.41 192.68 200.98
Exercise year 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years
Vesting conditions As per policy 

approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

Vesting year from the Grant date Grant 7 Grant 8

On completion of 36 months 25,000 – 60,000 – –
On completion of 48 months – 25,000 – 60,000 –
On completion of 60 months – – – – 60,000

33	 Share based compensation (Contd.)

		  Details of the vesting year are:

		  Set out below is a summary of options granted under the plan:
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Particulars

As at March 31, 2022 Total

Grant 3 Grant 5 Grant 6
Number of  

optionsNumber of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 5,000 2,500 1,05,000 4,45,000 10,000 10,000 5,77,500
Granted during the year – – – – – – –
Forfeited during the year – – – 25,000 – – 25,000
Exercised during the year – – 1,05,000 2,10,000 5,000 – 3,20,000
Expired during the year – – – – – –
Outstanding at the end of the year 5,000 2,500 – 2,10,000 5,000 10,000 2,32,500
Exercisable at the end of the year 5,000 2,500 – – – – 7,500
Weighted average remaining 
contractual life (in years)

– – – – – 0.07

Weighted average fair value of 
options granted during the year

110.59 123.20 161.33 183.41 183.41 192.68

33	 Share based compensation (Contd.)

		  The details of activity of the Scheme have been summarized below:-

Particulars Grant 3 Grant 5 Grant 6

Date of grant 24/10/2017 24/10/2017 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Stock price at the date of 
grant

251.05 251.05 286.5 286.5 286.5 286.5

Exercise price 170 170 150 150 150 150
Expected volatility 36.77 36.77 39.51% 39.51% 39.51% 39.51%
Expected life of the option 2 3 2 4 4 5
Risk free interest rate (%) 6.762 6.762 7.647 7.647 7.647 7.647
Weighted average fair 
value as on grant date

110.59 123.20 161.33 183.41 183.41 192.68

Particulars
Grant 7 Grant 8 Total

Grand 
Total of 

ESOS

Number of  
optionsNumber of  

options
Number of  

options
Number of  

options
Number of  

options
Number of  

options
Number of  

options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 15,000 15,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 90,000 6,67,500
Granted during the year – – – – – – –
Forfeited during the year – – – – – – 25,000
Exercised during the year 7,500 – 10,000 – – 17,500 3,37,500
Expired during the year – – – – –
Outstanding at the end of the 
year

7,500 15,000 10,000 20,000 20,000 72,500 3,05,000

Exercisable at the end of the 
year

– – – – – – 7,500

Weighted average remaining 
contractual life (in years)

– 0.07 – 0.07 1.07

Weighted average fair value of 
options granted during the year

183.41 192.68 183.41 192.68 200.98
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33	 Share based compensation (Contd.)

Particulars Grant 7 Grant 8

Date of grant 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Stock price at the date of grant 286.5 286.5 286.5 286.5 286.5
Exercise price 150 150 150 150 150
Expected volatility 39.51% 39.51% 39.51% 39.51% 39.51%
Expected life of the option 4 5 4 5 6
Risk free interest rate (%) 7.647 7.647 7.647 7.647 7.647
Weighted average fair value as on grant date 183.41 192.68 183.41 192.68 200.98

34	 Leases	

	 Company as a lessee

	 The Company has lease contracts for various items of Building and Salt works (fields taken on lease for salt production) in its 
operations. Leases of Building generally have lease terms between 1 and 10 years, while salt works generally have lease terms 
between 3 and 30 years. The Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. 
Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets and some contracts require the Company 
to maintain certain financial ratios. There are no major lease contracts that include extension and termination options and 
variable lease payments.

	 Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:

Particulars Leasehold building Saltworks Total

At 1st April 2020 6.31 7.42 13.73
Additions – – –
Depreciation expense (1.03) (0.49) (1.52)
Termination (0.05) – (0.05)
As at 1st April 2021 5.23 6.93 12.16
Additions 1.00 – 1.00
Depreciation expense (1.11) (0.38) (1.49)
Termination (0.13) – (0.13)
As at March 31, 2022 4.99 6.55 11.54

	 Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Balance at the beginning of the year 14.01 14.60
Additions 1.00
Accretion of interest 1.41 1.43
Payments (2.28) (2.02)
Termination (0.04) –
Balance at the end of the year 14.10 14.01
Current 1.11 0.68
Non-current 12.99 13.33
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 1.49 1.52
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1.41 1.43
Expense relating to short-term leases * 3.81 3.90
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 6.71 6.85

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

a)	 Estimated value of contracts remaining to be executed on Capital Account 
and not provided for

293.67 57.71

b)	 Contingent liabilities :
	 –	 Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts*
		  –	 Income tax** 12.78 158.27
		  –	 Sales tax / VAT 0.04 0.04
		  –	 Excise, custom & service tax 127.36 127.12
	 –	 Unpaid labour dues# 4.57 4.57
	 –	 Other claims## 17.93 18.26

34	 Leases	 (Contd.)

	 The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 40.

	 The effective interest rate for lease liabilities is 10%.

	 The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

	 * Expenses relating to Short - term leases includes figures from continued and discontinued operations amounting H 3.09 Crores & H 0.72 Crores 
respectively (included in other expenses).

	� The Company had total cash outflows for leases of INR H 6.09 Crore in March 31, 2022 (INR 5.92 crore in March 31, 2021). There are no non cash 
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. There are no future cash outflows relating to leases that have not yet commenced.

35	 Commitments and contingencies

	� * Cases pending before appellate authorities/dispute resolution panel in respect of which the Company has filed appeals.

	� On the basis of current status of individual case for respective years and as per legal advice obtained by the company, wherever applicable, the 
company is confident of winning the above cases and is of the view that no provision is required in respect of above cases.

	� ** ‘In previous year, an order passed by Income Tax Appellate Tribunal (ITAT), Ahmedabad dated March 05, 2021, ITAT has disposed off cases pertaining 
to AY 2009-10, AY 2010-11, AY 2011-12, AY 2012-13, AY 2013-14 and AY 2014-15 and decided in favour of the company. As the Income Tax Authorities (the 
Department) has not filed an appeal to the High Count against the Appellate Tribunal’s order within stipulated time, therefore the amount pertains to 
above mentioned assessment years i.e. INR 154.65 Crores is not considered as contingent liability as on 31st March 2022. 

	� # Government of India vide its notification dated March 29, 2021, issued under the National Disaster Management Act 2005, directed that all employers 
shall make full payment of wages, of their workers at their workplaces, for the period of closure under the lockdown. Subsequently on the petition filed 
by some of the employers against the aforementioned notification , the Honourable Supreme Court of India, passed an interim order dated June 12, 
2021 and directed employers to enter into a negotiation and settlement with workers for wages payment during the lockdown period. The aforesaid 
notification also stands withdrawn w.e.f May 18, 2021. In the meanwhile, the Company had made payments to its workers and will do the final settlement 
if any as per the final order of the Honourable Supreme Court of India. If the Honourable Supreme Court upheld the notification of Government of India 
, the Company will have to pay further wages of H 4.57 Crores to the workers, whereas based on the management’s assessment the chances of the same 
is remote.
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35	 Commitments and contingencies (Contd.)

	 These include claims against the Company for recovery lodged by various parties.

	 The aforesaid Appendix did not have an impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

c)	 Guarantees:
	 Corporate guarantee to bank on behalf of erstwhile subsidiaries of the 

Company
3.00 3.04

d)	 EPCG Commitment (value of exports) - The Company has export obligations 
to the extent INR 412.01 crores (as at March 31, 2021 INR 538.22 crores) of on 
account of concessional rates of import duties paid on capital goods under 
the Export Promotion Capital Goods Scheme enacted by the Government of 
India which is to be fulfilled over the next eight /six years. Due to the remote 
likelihood of the Company being unable to meet its export obligations, the 
Company does not anticipate a loss with respect to these obligations and 
hence has not made any provision in its financial statements.

33.74* 84.94

	 *For Discontinued operation EPCG commitment is INR 4.16 Crore

36	 Related party transactions

	 a)	 The following table provides the list of related parties and total amount of transactions that have been entered into with 
related parties for the relevant financial years.

		  A)	 Wholly owned subsidiaries

			   Dan River Properties LLC

			   Grace Home Fashions LLC

			   GHCL Textiles Limited ( w.e.f June 17, 2020)

		  B)	 Key managerial personnel

			   Mr. R. S. Jalan, Managing Director

			   Mr. Raman Chopra, CFO & Executive Director -Finance

			   Mr. Neelabh Dalmia- Executive Director

			   Mr. Bhuwneshwar Mishra, Sr. GM- Sustainability & Company Secretary

		  C)	 Non-whole-time directors

			   Mr. Sanjay Dalmia

			   Mr. Anurag Dalmia

	� ##Claims under this heading relate to legal cases pending in different courts under the jurisdiction of Gujarat High Court and the courts subordinate to 
it. Some of the cases relates to execution of ex-parte foreign decrees which are not enforceable in India. Certain claims relate to contractor’s workmen, 
whose services have been terminated by the concerned contractor and the matter is in between the contractor and their workmen and GHCL is 
made a party to the dispute only. Other cases relate to some ex-workmen who after opting VRS scheme duly approved by the regional Labour Officer 
challenged the same and this case is a week case since workmen have already lost one round of litigation till Hon’ble SC where directions were issued to 
deposit the entire amount received during VRS before initiating the legal proceedings. Apart from theses certain civil disputes are also pending which 
on merit are weak and GHCL has fair chances in winning these cases.
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			   Mrs. Vijaylaxmi Joshi

			   Dr. Lavanya Rastogi

			   Dr. Manoj Vaish

			   Mr. Arun Kumar Jain

			   Justice Ravindra Singh

		  D)	 Relative of key managerial personnel

			   Mrs. Sarita Jalan, w/o Mr. R. S. Jalan

			   Mrs. Bharti Chopra, w/o Mr. Raman Chopra

			   Mrs. Vandana Mishra, w/o Mr. Bhuwneshwar Mishra

		  E)	� Enterprises over which key managerial personnel are able to exercise significant influence

			   Dalmia Centre for Research & Development

			   GHCL Foundation Trust

			   GHCL Employees Group Gratuity Scheme

			   Gujarat Heavy Chemical Limited Superannuation Scheme

			   Dalmia Biz Private Limited.

			   Dalmia Healthcare Limited

	 b)	 Transactions with subsidiaries

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Investment in equities
GHCL Textiles Limited – 0.01
Sales of Goods
Grace Home Fashions LLC 54.22 46.60
Net payment/(receipt) of loans & advances
Dan River Properties LLC (0.84) –
GHCL Textiles Limited ( H 11800/- (Previous year H NIL)) 0.00 –

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Loans & advances recoverable at the year end
Dan River Properties LLC 0.66 1.50
GHCL Textiles Limited ( H 11800/- (Previous year H NIL)) 0.00 –
Balance of investment in equities at the year end
Grace Home Fashions LLC (After considering diminition in Value of 
Investment in Subsidiary )

– 24.97

Dan River Properties LLC 0.00 0.00
GHCL Textiles Limited 0.01 0.01
Balance receivable at the year end
Grace Home Fashions LLC 52.91 37.43
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36	 Related party transactions (Contd.)

	 c)	 Transactions with relative of key management personnel

	 d)	 Transactions with enterprises over which significant influence exercised by directors

	 e)	 Compensation of key management personnel of the Company

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Leasing & hire purchase transactions
Mrs. Sarita Jalan, w/o Mr. R. S. Jalan 0.18 0.18
Mrs. Bharti Chopra, w/o Mr. Raman Chopra 0.12 0.12
Mrs. Vandana Mishra, w/o Mr. Bhuwneshwar Mishra 0.02 0.02

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Royalty paid
Dalmia Centre for Research & Development – 0.02
Rent & Other Receipts
Dalmia Biz Private Limited – 0.03
Dalmia Healthcare Limited – 0.03
Net contribution
GHCL Foundation Trust 9.85 9.03
Gujarat Heavy Chemical Limited Superannuation Scheme 1.34 1.42

		  The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There 
have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended March 
31, 2022, the Company has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties. This 
assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the market 
in which the related party operates.

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Mr. R. S. Jalan 15.19 6.14
Mr. Raman Chopra 8.76 3.58
Mr. Neelabh Dalmia 2.52 1.40
Mr. Bhuwneshwar Mishra 0.62 0.52
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 27.09 11.64

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Short-term employee benefits 24.90 11.22
Post-employment gratuity and medical benefits 0.48 0.42
Share-based payment transactions (Taxable component of ESOS) 1.71 –
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 27.09 11.64
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36	 Related party transactions (Contd.)

	 f)	 Transactions with non-whole-time directors

	 g)	 Disclosure required under Sec 186(4) of the Companies Act 2013 (refer Note 11A)

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021
Name Sitting Fees Commission Sitting Fees Commission

Mr. Sanjay Dalmia 0.036 0.900 0.020 0.450
Mr. Anurag Dalmia 0.036 0.750 0.024 0.375
Dr. Manoj Vaish 0.064 0.390 0.040 0.195
Justice Ravindra Singh 0.064 0.375 0.040 0.188
Mrs. Vijaylaxmi Joshi 0.072 0.375 0.048 0.188
Mr. Arun Kumar Jain 0.060 0.375 0.040 0.188
Dr. Lavanya Rastogi 0.032 0.375 0.020 0.188

0.36 3.54 0.23 1.77

Name of the Loanee
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

GHCL Employee Stock Option Trust 5.53 5.7
GHCL Textiles Limited ( H 11800/- (Previous year H NIL)) 0.00 –
Dan River Properties LLC ( Subsidiary Company) 0.66 1.50

37	 Segment information

	 The Company is primarily engaged in the business of manufacture of inorganic chemicals and textiles and based on this it has 
two reportable segments:

	 Inorganic chemicals segment majorly includes manufacture of soda ash which is an important raw material for detergent and 
glass industry. Major raw materials to manufacture soda ash are salt, limestone, coke, briquette, coal and lignite. The total 
Inorganic chemical segment contributes approximately 76% of total Indian Standalone revenue.

	 Textiles segment manufactures cotton yarn and polyester yarn and home textile products. GHCL Limited is one of the largest 
integrated textile manufacturers own spinning, weaving and processing & dyeing and cutting & sewing manufacturing facility.

	 The management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is measured 
consistently with profit or loss in the financial statements. Income taxes are managed on Company basis and are not allocated 
to Operating segments.
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Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Reconciliation of profit
Segment profit 918.69 517.99
Un-allocated expenditure (43.18) (25.34)
Other finance costs (63.57) (74.32)
Profit before tax and Exceptional Items 811.94 418.33
Exceptional items (24.97) –
Profit before tax 786.97 418.33

	 Summary of Segment information For the year ended March 31, 2022

	 For the year ended March 31, 2021

37	 Segment information (Contd.)

Particulars
Inorganic 

Chemicals
Textiles

Others / 
unallocated

Total

Revenue
External customers 2,857.87 920.49 – 3,778.36
Inter-segment – – – –
Total revenue 2,857.87 920.49 – 3,778.36
Segment profit 693.66 225.03 – 918.69
Total assets 2,973.16 1,338.46 107.02 4,418.64
Total liabilities 1,212.56 294.72 311.27 1,818.55
Capital expenditure 83.88 29.85 – 113.73
Depreciation and amortization 86.93 29.85 – 116.78

Particulars
Inorganic 

Chemicals
Textiles

Others / 
unallocated

Total

Revenue
External customers 1,881.95 609.23 – 2,491.18
Inter-segment – –
Total revenue 1,881.95 609.23 – 2,491.18
Segment profit 431.54 86.45 – 517.99
Total assets 2,373.30 979.48 83.45 3,436.23
Total liabilities 780.30 258.84 279.71 1,318.85
Capital expenditure 112.99 10.92 – 123.91
Depreciation and amortization 81.61 29.79 – 111.40

	 All other adjustments and eliminations are part of detailed reconciliations presented further below.

	 Adjustments and eliminations

	 Finance income and costs, and fair value gains and losses on financial assets are not allocated to individual segments as the 
underlying instruments are managed on a company basis.

	 Current taxes, deferred taxes and certain financial assets and liabilities are not allocated to those segments as they are also 
managed on a company basis.

	 Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

	 Reconciliations to amounts reflected in the financial statements

Notes to the Standalone Financial  Statements

291

Fi n a n c i a l  S t at e m e n t s

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores unless specified otherwise)



Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Revenue from external customers
India 3,513.27 2,385.45
Outside India 265.09 105.73
Total revenue per statement of profit and loss 3,778.36 2,491.18

37	 Segment information (Contd.)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Reconciliation of assets
Inorganic chemicals 2,973.16 2,373.30
Textiles 1,338.46 979.48
Un-allocated 107.02 83.45
Total assets 4,418.64 3,436.23

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Reconciliation of liabilities
Inorganic chemicals 1,212.56 780.30
Textiles 294.72 258.84
Un-allocated 311.27 279.71
Total liabilities 1,818.55 1,318.85

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Trade receivable
India 193.66 161.34
Outside India 80.00 89.32
Total trade receivable 273.66 250.66

	 The segment information stated above does not include the following information relating to discontinued operations

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Segment Revenue * 797.58 435.41
Segment Results 81.46 4.07
Segment Assets 572.65 555.10
Segment Liabilities 82.49 170.66

	� * For the purpose of disclosure, segment revenue of discontinued operations has been considered on a stand-alone basis without considering the 
reversal of inter-unit transfers to the division.
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38	 Hedging activities and derivatives

	 Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

	 The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary risks managed using derivative 
instruments are foreign currency risk.

	 The Company’s risk management strategy and how it is applied to manage risk are explained in Note 40.

	 The Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage some of its transaction exposures. The foreign exchange 
forward contracts are not designated as cash flow hedges and are entered into for years consistent with foreign currency 
exposure of the underlying transactions, generally from one to 24 months.

	 These contracts are not designated in hedge relationships and are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Particulars
Currency

Continuing Operation  
Unhedged Exposure

Discontinued Operation  
Unhedged Exposure

Unhedged Exposure

As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021
Amount 

in Foreign 
Currency

Amount in 
INR

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Amount in 
INR

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Amount in 
INR

Trade Receivables
USD 0.52 39.92 1.37 103.50 – –
NZD – – – –  0.03   1.69

Current Liabilities
USD 0.05 4.00 0.02 1.45 1.02 74.85
EUR 0.00 0.04 – –  0.02  1.40 
CHF 0.07 5.79 – –  0.00  0.14 
GBP – – 0.00 0.19 0.00 0.15

Non-Current Liabilities
USD 0.12 9.46 - - 0.18 12.98
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Particulars
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2021

Financial assets measured at fair value
Investments* (Refer Note 5) 16.55 16.55 15.15 15.15
Derivative instruments ( refer note 11B) – – 4.14 4.14
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Loan to ESOS trust (refer note 11A) 5.53 5.53 5.70 5.70
Security deposits (refer note 6) 9.44 9.44 8.65 8.65
On escrow account (refer note 6) 12.08 12.08 9.79 9.79
On account of margin money deposited 
(refer note 6)

0.15 0.15 0.80 0.80

Loan to subsidiary (refer note 11A) 0.66 0.66 1.50 1.50
Loan to employees (refer note 11A) 2.01 2.01 2.23 2.23
Others*** (refer note 11C) 0.60 0.60 0.76 0.76
Financial liabilities at fair value
Derivative instruments ( refer note 19A) 1.46 1.46 – –
Financial liabilities not measured at 
amortised cost
Term loans (refer note 16) 559.40 559.40 726.75 726.75
Short term borrowings (refer note 16) 208.05 208.05 41.35 41.35

39	 Fair values

	 Set out below, is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the company’s financial instruments, other than 
those with carrying amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair values:

	 The management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, Export incentives receivable, GST refund receivable, Subvention receivable, trade payables and other current 
financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The other 
current financial liabilities represents Dealer deposits, Security deposits, Capital creditors, Unpaid dividend and Interest accrued 
on bank deposits, the carrying value of which approximates the fair values as on the reporting date.

	 * Investments excludes investment in subsidiary which is carried at cost.

	 *** The other non-current financial assets represents bank deposits and Insurance claim receivable.

	 The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

	 i	 The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument is exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

	 ii	 The fair values of the FVTOCI financial assets are derived from quoted market prices in active markets.
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39	 Fair values (Contd.)

	 The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company’s assets and liabilities.

	 Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at March 31, 2022:

Particulars
Date of 

valuation
Carrying 

amount

Fair value measurement using
Quoted 

prices in 
active 

markets 
(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

FVTOCI financial investments
Quoted equity shares (refer note 5) March 31, 2022 15.13 15.13

March 31, 2021 13.82 13.82
Unquoted equity shares (refer note 5) March 31, 2022 1.38 1.38

March 31, 2021 1.29 1.29
Unquoted debt securities (Refer Note 5) March 31, 2022 0.04 0.04

March 31, 2021 0.04 0.04
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss
Derivative instruments ( refer note 11B) March 31, 2022 – –

March 31, 2021 4.14 4.14
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Security deposits (refer note 6) March 31, 2022 9.44 9.44

March 31, 2021 8.65 8.65
Loan to ESOS trust (refer note 11A) March 31, 2022 5.53 5.53

March 31, 2021 5.70 5.70
On escrow account (refer note 6) March 31, 2022 12.08 12.08

March 31, 2021 9.79 9.79
On account of margin money deposited 
(refer note 6)

March 31, 2022 0.15 0.15

March 31, 2021 0.80 0.80
Loan to subsidiary (refer note 11A) March 31, 2022 0.66 0.66

March 31, 2021 1.50 1.50
Loan to employees (refer note 11A) March 31, 2022 2.01 2.01

March 31, 2021 2.23 2.23
Others (refer note 11C) March 31, 2022 0.60 0.60

March 31, 2021 0.76 0.76
Financial liability measured at fair value 
through profit and loss
Derivative instruments ( refer note 19A) March 31, 2022 1.46 1.46

March 31, 2021 – –
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Floating rate borrowings (India) March 31, 2022 767.45 767.45

March 31, 2021 768.10 768.10
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39	 Fair values (Contd.)

	 There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

Particulars
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
technique

Inputs used

FVTOCI financial investments
Quoted equity shares Level 1 Market 

valuation 
techniques

Prevailing rates in the active markets

Unquoted equity shares Level 3 Discounted 
cash flow

Long-term growth rate for cash flows for 
subsequent years, weighted average cost of 
capital, long-term operating margin, discount 
for lack of marketability

Unquoted debt securities Level 3 Discounted 
cash flow

Long-term growth rate for cash flows for 
subsequent years, weighted average cost of 
capital, long-term operating margin, discount 
for lack of marketability

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss
Derivative instruments Level 2 Market 

valuation 
techniques

Forward foreign currency exchange rates
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Security deposits

Level 2 Amortised 
Cost Prevailing interest rates in the market, Future payoutsLoan to subsidiary

Loan to ESOS trust
Loan to employees
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative instruments Level 2 Market 

valuation 
techniques

Forward foreign currency exchange rates

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Floating rate borrowings (India) Level 2 Amortised 

Cost
Prevailing interest rates in the market, future payouts

40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

	 The Company’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, lease liabilities trade and 
other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations and to provide guarantees 
to support its operations. The Company’s principal financial assets include loans, trade and other receivables, and cash and 
cash equivalents that derive directly from its operations. The Company also holds FVTOCI investments and enters into derivative 
transactions.

	  The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s senior management oversees the 
management of these risks. The Company’s senior management is supported by a banking and operations committee 
that advises on financial risks and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Company. The financial risk 
committee provides assurance to the Company’s senior management that the Company’s financial risk activities are governed 
by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the 
Company’s policies and risk objectives. All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by expert list 
teams that have the appropriate skills, experience and supervision. It is the Company’s policy, that no trading in derivatives for 
speculative purposes may be undertaken. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, 
which are summarised below.
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Particulars Increase/decrease in basis points Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-).50% ‘(-)/+ 3.84

Particulars Increase/decrease in basis points Effect on PBT

March 31, 2021 +/(-).50% ‘(-)/+ 3.84

40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd.)

	 Market risk

	 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk. 
Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits and derivative financial instruments.

	 The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the position as at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021. The sensitivity 
analysis have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of the debt are 
all constant.

	 a)	 Interest rate risk

		  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the 
Company’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

		  In order to optimize the Company’s position with regards to interest income and interest expenses and to manage the 
interest rate risk, treasury performs a comprehensive corporate interest rate management by balancing the proportion of 
fixed rate and floating rate financial instruments in its total portfolio.

		  The Company is not exposed the significant interest rate as at a respective reporting date.

		  Interest rate sensitivity

		  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans 
and borrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s profit before tax is effected through the impact on 
floating rate borrowings, as follows:

	 b)	 Foreign currency risk

		  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to its 
operating activities. The company manages its foreign currency risk by hedging transactions that are expected to occur 
within a maximum 12 month for hedges of forecasted sales and purchases in foreign currency. The hedging is done through 
foreign currency forward contracts.
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40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd.)

	 b)	 Foreign currency risk	

		  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to its 
operating activities. The company manages its foreign currency risk by hedging transactions that are expected to occur 
within a maximum 12 month for hedges of forecasted sales and purchases in foreign currency. The hedging is done through 
foreign currency forward contracts.

		  Foreign currency sensitivity

Particulars Change in USD rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 1.29

Particulars Change in USD rate Effect on PBT in H

March 31, 2021 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.81

Particulars Change in NZD rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘+/(-) 0.00

Particulars Change in NZD rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2021 +/(-)1% ‘+/(-) 0.02

Particulars Change in CHF rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.06

Particulars Change in CHF rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.00

Particulars Change in EUR rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.00

Particulars Change in EUR rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2021 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.00

	 c)	 Equity price risk

		  The Company’s listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values 
of the investment securities. The Company manages the equity price risk through diversification and by placing limits on 
individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Company’s senior management 
on a regular basis. The Company’s Board of Directors reviews and approves all equity investment decisions.

		  At the reporting date, the exposure to unlisted equity securities at fair value was INR 1.38 crores as on March 31, 2022 (INR 
1.29 crores as on March 31, 2021).

GHCL Limited Integrated Annual  Report  2021-22

298

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores unless specified otherwise)



		  At the reporting date, the exposure to listed equity securities at fair value was INR 15.13 Crore as on March 31, 2022 (INR 
13.82 as on March 31, 2021). A decrease of 10% on the NSE/BSE market index could have an impact of approximately INR 1.51 
Crore on the OCI or equity attributable to the company. An increase of 10% in the value of the listed securities would also 
impact OCI and equity. These changes would not have an effect on profit or loss.

	 d)	 Commodity risk
		  The Company is impacted by the price volatility of coal and cotton. Its operating activities require continuous manufacture 

of soda ash, and therefore require a regular supply of coal. Cotton is the key raw material for the spinning unit. Due to the 
significant volatility of the price of coal and cotton in international market, the company has entered into purchase contract 
for coal with its designated vendor(s). The price in the purchase contract is linked to the certain indices. The Company’s 
commercial department has developed and enacted a risk management strategy regarding commodity price risk and its 
mitigation.

	 e)	 Credit risk

		  Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) 
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and 
other financial instruments.

		  Trade receivables

		  Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Company’s established policy, procedures and control 
relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on customer profiling, credit 
worthiness and market intelligence. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored and any shipments to major 
customers are generally covered by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance.

		  An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major customers. In addition, a large 
number of minor receivables are Companyed into homogenous Company’s and assessed for impairment collectively. The 
calculation is based on exchange losses historical data. The Company does not hold collateral as security. The company 
evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers are located in several 
jurisdictions and industries and operate in largely independent markets.

		  Financial instruments and cash deposits

		  Credit risk from balances with banks is managed by the Company’s treasury department in accordance with the Company’s 
policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each 
counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Company’s Board of Directors on an annual basis, and may be 
updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Banking & Operations Committee. The limits are set to minimise the 
concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through counterparty’s potential failure to make payments.

		  The company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 
2021 is the carrying amounts as illustrated in Note 9 except for financial guarantees and derivative financial instruments. 
The company’s maximum exposure relating to financial guarantees and financial derivative instruments is noted in note on 
commitments and contingencies and the liquidity table below.

		  Liquidity risk

		  Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will encounter in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that 
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The approach of the company to manage liquidity is to ensure , as 
far as possible, that it should have sufficient liquidity to meet its respective liabilities when they are due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risk damage to their reputation. The Company also 
beleives a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities as the current aseets are sufficient to meet the obligations 
related to lease liabilities as and when they fall due.

		  The company assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to below.

40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd.)
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40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd.)

		  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments.

As at March 31, 2022 On Demand 0 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Borrowings 208.05 135.83 388.29 35.28 767.45
Trade and other payables – 341.80 – – 341.80
Lease Liablities – 1.11 4.71 8.28 14.10
Other financial liabilities 9.54 328.92 0.95 – 339.41

217.59 807.66 393.95 43.56 1,462.76

As at March 31, 2021 On Demand 0 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Borrowings 41.35 162.93 466.88 96.94 768.10
Trade and other payables – 375.52 – – 375.52
Lease Liablities – 0.68 2.14 11.19 14.01
Other financial liabilities 4.26 29.73 0.87 – 34.86

45.61 568.86 469.89 108.13 1,192.49

41	 Capital management

	 For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, share premium and all other 
equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective of the Company’s capital management 
is to maximise the shareholder value.

	 The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Company monitors capital using a gearing 
ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Company’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio of less than 75%. 
The Company includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and other payables, less 
cash and cash equivalents.

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Borrowings 767.45 768.10
Trade payables 341.80 375.52
Lease liabilities 14.10 14.01
Other financial liabilities 390.54 53.64
Less: Cash and bank balances (230.10) (32.65)
Net debt 1,283.79 1,178.62
Equity 3,090.25 2,501.82
Capital and net debt 4,374.04 3,680.44
Gearing ratio 29% 32%

	 In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it 
meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. 
Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been 
no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current year.

	 No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended March 31, 2022.
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Dividend for the financial year ended 2021-22 2020-21

Dividends to non-resident shareholders 2,54,74,518 –
Number of non-resident shareholders 549 –
Number of shares 58,77,108 –

42	 Raw material and power & fuel costs include expenditure on captive production of salt, limestone, 
briquette and lignite as under:

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Manufacturing expenses* 201.44 132.98
Stores and spares consumed 1.84 1.43
Power and fuel 3.60 3.94
Excise duty, cess and royalty 4.98 4.66
Repairs and maintenance –
	 Building 0.84 0.24
	 Plant and machinery 1.09 0.70
	 Earth work 13.67 6.64
	 Others 0.63 0.45
Salaries and wages ( refer Note no 32) 8.61 8.24
Travelling & conveyance 0.80 0.69
Lease rent 0.88 0.91
Rates and taxes 0.20 0.13
Insurance 2.25 1.38
Misc. expenses (including deferred revenue & intangible expenses) 3.61 0.90
Less: Other misc. income (9.88) (0.84)
Total 234.56 162.45

	 * It includes consumption of breeze, starch binder and other production and mining cost.

43	 In prior years as per SEBI (ESOS & ESPS) guidelines 1999 the Employees Stock Option Schemes of GHCL was administered by 
the registered Trust named GHCL Employees Stock Option Trust. However, the SEBI circular dated November 29, 2013, required 
the closure of all Employee Stock Option Trusts by June 2014. Accordingly, GHCL closed its ESOS Scheme, disposed of GHCL 
shares but retained its ESOS Trust for a limited purpose of litigation. ESOS Trust owns 20,46,195 GHCL shares, out of which 
15,79,922 shares were illegally sold by broker involved, against which ESOS Trust has initiated legal proceedings and 4,66,273 
shares were blocked for transactions by Stock exchange under legal proceedings. During the earlier year, 4,66,273 shares were 
transferred/released to ESOS Trust as per NSE order dated July 24, 2019 and are currently held by the Trust.

	 During the tenure of ESOS Trust, the company had advanced INR 29.54 crores interest free loan to the Trust to buy the shares 
and at the end of March’2014, the company had written off an amount of INR 23.34 crores due from ESOS Trust on account of 
permanent diminution in the value of 20,46,195 shares as on March 31, 2014 held by the Trust.

	 Once the legal matter will settle ESOS Trust will get the possession of 15,79,922 shares also, the sale proceeds from the disposal 
of these 20,46,195 shares by ESOS Trust will first be used to repay the loan amounting to INR 29.54 crores due to GHCL which 
includes restatement of earlier write-off of INR 23.34 crores taken in March, 2014 and the balance surplus (if any) will be used for 
the benefit of the employees of the company as per the recommendation of GHCL’s Compensation Committee.

44	 Remittances during the year in Foreign currency on account of

Notes to the Standalone Financial  Statements

301

Fi n a n c i a l  S t at e m e n t s

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores unless specified otherwise)



45	 Note : Discontinued Operations

	 A.	 The Board of Directors and shareholders of GHCL Limited (‘Company’) at their respective meetings held on December 6, 
2021 and January 21, 2022 (through Postal Ballot), approved the sale and transfer of the Company’s Home Textiles Business 
(comprising of weaving, processing and cutting and sewing of home textiles products) to Indo Count Industries Limited 
(“ICIL”) on a going concern basis under a slump sale arrangement. Accordingly, a Business Transfer Agreement (‘BTA’) was 
executed on December 6, 2021 between the Company and ICIL (read with the Amendment agreement (‘ABTA’) dated March 
30, 2022 entered into to record the amendment and substitution of certain provisions of the BTA). In addition, Grace Home 
Fashions LLP (‘GHF’), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company also entered into an Asset Transfer Agreement (ATA) on 
December 6, 2021 for transfer of its identified assets (i.e., inventory and intellectual property) to Indo Count Global Inc., USA 
(US subsidiary of ICIL), Indo Count Global Inc., USA together with “ICIL” known as “Purchaser” (read with the Amendment 
agreement (‘AATA’) dated March 30, 2022 entered into to record the amendment and substitution of certain provisions of 
the ATA).

	 B.	 The transfer of Home Textile Business and identified assets of GHF (“Divestment”) to the Purchaser was subject to the 
satisfaction of conditions precedent as stipulated in the BTA, AA and ATA and receipt of applicable permissions and 
consents from concerned authorities. The Company and GHF successfully completed the divestment on April 2, 2022 
in accordance with the terms of BTA and ATA for a consolidated consideration of H 592.8 Crores (subject to validation of 
customary closing date adjustment of working capital in terms of the BTA and ATA), In addition the Company/GHF expects 
to realise H 15.5 crores on its own account. The Company has received H 300 crores as advance from the said consideration 
on March 30, 2022.

	 C.	 In the Standalone Financial Statements, Assets and liabilities of Home Textiles business covered by the BTA have been 
disclosed as held for sale and disclosed separately in the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2022 as “Assets of discontinued 
operations classified as held for sale” and ”Liabilities of discontinued operations classified as held for sale” respectively. As 
mandated by Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 105 Asset Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (“Ind AS 105”), 
assets and liabilities have not been reclassified or re-presented for prior period i.e. year ended March 31, 2021 

	 D.	 Further the net results of Home Textile Business and GHF have been disclosed separately as discontinued operation as 
required by Ind AS 105. Consequently, the Company’s Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2022 
presented pertains to its continuing operations only and for that purpose the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year 
ended March 31, 2021 has been restated accordingly.

	 E.	 The closing date being subsequent to the balance sheet date, no gain/loss with respect to the Divestment have been 
recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2022. The total assets and liabilities of the Home 
Textile business and GHF are H 572.65 Cr and H 82.49 Cr lakhs respectively as at March 31, 2022

	 Results of HT Business for the year are presented below :

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Revenue
Revenue from operations 797.58 435.41
Other income 30.77 19.57
Total Income 828.35 454.98
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Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Expenses
Cost of raw materials consumed 500.04 290.45
(Increase)/ Decrease in inventories of finished goods, stock-in-trade and work-
in-progress

(16.71) –57.47

Power, fuel and water 66.10 43.54
Employee benefit expenses 46.28 44.16
Depreciation and amortization expense 13.76 21.79
Finance costs 6.77 15.89
Other expenses 130.65 92.55
Total expenses 746.89 450.91
Profit for the year 81.46 4.07

45	 Note : Discontinued Operations (Contd.)

	 Major Class of assets and liabilities of HT are as follows :

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 

I.	 Assets
	 (1)	 Non-current assets
		  (a)	 Property, plant and equipment 271.97
		  (b)	 Capital work-in-progress 0.36
		  (c)	 Other Intangible assets 0.41
		  (d)	 Financial assets
			   (i)	 Other non-current financial assets 0.31
		  (g)	 Other-non current assets 0.08
		  Total Non-Current Assets 273.13
	 (2)	 Current assets
		  (a)	 Inventories 181.83
		  (b)	 Financial assets
			   (i)	 Trade receivables 102.11
			   (ii)	 Cash and cash equivalents 0.17
			   (iii)	 Loans 0.20
			   (iv)	Other current financial asset 2.30
		  (c)	 Other current assets 12.91
		  Total Current Assets 299.52
		  Total assets classified as held for sale 572.65
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45	 Note : Discontinued Operations (Contd.)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 

	 Liabilities
	 (1)	 Current liabilities
		  (a)	 Financial liabilities
			   (i)	 Borrowings 17.96
			   (ii)	 Trade payables
				    (a) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 14.04
				    (b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises
47.22

			   (iii)	 Other financial liabilities 0.7
		  (b)	 Provisions 0.54
		  (c)	 Other current liabilities
			   (i)	 Contract liabilities 0.97
			   (ii)	 Other liabilities 1.06
		  Total Current Liabilities 82.49
		  Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale 82.49
Net Assets 490.16

46	 Demerger

	 In view of the divestment of HT Business of the Company to ICIL pursuant to BTA (mentioned above), the Board of Directors 
of the Company, at their meeting held on December 06, 2021 approved withdrawal of the existing Scheme of Arrangement 
u/s 230-232 of the Companies Act 2013, involving demerger of its entire Textiles business into GHCL Textiles Limited (‘Original 
Scheme’) and correspondingly approved “Scheme of Arrangement consisting of demerger of Spinning Division of GHCL 
Limited (“Demerged Company”) into GHCL Textiles Limited (‘Resulting Company’)” (the “Scheme”). Subsequently, on December 
20, 2021, Hon’ble NCLT (Ahmedabad Bench) allowed the withdrawal petition. The Company has received the observation letter/
approval from BSE,NSE on March 03, 2022 and competition commission of india on March 24, 2022 .The Company is in process 
of filing the 1st motion petition along with requisite documents with the Ahmedabad jurisdiction of NCLT.

	 Upon the Scheme becoming effective, the Textile Business (along with all assets and liabilities thereof) shall be carved out and 
transferred to the Resulting Company on a going concern basis. As a consideration for the Demerger, the Resulting Company 
would issue its equity shares to the shareholders of GHCL as on the record date in a 1:1 swap ratio (i.e. One (1) share of INR 2 
each would be issued by the Resulting Company for every one (1) share of INR 10 each held in GHCL), following which the 
shareholding of both Companies shall be same as at the record date.

	 Net Cash flow attributable to HT business are as follows :

Particulars
For the year ended 

31st March 2022

Net cash generated from operating activities (A) 53.79
Net cash used in investing activities (B) 3.40
Net cash used in financing activities (C ) (58.81)
Net (Decrease) / Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (1.62)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1.79
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 0.17
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46	 Demerger (Contd.)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

(a)	 Assets classified as held for Sale and discontinued operations
	 Discontinued operations ( footnote”i) 572.65 –
	 Assets held for Sale ( footnote”ii) 3.61 2.34
(b)	 Liabilities directly associated with discontinued operations
	 Discontinued operations ( footnote”i) 82.49 –

	 (i)	 For details relating Discontinued operations ( Home Textiles business at Vapi, Gujarat) refer note no 45

	 (ii)	 The management has balance excessive and surplus land of 50.75 acres (Previous Year 48.33 acres) outside the premises 
of factory at Madurai, that is being disposed off and balance is held as non current asset held for sale. During the year the 
Company has sold/disposed 0.47 acres (Previous Year 12.25 acres) of land. Also the Company has transferred 2.42 acres 
(Previous Year 33.19 acres) of land from Property, Plant and Equipment being to be sold after the approval of Board of 
directors.

48	 Additional regulatory information

	 1	 The Company do not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company 
for holding any Benami property.

	 2	 The Company do not have any transactions with companies struck off.

	 3	 The Company do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period,

	 4	 The Company have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.

	 5	 The Company have not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities 
(Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

		  (a)	 directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

	 Post Demerger, GHCL shall continue with the Chemicals Business while the Resulting Company shall house the Textiles Spinning 
division. Shares of GHCL shall continue to be listed on the BSE and NSE and that of the Resulting Company shall also be 
listed on the BSE and NSE. The Demerger is expected to facilitate focused growth, concentrated approach, business synergies 
and increased operational and customer focus for respective business verticals apart from exploring independent business 
opportunities with efficient capital allocation.

47	 Assets held for Sale and discontinued operations

Particulars
As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021

Acres Amount Acres Amount

Opening balance 2.89 2.34 48.33 31.46
Add: Transferred from Property, plant and Equipment 2.42 1.65 – –
Less: Sold 0.47 0.38 12.25 9.92
Less: Transferred to Property, plant and Equipment – – 33.19 19.20
Closing balance 4.84 3.61 2.89 2.34
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Particulars Numerator Denominator
Mar 31, 

2022
Mar 31, 

2021
Variation Reason for variance

(a)	 Current 
Ratio,

Current Assets Current 
Liabilities

1.45 1.71 –15%

(b)	 Debt-Equity 
Ratio,

Total Debt Shareholders 
Equity

0.25 0.31 –19%

(c)	 Debt 
Service 
Coverage 
Ratio,

Earnings for debt 
service = Net profit 
after taxes + Non-
cash operating 
expenses

Debt service 
= Interest 
& Lease 
Payments 
+ Principal 
Repayments

2.38 1.46 63% On account of higher cash profit 
earned during the year there is 
significant improvement in the ratio

(d)	 Return on 
Equity Ratio,

Net Profits after 
taxes – Preference 
Dividend (if any)

Average 
Shareholder’s 
Equity

0.21 0.13 57% On account of higher Net profit 
earned during the year there is 
significant improvement in the ratio

(e)	 Inventory 
turnover 
ratio,

Cost of goods sold Average 
Inventory

1.97 1.56 26% Majorly on account of higher sales 
in the current year as compare to 
previous year due to which there is 
favourable movement in the ratio.

(f)	 Trade 
Receivables 
turnover 
ratio,

Net credit sales = 
Gross credit sales - 
sales return

Avg. 
Accounts 
Receivable

16.95 12.54 35% Majorly on account of higher sales 
in the current year as compare to 
previous year due to which there is 
favourable movement in the ratio.

(g)	 Trade 
payables 
turnover 
ratio,

Net credit 
purchases = Gross 
credit purchases - 
purchase return

Average 
Trade 
Payables

6.15 3.45 78% Majorly on account of higher 
purchase in the current year as 
compare to previous year due to 
higher sales thereby leading to a 
significant change in the ratio.

(h)	 Net capital 
turnover 
ratio,

Net sales = Total 
sales - sales return

Working 
capital = 
Current 
assets – 
Current 
liabilities

7.54 7.96 –5%

48	 Other Statutory Information

		  (b)	 provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

	 6	 The Company have not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with 
the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall:

		  (a)	 directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

		  (b)	 provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries,

	 7	 The Company have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or 
disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or 
any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961

	 8	 Ratio (Continuing operations) :
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48	 Other Statutory Information (Contd.) 

Particulars Numerator Denominator
Mar 31, 

2022
Mar 31, 

2021
Variation Reason for variance

(i)	 Net profit 
ratio,

Net Profit Net sales = 
Total sales - 
sales return

0.15 0.12 23%

(j)	 Return on 
Capital 
employed,

Earning before 
interest and taxes

Capital 
Employed 
= Tangible 
Net Worth + 
Total Debt + 
Deferred Tax 
Liability

0.23 0.15 51% On account of higher earning 
before interest and taxes earned 
during the year there is significant 
improvement in the ratio

(k)	 Return on 
investment-
Mutual fund

Interest (Finance 
Income)

Investment 3.53% 4.15% –15%

L)	 Operating 
profit 
Margin (%)

Earning before 
interest and taxes

Revenue from 
operations

23% 20% 14%

m)	 Return on Net 
Worth (%)

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year, net of tax

Net worth 21% 13% 64% On account of higher total 
comprehensive income earned 
during the year there is significant 
improvement in the ratio

49	 Coronavirus (COVID-19) Impact on Financial Reporting – Accounting Year Ending March 31, 2022

	 The Company has considered the possible effects that may result from COVID-19 in the preparation of these Standalone 
financial statements including the recoverability of carrying amounts of financial and non-financial assets. Based on the current 
year performance and estimates arrived at using internal and external sources of information, the company does not expect any 
material impact on such carrying values. Based on the projected cash flows for the next one year the management is confident 
of liquidating its liabilities as and when they fall due and the Going concern assumption used for preparation of these financial 
statements is appropriate.

50	� The Code on Social Security, 2020 (‘Code’) relating to employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits 
received Presidential assent in September 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the date on 
which the Code will come into effect has not been notified and the final rules/interpretation have not yet been issued. The 
Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the code and will record the same, if any, in the year the Code becomes 
effective.

51	� Exceptional item pertains to provision for diminution in the value of investment made in a wholly owned subsidiary in view of its 
negative net-worth & projected business plan as at March 31, 2022.

Notes to the Standalone Financial  Statements

307

Fi n a n c i a l  S t at e m e n t s

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores unless specified otherwise)



As per report of even date		  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of GHCL Limited

For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No. 301003E/E300005	 Sanjay Dalmia			   Manoj Vaish 
			  Chairman				    Director 
			  DIN: 00206992			   DIN: 00157082

per Atul Seksaria		  R. S. Jalan 				   Raman Chopra 
Partner	  	 Managing Director 			   CFO & Executive Director-Finance 
Membership No. 086370	  	 DIN: 00121260 			   DIN: 00954190

Place : New Delhi	  	 Place : New Delhi 			   Bhuwneshwar Mishra 
Date: April 30, 2022		  Date: April 30, 2022 			   Sr. GM- Sustainability & 
								       Company Secretary 
								       Membership No.: FCS 5330

52	� As per the Transfer Pricing Rules of the Income Tax Act, 1961 every company is required to get a transfer pricing study conducted 
to determine whether the transactions with associated enterprises were undertaken at an arm’s length basis for each financial 
year end. Transfer pricing study for the transaction pertaining to the year ended March 31, 2022 is currently in progress and 
hence adjustments if any which may arise there from have not been taken into account in these financial statements for the 
year ended March 31, 2022 and will be effective in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023. However, in the 
opinion of the Company’s management, adjustments, if any, are not expected to be material.

53	� Standards notified but not yet effective

	 There are no new standards that are notified, but not yet effective, upto the date of issuance of the Company’s financial 
statements.

54	� Previous year’s figures have been regrouped / rearranged wherever necessary, to conform to current year’s presentation. As 
required by Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 105 “Asset Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, the Statement of Profit 
and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2021 has been restated to make it comparable, however Balance Sheet as at March 31, 
2021 has not been reclassified or re-presented.
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Rs. In Cr.

S.No. Particulars Particulars Particulars Particulars

i. Name of Subsidiary Grace Home 
Fashion 

LLC

Dan River 
Properties LLC

GHCL Textiles 
Limited

ii. The date since when subsidiary was acquired
iii. Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, March 31, 2022 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2022

Reporting Currency and Exchange rate as on the last 
date of the relevant financial year/Period.

USD
1 USD = INR 75.80

USD
1 USD = INR 75.80

INR

v. Share Capital   34.62  0.00   0.01 
vi. Reserve & Surplus   (46.17)   6.83   -0.01 
vii. Total Assets   50.11   8.39   0.01 
viii. Total Liabilities   61.66   1.56   0.00 
ix. Investments   -     -     -   
x. Turnover   76.90   1.33   -   
xi. Profit before Taxation   5.68   -1.14   -   
xii Provision for taxation   0.02   -     -   
xiii. Profit after Taxation   5.66   -1.14   -   
xiv. Proposed Dividend   -     -     -   
xv. % of Shareholding 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Form AOC-1 Part “A” Subsidiaries 
Statement Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129  

read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts)  Rules, 2014 

	For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of GHCL Limited

	Sanjay Dalmia			   Manoj Vaish 
	Chairman			   Director 
	DIN: 00206992			   DIN: 00157082

	R. S. Jalan 			   Raman Chopra 
	Managing Director 			   CFO & Executive Director-Finance 
	DIN: 00121260 			   DIN: 00954190

 			   Bhuwneshwar Mishra 
 			   Sr. GM- Sustainability & 
	Place : New Delhi			   Company Secretary 
	Date: April 30, 2022			   Membership No.: FCS 5330
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Consolidated 
Financial 

Statements



Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of  GHCL Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Ind AS 
Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements of GHCL Limited (hereinafter referred to as 
“the Holding Company”), its subsidiaries (the Holding Company 
and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”) 
comprising of the consolidated Balance sheet as at March 31 
2022, the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, including 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement and the consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred 
to as “the consolidated Ind AS financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration 
of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements 
and on the other financial information of the subsidiaries, 
the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the 
information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended 
(“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the 
Group as at March 31, 2022, their consolidated profit including 
other comprehensive income, their consolidated cash flows 
and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the 
year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 
(SAs), as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our 
responsibilities under those Standards are further described in 

the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Ind AS Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group, in accordance with the ‘Code of 
Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act 
and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2022. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For 
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 
the matter is provided in that context. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key 
audit matters to be communicated in our report. We have fulfilled 
the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements section 
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, 
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to 
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements. The results of 
audit procedures performed by us and by other auditors of 
components not audited by us, as reported by them in their 
audit reports furnished to us by the management, including 
those procedures performed to address the matters below, 
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.
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Discontinued Operations and Asset held for sale in relation to Transfer of Home Textile Business and certain identified 
assets of wholly owned subsidiary <<Refer Note 47>>

During the current year, the Holding Company has 
entered into a Business Transfer Agreement (BTA) 
for the sale of its Home Textiles Business (located at 
Vapi, Gujarat) (‘HT Business’) to Indo Count Industries 
Limited (‘ICIL’) as a going concern, on a slump sale 
basis. In addition, Grace Home Fashions LLP (‘GHF’), a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company also entered 
into an Asset Transfer Agreement (ATA) for transfer 
of its identified assets (i.e., inventory and intellectual 
property) to Indo Count Global Inc., USA (US subsidiary 
of ICIL).

As at March 31, 2022, the Group has presented the 
operations of its Home Textile Business and GHF as 
“Discontinued Operations” and its related assets as 
“Assets held for sale” and liabilities as “Liabilities directly 
associated with the assets held for sale” in accordance 
with Ind AS 105 (Non-current Assets held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations). ccounting for discontinued 
operations requires

Adjustment and estimates to identify and separate 
the financial effects from continuing and discontinued 
operations. Accordingly, this matter has been 
determined to be a key audit matter in our audit of the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements

Our audit procedures included the following:-
∞	 Obtained an understanding and assessed the effectiveness of process 

followed by the management in assessing the appropriateness of the 
Group’s accounting policies in relation to discontinued operations;

∞	 Evaluated the basis of the management’s assessment of treating 
the transfer of Home textile business and identified assets of GHF 
as Discontinued operations in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards;

∞	 Obtained and read the Business Transfer Agreement and Asset 
Transfer Agreement for understanding the impact on the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements including identification of 
the assets and liabilities to be transferred and assessment of the key 
estimates and judgement involved therein;

∞	 Performed procedures on the disclosures relating to discontinued 
operations made in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements for 
assessing the compliance with disclosure requirements

We have determined that there are no other key audit 
matters to communicate in our report.

“Information Other than the Financial Statements and 
Auditor’s Report Thereon”

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for 
the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual report, but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Ind 
AS Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for 
the preparation and presentation of these consolidated Ind 
AS financial statements in terms of the requirements of the 
Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position, consolidated financial performance including 
other comprehensive income, consolidated cash flows and 
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. The 
respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the 
Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for preventing 
and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
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consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the 
Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the 
Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so. Those respective Board of Directors of the companies 
included in the Group are also responsible for overseeing the 
financial reporting process of the Group of the company.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Ind AS Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated Ind AS financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated Ind AS financial statements. 
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• 	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of 
the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion 
on whether the Holding Company has adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements in 
place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

•	  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the ability of the to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group of which we are the independent 
auditors and whose financial information we have 
audited, to express an opinion on the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audit of the financial 
statements of such entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements of which we are the independent 
auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated 
Ind AS financial statements, which have been audited by 
other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the audits 
carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our 
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of 
the Holding Company and such other entities included in the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements of which we are the 
independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
for the financial year ended March 31, 2022 and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

Other Matter

(a) 	 We did not audit the financial statements and other 
financial information, in respect of two subsidiaries, whose 
Ind AS financial statements include total assets of Rs 58.50 
crores as at March 31, 2022, and total revenues of Rs  76.90 
crores and net cash inflows of Rs 11.16 crores for the year 
ended on that date. These Ind AS financial statement 
and other financial information have been audited by 
other auditors, which financial statements, other financial 
information and auditor’s reports have been furnished to 
us by the management. Our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts 
and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, 
and our report in terms of sub-sections (3) of Section 143 of 
the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, is 
based solely on the reports of such other auditors.

Our opinion above on the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above 
matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the 
reports of the other auditors and the financial statements and 
other financial information certified by the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.	 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 
2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of 
India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, 
based on our audit and on the consideration of report of 
the other auditors on separate financial statements and the 
other financial information of the subsidiary companies, 
as noted in the ‘Other Matter’ paragraph we give in the 
“Annexure 1” a statement on the matters specified in 
paragraph 3(xxi) of the Order.

2.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit 
and on the consideration of report of the other auditors 
on separate financial statements and the other financial 
information of subsidiaries, as noted in the ‘other matter’ 
paragraph we report, to the extent applicable, that:

	  (a)	 We/the other auditors whose report we have relied 
upon have sought and obtained all the information and 
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of 
the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements;

	 (b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid 
consolidation of the financial statements have been 
kept so far as it appears from our examination of those 
books and reports of the other auditors;

	 (c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement 
of Other Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated 
Cash Flow Statement and Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in 
agreement with the books of account maintained for 
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements;

	 (d) 	 In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, read 
with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015, as amended;

	 (e)	 On the basis of the written representations received 
from the directors of the Holding Company as on March 
31, 2022taken on record by the Board of Directors of 
the Holding Company and the reports of the statutory 
auditors who are appointed under Section 139 of the 
Act, of its subsidiary companies, none of the directors 
of the Group’s companies, incorporated in India, is 
disqualified as on March 31, 2022 from being appointed 
as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

	 (f)	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls with reference to consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary 
companies, incorporated in India, and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate 
Report in “Annexure 1” to this report;

		  In our opinion the managerial remuneration for the 
year ended March 31, 2022 has been paid / provided by 
the Holding Company to their directors in accordance 
with the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V 
to the Act;

	 (g)	 With respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 
of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, 
as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given 
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to us and based on the consideration of the report of 
the other auditors on separate financial statements as 
also the other financial

		  Information of the subsidiaries as noted in the ‘Other 
matter’ paragraph:

		  i.	 The consolidated Ind AS financial statements 
disclose the impact of pending litigations on its 
consolidated financial position of the Group, in its 
consolidated financial statements – Refer Note 35 
to the consolidated Ind AS financial statements;

		  ii.	 The Group did not have any material foreseeable 
losses in long-term contracts including derivative 
contracts during the year ended March 31, 2022; 
There has been no delay in transferring amounts, 
required to be transferred, to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Holding 
Company.

		  iii. 	 The respective managements of the Holding 
Company and one of its subsidiary which is 
company incorporated in India whose financial 
statements have been audited under the Act 
have represented to us that, to the best of its 
knowledge and belief, other than as disclosed in 
the note 49 to the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements, no funds have been advanced or 
loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds 
or share premium or any other sources or kind of 
funds) by the Holding Company or its subsidiary 
to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including 
foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the 
understanding, whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, 
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons 
or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by 
or on behalf of the respective Holding Company 
or its subsidiary (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; The respective 
managements of the Holding Company and one 
of its subsidiary which is company incorporated 
in India whose financial statements have been 
audited under the Act have represented to us that, 
to the best of its knowledge and belief, other than 
as disclosed in the note 49 to the consolidated 
Ind AS financial statements, no funds have been 

received by the respective Holding Company 
or its subsidiary from any persons or entities, 
including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing 
or otherwise, that the Holding Company or its 
subsidiary shall, whether, directly or indirectly, 
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified 
in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 
any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

		  iv) 	 Based on the audit procedures that have been 
considered reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances performed by us and those 
performed by the auditors of its subsidiary which 
is company incorporated in India whose financial 
statements have been audited under the Act, 
nothing has come to our or other auditor’s notice 
that has caused us or the other auditors to believe 
that the representations under sub-clause (a) and 
(b) contain any material mis-statement.

		  v) 	 The final dividend paid by the Holding Company 
during the year in respect of the same declared 
for the previous year is in accordance with section 
123 of the Act to the extent it applies to payment 
of dividend. 

			   As stated in note 15 to the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements, the respective Board of 
Directors of the Holding Company, has proposed 
final dividend for the year which is subject to 
the approval of the members of the respective 
companies at the respective ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. The amount of dividend declared 
is in accordance with section 123 of the Act to the 
extent it applies to declaration of dividend

For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
	 Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number:301003E/E300005

	 perAtul Seksaria
Partner 

Place of Signature:New Delhi	 Membership Number: 086370
Date : April 30, 2022 	 UDIN:22086370AIEJCJ8463
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Annexure 1
to the independent auditor’s report of even date on the Consolidated Financial Statements of GHCL Limted

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of GHCL Limited (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Holding Company”) as of and for the year ended March 31, 
2022, we have audited the internal financial controls with 
reference to consolidated financial statements of the Holding 
Company and its one of the subsidiaries (the Holding Company 
and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”), which 
are companies incorporated in India, as of that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included 
in the Group, which are companies incorporated in India, are 
responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial 
controls based on the internal control over financial reporting 
criteria established by the Holding Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to 
the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its 
assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the 
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required 
under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Holding 
Company's internal financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing, specified 
under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an 
audit of internal financial controls, both, issued by ICAI. Those 
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 
controls with reference to consolidated financial statements 
was established and maintained and if such controls operated 

effectively in all material respects. Our audit involves performing 
procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements and their operating effectiveness.

Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements included obtaining an 
understanding of internal financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements, assessing the risk that a 
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on 
the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With 
Reference to Consolidated Financial Statements 

A company's internal financial control with reference to 
consolidated financial statements is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company's internal financial control 
with reference to consolidated financial statements includes 
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorisations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assetsthat 
could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls 
With Reference to Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls 
with reference to consolidated financial statements, including 
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the possibility of collusion or improper management override 
of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may 
occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that 
the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Group which are companies incorporated 
in India, have, maintained in all material respects, adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements and such internal financial controls with 

reference to consolidated financial statements were operating 
effectively as at March 31, 2022, based on the internal control 
over financial reporting criteria established by the Holding 
Company considering the essential components of internal 
control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
	 Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number:301003E/E300005

				    perAtul Seksaria
Partner 

Place of Signature:New Delhi	 Membership Number: 086370
Date : April 30, 2022 	 UDIN:22086370AIEJCJ8463
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(H in Crores)

Particulars Note No.  As at 
 March 31, 2022 

 As at  
March 31, 2021 

I.	 Assets
	 (1)	 Non-current assets
		  (a)	 Property, plant and equipment 3  2,454.53  2,657.09 
		  (b)	 Capital work-in-progress 3  212.98  80.54 
		  (c)	 Intangible assets 4  2.61  6.05 
		  (d)	 Right-of-use assets 34  17.09  12.16 
		  (e)	 Financial assets
			   (i)	 Investments 5  16.55  15.15 
			   (ii)	 Loans 6A 7.88  -   
			   (ii)	 Other non-current financial assets 6B  22.07  19.62 
		  (f)	 Other-non current assets 7  90.35  66.57 
		  Total Non-Current Assets 2824.06  2,857.18 
	 (2)	 Current assets
		  (a)	 Inventories 8  944.23  763.50 
		  (b)	 Financial assets
			   (i)	 Trade receivables 9  229.44  228.36 
			   (ii)	 Cash and cash equivalents 10A  243.58  34.97 
			   (iii)	 Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents 10B  11.65  13.66 
			   (iv)	 Loans 11A 7.84  7.93 
			   (v)	 Derivative instruments 11B  -    4.14 
			   (vi)	 Other current financial asset 11C  5.95  12.83 
		  (c)	 Current tax assets (net) 12  -    9.73 
		  (d)	 Other current assets 13  133.58  34.66 
		  Total Current Assets 1576.27  1,109.78 
			   Assets held for sale 45  595.04  10.90 
		  Total assets  4,995.37  3,977.86 
II.	 Equity and liabilities
		  Equity
		  (a)	 Equity share capital 14  95.35  95.01 
		  (b)	 Other equity 15  2,990.22  2,389.24 
		  Total Equity  3,085.57  2,484.25 
		  Liabilities
	 (1)	 Non-current liabilities
		  (a)	 Financial liabilities
			   (i)	 Borrowings 16A  424.60  563.82 
			   (ii)	 Lease liabilities 34  17.90  13.33 
		  (b)	 Provisions 17A  7.62  3.02 
		  (c)	 Deferred tax liabilities (net) 12  269.57  260.16 
		  (d)	 Other non-current liabilities 17C  -    0.70 
		  Total Non- Current Liabilities  719.69  841.03 
	 (2)	 Current liabilities
		  (a)	 Financial liabilities
			   (i)	 Borrowings 16B 342.85  204.28
			   (ii)	 Lease liabilities 34 2.21 0.68
			   (iii)	 Trade payables
				    (a)	 Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 18  41.67  23.43 
				    (b)	 Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises
18  301.17  353.19 

			   (iv)	 Derivative instruments 19A  1.46  -   
			   (v)	 Other financial liabilities 19B  339.41  34.86 
		  (b)	 Provisions 17B  11.91  14.36 
		  (c)	 Current tax liabilities (net) 12  14.54  -   
		  (d)	 Other current Liabilities
			   (i)	 Contract liabilities 21.2  7.08  3.91 
			   (ii)	 Other liabilities 20  45.32  17.87 
		  Total Current Liabilities  1107.62  652.58 
		  Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale 45  82.49  -   
		  Total equity and liabilities  4,995.37  3,977.86 

Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at March 31, 2022

The accompanying notes are integral part of the standalone financial statements.
As per report of even date		  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of GHCL Limited
For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No. 301003E/E300005	 Sanjay Dalmia			   Manoj Vaish 
			   Chairman				    Director 
			   DIN: 00206992			   DIN: 00157082

per Atul Seksaria		  R. S. Jalan 				    Raman Chopra 
Partner	  	 Managing Director 			   CFO & Executive Director-Finance 
Membership No. 086370	  	 DIN: 00121260 			   DIN: 00954190

Place : New Delhi	  	 Place : New Delhi 			   Bhuwneshwar Mishra 
Date: April 30, 2022		  Date: April 30, 2022 			   Sr. GM- Sustainability & Company Secretary 
								        Membership No.: FCS 5330
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(H in Crores)

Particulars Note No. For the year ended 
March 31, 2022

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

Revenue from continuing operations
Revenue from operations 21  3,778.36  2,491.18 
Other income 22  12.14  7.46 
Total Income  3,790.50  2,498.64 
Expenses from continuing operations
Cost of raw materials consumed 23  1,489.12  949.80 
Purchase of stock in trade  236.28  173.31 
(Increase)/  Decrease in inventories of finished goods, stock-in-trade and work-in-progress 24  (38.47)  12.83 
Power, fuel and water  621.34  371.68 
Employee benefit expenses 25  153.23  128.55 
Depreciation and amortization expense 26  116.78  111.40 
Finance costs 27  63.57  74.32 
Other expenses 28  337.85  258.57 
Total expenses  2,979.70  2,080.46 
Profit before tax from continuing operations  810.80  418.18 
Tax expense: 12
	 Current tax  204.10  104.85 
	 Tax adjustment of earlier years  (0.03)  (0.93)
	 Deferred tax  8.43  7.42 
Total tax expense  212.50  111.34 
Profit for the year from continuing operations  598.30  306.84 
Profit before tax for the year from discontinued operations  70.37  20.39 
Tax Expense of discontinued operations  (21.97)  (1.11)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 47  48.40  19.28 
Profit for the year  646.70  326.12 
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years
Re-measurement Gain/(Loss) on defined benefit plans  0.44  (1.63)
Income tax effect  (0.11)  0.41 
Re-measurement Gain/(Loss) on investment in equity  1.32  5.95 
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  0.14  2.87 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 29  1.79  7.60 
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 648.49  333.72 
Profit from continuing operations for the year attributable to :
	 Owners of the Company  598.30  306.84 
	 Non-controlling interest  -    -   
Other comprehensive income/Loss for the year attributable to :
	 Owners of the Company  1.79  7.60 
	 Non-controlling interest  -    -   
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
	 Owners of the Company 348.49  333.72 
	 Non controlling interest  -    -   
Earnings per share for continuing operations per equity share nominal value of shares 
INR 10 ( Previous year INR 10 each)

30

Basic (INR)  62.81  32.29 
Diluted (INR)  62.61  32.21 
Earnings per share for discontinued operations per equity share nominal value of 
shares INR 10 ( Previous year INR 10 each)
Basic (INR)  5.08  2.03 
Diluted (INR)  5.07  2.02 
Earnings per share for continuing and discontinued operations per equity share nominal 
value of shares INR 10 ( Previous year INR 10 each)
Basic (INR)  67.89  34.32 
Diluted (INR)  67.68  34.23 

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss  
for the year ended March 31, 2022

The accompanying notes are integral part of the standalone financial statements.
As per report of even date		  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of GHCL Limited
For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No. 301003E/E300005	 Sanjay Dalmia			   Manoj Vaish 
			   Chairman				    Director 
			   DIN: 00206992			   DIN: 00157082

per Atul Seksaria		  R. S. Jalan 				    Raman Chopra 
Partner	  	 Managing Director 			   CFO & Executive Director-Finance 
Membership No. 086370	  	 DIN: 00121260 			   DIN: 00954190

Place : New Delhi	  	 Place : New Delhi 			   Bhuwneshwar Mishra 
Date: April 30, 2022		  Date: April 30, 2022 			   Sr. GM- Sustainability & Company Secretary 
								        Membership No.: FCS 5330
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(H in Crores)

Particulars
For the Year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended 

March 31, 2021

Operating activities
Profit before tax from continuing operations  810.80  418.18 
Profit before tax from discontinued operations  70.37  20.39 
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows :
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  131.87  133.41 
(Profit) on sale of investments  (0.51)  (1.27)
Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets  2.84  8.67 
Interest income  (0.40)  (0.55)
Finance cost  70.62  91.18 
Income from dividend  (0.05)  -   
Employees share based payments  0.04  1.56 
Unrealised Exchange (Gain) / Loss  3.52  (3.42)
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes  1,089.10  668.15 
Changes in working capital
Adjustments for (Increase)/decrease in Operating assets:
Trade receivables  (103.06)  53.25 
Inventories  (381.34)  27.12 
Other current financial assets  4.47  14.51 
Other current assets  (111.39)  6.19 
Non-current financial assets  (9.00)  (1.05)
Other non-current assets  0.01  (0.31)
Adjustments for (Increase)/decrease in Operating liabilities:
Other non-current financial liabilities  -    (0.18)
Contract liabilities  4.14  (2.20)
Trade payables  26.81  (30.52)
Derivative instruments  2.72  -10.39 
Other current financial liabilities  295.39  0.64 
Other current liabilities  27.80  5.30 
Provisions  2.69  (2.38)
Cash generated from operations  848.34  728.13 
Income tax paid (net)  (204.92)  (107.10)
Net cash generated from operating activities (A)  643.42  621.03 
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds/(Payment) of Property, plant and equipment, capital work in progress 
and intangible assets

 (337.45)  (110.71)

Sales/ (Purchase) of Investment (Net)  0.43  1.33 
Interest received  0.40  0.55 
Dividend  received  0.05  -   
Net cash used in investing activities (B)  (336.57)  (108.83)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Year ended March 31, 2022
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(H in Crores)

Particulars
For the Year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended 

March 31, 2021

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity shares (including premium)  5.06  -   
Dividend paid  (52.00) -
Dividend distribution tax paid  -    (5.86)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings  100.00  2.46 
Repayment of long-term borrowings  (249.41)  (246.46)
Proceeds/repayment from short-term borrowings  166.71  (227.53)
Payment of lease liabilities  (3.23)  (2.02)
Bank deposit in escrow account and Margin Money  1.72  0.96 
Investment in deposits not classified as cash and cash equivalents  (1.63)  -   
Interest paid  (65.29)  (90.52)
Net cash used in financing activities (C )  (98.07)  (568.97)
Net (Decrease) / Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  208.78  (56.77)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  34.97  91.74 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  243.75  34.97 
Components of cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand  0.08  0.17 
Balances with banks:
-	 On current accounts  30.30  34.80 
-	 Deposits with original maturity of less than three months  213.37 
Total cash and cash equivalents (refer note 10A)  243.75  34.97 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Year ended March 31, 2022

Notes:

The cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in the Ind AS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”.

The accompanying notes are integral part of the standalone financial statements.

As per report of even date		  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of GHCL Limited

For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No. 301003E/E300005	 Sanjay Dalmia			   Manoj Vaish 
			  Chairman				    Director 
			  DIN: 00206992			   DIN: 00157082

per Atul Seksaria		  R. S. Jalan 			   Raman Chopra 
Partner	  	 Managing Director 			   CFO & Executive Director-Finance 
Membership No. 086370	  	 DIN: 00121260 			   DIN: 00954190

Place : New Delhi	  	 Place : New Delhi 			   Bhuwneshwar Mishra 
Date: April 30, 2022		  Date: April 30, 2022 		  Sr. GM- Sustainability & 
								       Company Secretary 
								       Membership No.: FCS 5330
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(H in Crores)

Particulars Number of share       Amount

Balance as at April 1, 2020  95,013,286  95.01 
Changes in share capital  -    -   
Balance as at March 31, 2021  95,013,286  95.01 
Changes in share capital- ESOS issued during the year ( July 15,2021)  337,500  0.34 
Balance as at March 31, 2022  95,350,786  95.35 

Consolidated Statement of changes in equity  
for the year ended March 31, 2022

A. 	 Equity Share Capital
	 Equity Shares of INR 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid up

B.	 Other equity

Particulars

 Reserves and Surplus (Refer note 15) 
 FVTOCI 
Reserve  

(Refer 
note 
15H)

 Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve  

(Refer note 
15I

 Total 
 Capital 
reserve 

(Refer 
note 
15A)

 Business 
development 

reserve  
(Refer note 

15B) 

 Capital 
redemption 

reserve  
(Refer note 

15C) 

 Securities 
premium  

(Refer 
note 15D) 

Retained 
earnings   

(Refer 
note 15E) 

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve  

(Refer 
note 15F

 General 
reserve  

(Refer 
note 
15G) 

Balance as at April 1, 2020  7.57  73.89  16.36  -    1,937.83  9.87  5.45  6.34  (3.34)  2,053.96 
Profit for the year  -    -    -    -    326.12  -    -    -    -    326.12 
Share based payments 
(Refer note 33)

 -    -    -    -    -    1.56  -    -    -    1.56 

Other comprehensive 
loss for the year, net of 
tax (Refer note 29)

 -    -    -    -    (1.22)  -    -    5.95  2.87  7.60 

Balance as at 
March 31, 2021

 7.57  73.89  16.36  -    2,262.73  11.43  5.45  12.29  (0.47)  2,389.24 

Reserve created on 
account of ESOS issued 
during the year

 10.68  (5.96)  -    -    4.72 

Profit for the year  -    -    -    -    646.70  -    -    -    -    646.70 
Share based payments 
(Refer note 33)

 -    -    -    -    -    0.04  -    -    -    0.04 

Dividend paid  -    -    -    -    (52.27)  -    -    -    -    (52.27)
Other comprehensive 
income for the year, net 
of tax (Refer note 29)

 -    -    -    -    0.33  -    -    1.32  0.14  1.79 

Balance as at 
March 31, 2022

 7.57  73.89  16.36  10.68  2,857.49  5.51  5.45  13.61  (0.33)  2,990.22 

The accompanying notes are integral part of the standalone financial statements.

As per report of even date		  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of GHCL Limited
For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No. 301003E/E300005		  Sanjay Dalmia			   Manoj Vaish 
			  Chairman				    Director 
			  DIN: 00206992			   DIN: 00157082

per Atul Seksaria		  R. S. Jalan 				    Raman Chopra 
Partner	  	 Managing Director 			   CFO & Executive Director-Finance 
Membership No. 086370	  	 DIN: 00121260 			   DIN: 00954190

Place : New Delhi	  	 Place : New Delhi 			   Bhuwneshwar Mishra 
Date: April 30, 2022		  Date: April 30, 2022 			   Sr. GM- Sustainability & 
								       Company Secretary 
								       Membership No.: FCS 5330
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1	 Corporate information 

	 The consolidated financial statements comprise financial 
statements of GHCL Limited (GHCL) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the Group) for the year ended March 31, 
2022. GHCL Limited (““GHCL”” or the “”Company”” or 
the “”Parent””) is a public Group domiciled in India and is 
incorporated under the provisions of the Companies Act 
applicable in India. Its shares are listed with the National 
Stock Exchange (NSE) and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE). 
The registered office of the Group is located at GHCL 
House, Opp. Punjabi Hall, Near Navrangpura Bus Stand, 
Navrangpura, Ahmedabad - 380 009, Gujarat. The Group 
is engaged in primarily two business segments consisting 
of Inorganic Chemicals (mainly manufacture and sale of 
Soda Ash)  and  Home Textile division (comprising of yarn 
manufacturing, weaving, processing and cutting & sewing 
of home textiles products). 

	 Information on the Group’s structure is provided in Note 46.

	 Information on related party relationships of the 
Group is provided in Note 36. The Board of Directors 
and shareholders of the Company at their respective 
meetings held on December 06, 2021 and January 21, 
2022, respectively, approved the sale and transfer of the 
Company’s Home Textile Business and identified assets 
(i.e., inventory and intellectual property) of Grace Home 
Fashions LLC, a US subsidiary of the Company (together 
termed as “HT Business” henceforth) to Indo Count 
Industries Limited (Indo Count) and its US subsidiary 
i.e Indo Count Global Inc., USA, respectively on a going 
concern basis under a slump sale arrangement. The 
HT Business includes weaving, processing and cutting 
and sewing of home textiles products. Accordingly, a 
Business Transfer Agreement (‘BTA’) and Asset Transfer 
Agreement (‘ATA’) were executed on December 06, 2021 
between the Company and Indo Count. (Refer Note 47) 
 The consolidated financial statements are approved 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors on April 30, 2022.”

2	 Significant accounting policies 

2.1	 Basis of preparation 

	 The consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) notified under the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended from time 
to time) and presentation requirements of Division II of 

Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013, (Ind AS compliant 
Schedule III), as applicable to the CFS. The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared on historical cost 
basis except for the following assets and liabilities which 
have been measured at fair value or revalued amount:

	  •	 Derivative financial instruments

	  •	 Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value (refer accounting policy regarding financial 
instruments), 

	 The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Indian Rupees (INR) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
crores (INR’00,00,000), except otherwise indicated.”

2.2	 Basis of Consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statements comprises the 
financial statement of GHCL Limited and its subsidiaries 
as at March 31, 2022. Control is achieved when the 
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if 
the Group has:

	 (i) 	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)

	 (ii) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee, and

	 (iii) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its 
returns.

	 Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting 
rights result in control. To support this presumption and 
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or 
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including:

	 (i) 	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote 
holders of the investee

	  (ii) 	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

	 (iii) 	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

	 (iv) 	 The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative 
to the size and dispersion of the holdings of the other 
voting rights holders.
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	 The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an 
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date the Group gains control until the 
date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

	 Consolidated financial statements are prepared using 
uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other 
events in similar circumstances. If a member of the Group 
uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the 
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and 
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments 
are made to that Group member’s financial statements in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure 
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

	 The financial statements of all entities used for the purpose 
of consolidation are drawn up to same reporting date as 
that of the parent Group, i.e., year ended on 31 March. 
When the end of the reporting period of the parent is 
different from that of a subsidiary, the subsidiary prepares, 
for consolidation purposes, additional financial information 
as of the same date as the financial statements of the 
parent to enable the parent to consolidate the financial 
information of the subsidiary, unless it is impracticable to 
do so.

	 Consolidation Procedure :

	 (a)	 Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows of the parent with those of its 
subsidiaries. For this purpose, income and expenses of 
the subsidiary are based on the amounts of the assets 
and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements at the acquisition date.

	 (b)	 Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent’s 
investment in each subsidiary and the parent’s portion 
of equity of each subsidiary.

	 (c)	 Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between entities of the Group (profits 
or losses resulting from intragroup transactions that 
are recognised in assets, such as inventory and fixed 
assets, are eliminated in full). IntraGroup losses may 
indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the 

consolidated financial statements. Ind AS - 12 “Income 
Taxes” applies to temporary differences that arise from 
the elimination of profits and losses resulting from 
intraGroup transactions.

		  Profit or loss and each component of other 
comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the 
equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the 
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. When 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 
All intra-Group assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.

		  A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, 
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it

		  (i)	 Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and 
liabilities of the subsidiary

		  (ii)	 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interests

		  (iii) 	 Derecognises the cumulative translation 
differences recorded in equity

		  (iv) Recognises the fair value of the consideration 
received

		  (v) 	 Recognises the fair value of any investment 
retained

		  (vi) 	 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

		  (vii)	 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components 
previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or 
retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be 
required if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities

	 (d)	 Change in ownership interest

		  The Group treats transaction with non-controlling 
interests that do not result in a loss of control as 
transaction with the equity owners of the Group. A 
change in ownership interest results in adjustment 
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and 
non-controlling interest to reflect their relative interest 
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in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount 
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised within 
equity.

2.3	 Summary of significant accounting policies

	 a)	 Current versus non-current classification

		  The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance 
sheet based on current/ non-current classification. An 
asset is treated as current when it is:

		  • 	 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or 
consumed in normal operating cycle 

		  • 	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading 

		  •	 Expected to be realised within twelve months 
after the reporting period, or 

		  •	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from 
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period 

			   All other assets are classified as non-current.

			   A liability is current when:

		  •  	 It is expected to be settled in normal operating 
cycle 

		  • 	  It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 

		  •  	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after 
the reporting period, or 

		  •  	 There is no unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the  reporting period 

		  The terms of the liability that could, at the option of 
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of 
equity instruments do not affect its classification

		  The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

		  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-
current assets and liabilities.

		  The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition 
of assets for processing and their realisation in cash 
and cash equivalents. The Group has identified twelve 
months as its operating cycle.

	 b)	 Fair value measurement 

	 	 The Group measures financial instruments, such as, 
derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date.

		  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

		  • 	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

		  • 	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability 

		  The principal or the most advantageous market must 
be accessible by the Group.

		  The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their best economic interest.

		  A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes 
into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

		  The Group uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, 
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

		  All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole:

		  • 	 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities

		  •	 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

		  •	 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable 
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		  For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the 
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

		  The Banking & Operations Committee determine the 
policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, such as derivative instruments and 
unquoted financial assets measured at fair value, and 
for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held 
for distribution in discontinued operations.

		  At each reporting date, the Audit Committee analyses 
the movements in the values of assets and liabilities 
which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as 
per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, 
the members of Banking & Operations Committee 
verify the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by 
agreeing the information in the valuation computation 
to contracts and other relevant documents.

		  The Banking & Operations Committee also compares 
the change in the fair value of each asset and liability 
with relevant external sources to determine whether 
the change is reasonable.

		  On an interim basis, the members of Banking & 
Operations Committee present the valuation results to 
the Audit Committee. This includes a discussion of the 
major assumptions used in the valuations.

		  For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has 
determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis 
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset 
or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as 
explained above.

		  This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. 
Other fair value related disclosures are given in the 
relevant notes.

		  • 	 Disclosures for valuation methods, significant 
estimates and assumptions 

		  • 	 Financial instruments (including those carried at 
amortised cost) 

	 c)	 Revenue from Operations

		  The Group derives revenues primarily from sale of 
inorganic chemicals, textile and other products. 
Ind AS 115 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 
provides a control-based revenue recognition model 
and provides a five step application approach to be 
followed for revenue recognition.

		  •	 Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

		  •	 Identify the performance obligations; 

		  •	 Determine the transaction price; 

		  •	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations; 

		  •	 Recognise revenue when or as an entity satisfies 
performance obligation.

		  Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised 
when control of the goods or services are transferred 
to the customer at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the Group expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The 
Group has generally concluded that it is the principal 
in its revenue arrangements, except for the agency 
services below, because it typically controls the goods 
or services before transferring them to the customer.

		  Revenue excludes amounts collected on behalf of 
third parties.

		  The disclosures of significant accounting judgements, 
estimates and assumptions relating to revenue from 
contracts with customers are provided in Note 31.

		  Sale of goods

	 	 “For sale of goods, revenue is recognised when control of 
the goods has transferred at a point in time i.e. when the 
goods have been delivered to the specific location 
(delivery). Following delivery, the customer has 
full discretion over the responsibility, manner of 
distribution, price to sell the goods and bears the 
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the 
goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group 
when the goods are delivered to the customer as 
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this represents the point in time at which the right 
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only 
the passage of time is required before payment is 
due. Payment is due within 45-120 days. The Group 
considers the effects of variable consideration, the 
existence of significant financing components, 
noncash consideration, and consideration payable to 
the customer (if any).”

		  Variable consideration

	 	 If the consideration in a contract includes a variable 
amount, the Group estimates the amount of 
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange 
for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable 
consideration is estimated at contract inception and 
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant 
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognised will not occur when the associated 
uncertainty with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved. The Group recognizes changes 
in the estimated amount of variable consideration 
in the period in which the change occurs. Some 
contracts for the sale of goods provide customers with 
volume rebates and pricing incentives, which give rise 
to variable consideration.

		  “The Group provides retrospective cash discount, 
volume rebates and pricing incentives to certain 
customers once the quantity of products purchased 
during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the 
contract. Rebates are offset against amounts payable 
by the customer. To estimate the variable consideration 
for the expected future rebates, the Group applies the 
most likely amount method for contracts with a single-
volume threshold and the expected value method for 
contracts with more than one volume threshold. The 
selected method that best predicts the amount of 
variable consideration is primarily driven by the number 
of volume thresholds contained in the  contract. The 
Group then applies the requirements on constraining 
estimates of variable consideration and recognises a 
refund liability for the expected future rebates.”

		  The disclosures of significant estimates and assumptions 
relating to the estimation of variable consideration for 
volume rebates are provided in Note 31

		  Contract balances

		  Trade receivables

	 	 A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration 
that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is 
required before payment of the consideration is due). 
Refer to accounting policies of financial assets in 
section (m) Financial instruments – initial recognition 
and subsequent measurement.

		  Contract liabilities

	 	 A contract liability is recognised if a payment is 
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) 
from a customer before the Group transfers the related 
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as 
revenue when the Group performs under the contract 
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services 
to the customer).

	 	 Cost to obtain a contract

	 	 “The Group pays sales commission to its selling agents for 
each contract that they obtain for the Group. The Group 
applies the optional practical expedient to immediately 
expense costs to obtain a contract if amortisation period 
would have been recognised is one year or less. As such, 
sales commissions are immediately recognised as an 
expense and included as part of sales commission.  
Costs to fulfil a contract i.e. freight, insurance and 
other selling expenses are recognized as an expense 
in the period in which related revenue is recognised.”

		  Critical judgements

	 	 The Group’s contracts with customers include 
promises to transfer goods to the customers. 
Judgement is required to determine the transaction 
price for the contract. The transaction price could be 
either a fixed amount of customer consideration or 
variable consideration with elements such as schemes, 
incentives, cash discounts, etc. The estimated amount 
of variable consideration is adjusted in the transaction 
price only to the extent that it is highly probable that 
a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognised will not occur and is reassessed at 
the end of each reporting period.
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		  “Estimates of rebates and discounts are sensitive 
to changes in circumstances and the Group’s past 
experience regarding returns and rebate entitlements 
may not be representative of customers’ actual 
returns and rebate entitlements in the future. 
Costs to obtain a contract are generally expensed 
as incurred. The assessment of this criteria requires 
the application of judgement, in particular when 
considering if costs generate or enhance resources to 
be used to satisfy future performance obligations and 
whether costs are expected to be recovered.”

	 d)	 Other revenue streams

		  Export Benefits

	 	 In case of sale made by the Company as Support 
Manufacturer, export benefits arising from Remissions 
of Duties and Taxes on Exported Products (RoDTEP), 
Duty Drawback scheme, Merchandise Export Incentive 
Scheme and Rebate of State and Central Taxes and 
Levies (ROSCTL) are recognised on export of such 
goods in accordance with the agreed terms and 
conditions with customers In case of direct exports 
made by the Company, export benefits arising from 
Duty Drawback scheme, Merchandise Export Incentive 
Scheme and ROSCTL are recognised on shipment of 
direct exports.

		  Revenue from exports benefits measured at the fair 
value of consideration received or receivable net 
of returns and allowances, cash discounts, trade 
discounts and volume rebates.

	 	 Rendering of services

	 	 Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when 
the performance obligation to render the services are 
completed as per contractually agreed terms.

	 	 Dividend

	 	 Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to 
receive the payment is established, which is generally 
when shareholders approve the dividend.

	 	 Interest income

	 	 For all debt instruments measured either at amortised 
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, interest income is recorded using the effective 

interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts 
the estimated future cash payments or receipts over 
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost 
of a financial liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Group estimates the expected cash 
flows by considering all the contractual terms of 
the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, 
extension, call and similar options) but does not 
consider the expected credit losses. Interest income 
is included in finance income in the statement of profit 
and loss.

	 	 Rental income

	 	 Rental income arising from operating leases on 
investment properties is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in 
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its 
operating nature.

	 e)	 Taxes 

		  Current income tax

	 	 Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting 
date in the countries where the Group operates and 
generates taxable income.

		  Current income tax relating to items recognised 
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss 
(either in other comprehensive income or in equity). 
Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in Other comprehensive 
income (OCI) or directly in equity. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and considers 
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will 
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Company shall 
reflect the effect of uncertainty for each uncertain 
tax treatment by using either most likely method or 
expected value method, depending on which method 
predicts better resolution of the treatment.
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		  Deferred tax

	 	 “Deferred tax is provided using the liability method 
on temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except:

		  •	  When the deferred tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

		  •	 In respect of taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries 
when the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences can be controlled and 
it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax 
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:

		  •	 When the deferred tax asset relating to the 
deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss  

		  •	 In respect of deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only 
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 
and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised  
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed 

at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered.

		  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based 
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit 
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.  
The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right 
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities which intend either to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each 
future period in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 
recovered.

		  In the situation where the Group is entitled to a Tax 
holiday under the income Tax Act, 1961 enacted in India 
or Tax laws prevailing in the respective tax jurisdictions 
where it operates, no deferred tax (asset or liability) is 
recognised in respect of temporary differences which 
reverse during the tax holiday period, to the extent the 
Group’s gross total income is subject to the deduction 
during the tax holiday period. Deferred tax in respect 
of temporary differences which reverse after the tax 
holiday period is recognized in the year in which the 
temporary differences originate. For recognition 
of deferred taxes, the temporary differences 
which originate first are considered to reverse first.  
 Deferred Tax includes Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) 
recognizes MAT credit available as an asset only to 
the extent that there is convincing evidence that the 
Group will pay normal income tax during the specified 
period, i.e. the period for which MAT credit is allowed to 
be carried forward. The Group reviews the “MAT credit 
entitlement” asset at each reporting date and writes 
down the asset to the extent the Group does not have 
convincing evidence that it will pay normal tax during 
the specified period.
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		  Goods and Service tax taxes paid on acquisition of 
assets or on incurring expenses

		  Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of sales/ value added taxes paid, except:

		  • 	 When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets 
or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item, as applicable

		  •	 When receivables and payables are stated with 
the amount of tax included

		  The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet.

	 f)	 Property, plant and equipment 

	 	 Capital work in progress is stated at cost, net of 
accumulated impairment loss, if any. Plant and 
equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment  losses, if 
any.

		  Items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and 
servicing equipment are recognized as property, plant 
and equipment when they meet the definition of 
property, plant and equipment. Otherwise, such items 
are classified as inventory.

		  Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the 
plant and equipment and borrowing cost for long term 
construction projects if the recognition criteria are 
met. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, 
its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the plant and equipment as a replacement if the 
recognition criteria are satisfied. When significant parts 
of plant and equipment are required to be replaced 
at intervals, the Group depreciates them separately 
based on their specific useful lives. All other repair 
and maintenance  costs are recognised in Statement 
of profit or loss as incurred. Depreciation on tangible 
assets is provided on the straightline method over the 
useful lives of assets estimated by the management. 
Depreciation for assets purchased/ sold during a 
period is proportionately charged. Leases relating to 
land are amortized equally over the period of lease. 

Leased mines are depreciated over the estimated 
useful life of the mine or lease period, which ever is 
lower.

		  The Management estimates the useful lives for the 
fixed assets, except lease mines and leasehold land, as 
follows:

		  • 	 Building                                                      30 to 60 years

		  • 	 Plant and Machinery *                            5 to 25 years

		  • 	 Office equipment                                      3 to 25 years

		  • 	 Furniture and fixtures                             10 years

		  • 	 Salt works reservoir                                10 years

		  • 	 Vehicles                                                     8 to 10 years

		  • 	 Wind Turbine Generator                        20 to 22 years

		  • 	 Temporary structures                             3 years

		  •	  Freehold Land                                          Not Amortised

		  *For these class of assets, based on internal assessment, 
the management believes that the useful lives as 
given above best represent the period over which 
management expects to use these assets. Hence the 
useful lives for these assets is different from the useful 
lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule II of the 
Companies Act, 2013. The management believes that 
these estimated useful lives are realistic and reflect fair 
approximation of the period over which the assets are 
likely to be used.

		  The present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning of an asset after its use is included 
in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition 
criteria for a provision are met. 

		  An item of property, plant and equipment and any 
significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income 
statement when the asset is derecognised.

		  The residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
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reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

	 g)	 Intangible assets 

	 	 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured 
on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

		  Intangible assets comprising of computer software 
and trademark with finite useful life are amortised on 
straight line basis over  estimated useful life of three 
years.

		  Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over 
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and 
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with 
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of 
each reporting period. Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset 
are considered to modify the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes 
in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on 
intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss unless such expenditure 
forms part of carrying value of another asset.

		  Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 
amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, 
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. 
The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to 
be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from 
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

		  Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an 
intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised 
in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is 
derecognised.

		  Research and development costs

	 	 Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development 
expenditures on an individual project are recognised as 
an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:

		  • 	 The technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that the asset will be available 
for use or sale

		  • 	 Its intention to complete and its ability and 
intention to use or sell the asset 

		  •	 How the asset will generate future economic 
benefits 

		  •	 The availability of resources to complete the asset 

		  •	 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
during development 

		  Following initial recognition of the development 
expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins 
when development is complete and the asset is 
available for use. It is amortised over the period of 
expected future benefit. Amortisation expense is 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. During 
the period of development, the asset is tested for 
impairment annually.

	 h)	 Asset for sale and discontinued operations

	 	 The Group classifies non-current assets as held for sale 
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally 
through a sale rather than through continuing use. 
Actions required to complete the sale should indicate 
that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will 
be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. 
Management must be committed to the sale expected 
within one year from the date of classification.

		  For these purposes, sale transactions include 
exchanges of non-current assets for other non-current 
assets when the exchange has commercial substance. 
The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded 
met only when the assets is available for immediate 
sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that 
are usual and customary for sales of such assets, its 
sale is highly probable; and it will genuinely be sold, 
not abandoned. The Group treats sale of the asset to 
be highly probable when:

		  • 	 The appropriate level of management is 
committed to a plan to sell the asset,

		  • 	 An active programme to locate a buyer and 
complete the plan has been initiated (if applicable),

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements 

331

Fi n a n c i a l  S t at e m e n t s

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores)



		  • 	 The asset is being actively marketed for sale at a 
price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair 
value,

		  • 	 The sale is expected to qualify for recognition as 
a completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification, and

		  • 	 Actions required to complete the plan indicate that 
it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan 
will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn.

		  Non-current assets held for sale are measured at 
the lower of their carrying amount and the fair value 
less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental 
costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, 
excluding finance costs and income tax expense. 
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are 
presented separately in the balance sheet.

		  Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised.

		  “Discontinued operations are excluded from the results 
of continuing operations and are presented as a single 
amount as profit/ loss after tax from discontinued 
operations in the Statement of Profit and Loss.  
As mandated by Ind AS 105, assets and liabilities 
has not been reclassified or re-presented for 
prior period i.e. year ended March 31, 2021.  
Basis of segregation into discontinued operations  
and additional disclosures in respect of discontinued 
operations are provided in note 47 to the financial 
statements.”

	 i)	 Borrowing costs

	 	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its 
intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed 
in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs 
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs 
in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing 
cost also includes exchange differences to the extent 
regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

	 j)	 Leases

	 	 The Group assesses at contract inception whether a 
contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

		  Group as a lessee

	 	 The Group applies a single recognition and 
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group 
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the 
underlying assets.

		  i)	 Right-of-use assets

		  “	 The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the 
commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date 
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial 
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date less any 
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful 
lives of the assets, as follows:

			   •	  Leasehold Buildings                                         2 to 10 years 
•	  Salt works		        3 to 30 years

			   If ownership of the leased asset transfers to 
the Group at the end of the lease term or the 
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, 
depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

			   The right-of-use assets are also subject to 
impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in 
section (p) Impairment of non-financial assets.

		  ii) 	 Lease Liabilities

		  	 At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the 
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present value of lease payments to be made over 
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed 
payments (including in substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable and amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees. The lease payments also include the 
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments 
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects the Group exercising the option to 
terminate. Variable lease payments that do not 
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as 
expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or 
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

			   In calculating the present value of lease payments, 
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date because the 
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the 
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the 
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there 
is a modification, a change in the lease term, a 
change in the lease payments.

		  iii)	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets

		  	 The Company applies the short-term lease 
recognition exemption to its short-term leases 
of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain 
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of 
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases 
of office equipment that are considered to be 
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

	 k)	 Inventories

	 	 Inventories, except for Stores & Spares and Loose Tools, 
are stated at cost or net realizable value, whichever is 
lower Costs incurred in bringing each product to its 
present location and condition are accounted for as 
follows:

		  •	 Raw materials: cost includes cost of purchase and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition. Cost is 
determined on weighted average cost, except 
in case of cotton, for which cost determined on 
specific  cost basis.

		  •	 Finished goods: Cost of Finished Goods include 
material cost, cost of conversion, depreciation, 
other overheads to the extent applicable.

		  •	 Work in progress: It is valued at cost determined 
by taking material cost, labour charges, and 
direct expenses, taking into account the stage of 
completion.

		  •	 Stock in trade: cost includes cost of purchase and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition. Cost is 
determined on weighted average basis.

		  •	 Stores and spares: are stated at cost less provision, 
if any, for obsolescence.

		  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale.

	 l)	 Impairment of non-financial assets 

	 	 The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates 
the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating 
unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or Group’s of assets. When 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount.

		  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. In determining fair value less 
costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken 
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into account. If no such transactions can be identified, 
an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, 
quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or 
other available fair value indicators

		  The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed 
budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared 
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the 
individual assets are allocated. These budgets and 
forecast calculations generally cover a period of three 
years For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is 
calculated and applied to project future cash flows 
after the third year. To estimate cash flow projections 
beyond periods covered by the most recent budgets/
forecasts, the Group extrapolates cash flow projections 
in the budget using a steady or declining growth rate 
for subsequent years, unless an increasing rate can be 
justified. In any case, this growth rate does not exceed 
the long-term average growth rate for the products, 
industries, or country or countries in which the entity 
operates, or for the market in which the asset is used.

		  Impairment losses of continuing operations, including 
impairment on inventories, are recognised in profit and 
loss section of the statement of profit and loss, except 
for properties previously revalued with the revaluation 
taken to OCI. For such properties, the impairment is 
recognised in OCI up to the amount of any previous 
revaluation.

		  For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
an indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or 
CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the assumptions used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the 
carrying of the asset does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
years Such reversal is recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a 
revaluation increase.

	 m)	 Provisions 

		  General

	 	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. When 
the Group expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.

		  If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost.

		  Decommissioning liability

	 	 The present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning of an asset after its use and leasehold 
improvements on termination of lease is included in the 
cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for 
a provision are met. The Parent records a provision for 
decommissioning costs of its plant for manufacturing 
of Soda Ash and leasehold improvements at the 
leasehold land. Decommissioning costs are provided 
at the present value of expected costs to settle 
the obligation using estimated cash flows and are 
recognised as part of the cost of the particular asset. 
The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects the risks specific to the decommissioning 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as 
incurred and recognised in the statement of profit and 
loss as a finance cost. The estimated future costs of 
decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted 
as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future 
costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or 
deducted from the cost of the asset.

		  Contingent liability

	 	 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events whose existence will be confirmed 
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by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events beyond the control of the 
Group or a present obligation that is not recognized 
because it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent 
liability also arises in extremely rare cases where 
there is a liability that cannot be recognized because 
it cannot be measured reliably. The Group does 
not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its 
existence in the financial statements. Contingent 
assets are only disclosed when it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity

	 n)	 Gratuity and other post-employment benefits

	 	 Retirement benefit in the form of provident fund and 
superannuation fund is a defined contribution scheme. 
The Group has no obligation, other than the contribution 
payable to the provident fund and superannuation 
fund. The Group recognizes contribution payable to 
the provident fund and superannuation fund scheme 
as an expense, when an employee renders the related 
service. If the contribution payable to the scheme 
for service received before the balance sheet date 
exceeds the contribution already paid, the deficit 
payable to the scheme is recognized as a liability 
after deducting the contribution already paid. If the 
contribution already paid exceeds the contribution 
due for services received before the balance sheet 
date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the 
extent that the pre-payment will lead to, for example, 
a reduction in future payment or a cash refund.

		  Gratuity and Leave Encashment which are defined 
benefits are accrued based on actuarial valuation 
as at the Balance Sheet date. The Group operates a 
defined benefit gratuity plan in India, which requires 
contributions to be made to a separately administered 
fund. The cost of providing benefits under the defined 
benefit plan is determined using the projected unit 
credit method.

		  Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains 
and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding 
amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability and the return on plan assets (excluding 
amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the 
balance sheet with a corresponding debit or credit to 
retained earnings through OCI in the period in which 

they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods.

		  Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on 
the earlier of:

		  •	 The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, 
and 

		  •	 The date that the Group recognises related 
restructuring costs 

		  Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate 
to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group 
recognises the following changes in the net defined 
benefit obligation as an expense in the statement of 
profit and loss:

		  •	 Service costs comprising current service 
costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and 

		  •	 Net interest expense or income 

		  •	 Accumulated leave, which is expected to be 
utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as 
short-term employee benefit. The Company 
measures the expected cost of such absences 
as the additional amount that it expects to pay 
as a result of the unused entitlement that has 
accumulated at the reporting date. The Company 
recognizes expected cost of short-term employee 
benefit as an expense, when an employee renders 
the related service.

	 o)	 Share-based payments

	 	 Employees (including senior executives) of the Group 
receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services as 
consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled 
transactions). Employees working in the business 
development Group are granted share appreciation 
rights, which are settled in cash (cash-settled 
transactions).

		  •	 Equity-settled transactions

		  The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined 
by the fair value at the date when the grant is made 
using an appropriate valuation model.
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		  That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding 
increase in share-based payment (SBP) reserves in 
equity, over the period in which the performance 
and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee 
benefits expense. The cumulative expense recognised 
for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date 
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the statement 
of profit and loss for a period represents the movement 
in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning 
and end of that period and is recognised in employee 
benefits expense.

		  Service and non-market performance conditions are 
not taken into account when determining the grant 
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the 
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s 
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions 
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any 
other conditions attached to an award, but without 
an associated service requirement, are considered to 
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are 
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an 
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also 
service and/or performance conditions.

		  No expense is recognised for awards that do not 
ultimately vest because non-market performance 
and/or service conditions have not been met. Where 
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, 
the transactions are treated as vested irrespective 
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or 
service conditions are satisfied.

		  When the terms of an equity-settled award are 
modified, the minimum expense recognised is 
the grant date fair value of the unmodified award, 
provided the original vesting terms of the award are 
met. An additional expense, measured as at the date 
of modification, is recognised for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or 
by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair 
value of the award is expensed immediately through 
profit or loss.

		  The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected 
as additional share dilution in the computation of 
diluted earnings per share.

	 p)	 Financial instruments 

	 	 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.

		  Financial assets

		  Initial recognition and measurement

	 	 All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 
plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular 
day trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the 
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the 
asset.

	 	 Subsequent measurement

	 	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets are classified in four categories:

		  • 	 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt 
instruments)

		  •	 Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) with recycling 
of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

		  •	 Financial assets designated at fair value through 
OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and 
losses upon derecognition (equity instruments) 

		  •	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

		  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

	 	 A ’financial asset’ is measured at the amortised cost if 
both the following conditions are met:

		  (a)	 The asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and 

		  (b)	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
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payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

		  This category is the most relevant to the Group. 
After initial measurement, such financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included 
in finance income in the profit or loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the profit or loss. 
The Group financial assets at amortised cost includes 
trade receivables and loan to an associate and loan to 
a director included under other non-current financial 
assets. 

		  Financial assets at fair value through OCI (FVTOCI) 
(debt instruments)

		  A ’financial asset’ is classified as at the FVTOCI if both 
of the following criteria are met:

		  (a) 	 The objective of the business model is achieved 
both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and 

		  (b)	 The asset’s contractual cash flows represent SPPI. 

		  Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI 
category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting date at fair value. For debt instruments, 
at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign 
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or 
reversals are recognised in the profit or loss and 
computed in the same manner as for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value 
changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, 
the cumulative fair value changes recognised in 
OCI is reclassified from the equity to profit or loss.  
The Group’s debt instruments at fair value through 
OCI includes investments in quoted debt instruments 
included under other non-current financial assets.

		  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

		  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
carried in the balance sheet at fair value with net changes 
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit and loss.  
This category includes derivative instruments and 
listed equity investments which the Group had not 
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through OCI. 

Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised 
in the statement of profit and loss when the right of 
payment has been established.

		  Financial assets designated at fair value through 
OCI (equity instruments)

	 	 Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify 
irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments 
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet 
the definition of equity under Ind AS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. 
The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis. Equity instruments which 
are held for trading and contingent consideration 
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination 
to which Ind AS103 applies are classified as at FVTPL. 
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never 
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised 
as other income in the statement of profit and loss 
when the right of payment has been established, 
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds 
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial 
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. 
Equity instruments designated at fair value through 
OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.  
Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category 
are measured at fair value with all changes recognized 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Derecognition

	 	 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 
financial asset or part of a Group of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from 
the Group’s balance sheet) when:

		  •	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired, or 

		  •	 The Group has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.
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		  When the Group has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent 
it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When 
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise 
the transferred asset to the extent of the Companies 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group 
has retained.

		  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset 
and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Group could be required to repay.

		  Impairment of financial assets

	 	 In accordance with Ind-AS 109, the Group applies 
expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement 
and recognition of impairment loss on the following 
financial assets and credit risk exposure:

		  (a)	 Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are 
measured at amortised cost e.g., debt securities, 
deposits, trade receivables and bank balance. 

		  (b)	 Financial assets that are debt instruments and are 
measured as at FVTOCI 

		  (c )	 Lease receivables under Ind-AS 17. 

		  (d)	 Trade receivables or any contractual right to 
receive cash or another financial asset that results 
from transactions that are within the scope of Ind 
AS 11 and Ind AS 18

		  For recognition of impairment loss on other financial 
assets and risk exposure, the Group determines that 
whether there has been a significant increase in the 
credit risk since initial recognition. If credit risk has 
not increased significantly, 12-month ECL is used to 
provide for impairment loss. However, if credit risk 
has increased significantly, lifetime ECL is used. If, in 
a subsequent period, credit quality of the instrument 
improves such that there is no longer a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, then the 

entity reverts to recognising impairment loss allowance 
based on 12-month ECL.

		  Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting 
from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument. The 12 -month ECL is a 
portion of the lifetime ECL which results from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

		  ECL is the difference between all contractual cash 
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects 
to receive (i.e., all cash shortfalls), discounted at the 
original EIR. When estimating the cash flows, an entity 
is required to consider:

		  •	 All contractual terms of the financial instrument 
(including prepayment, extension, call and similar 
options) over the expected life of the financial 
instrument. However, in rare cases when the 
expected life of the financial instrument cannot 
be estimated reliably, then the entity is required to 
use the remaining contractual term of the financial 
instrument. 

		  • 	 Cash flows from the sale of collateral held or 
other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms 

		  ECL impairment loss allowance (or reversal) recognized 
during the period is recognized as income/expense in 
the statement of profit and loss (P&L). This amount is 
reflected in a separate line in the P&L as an impairment 
gain or loss. The balance sheet presentation for various 
financial instruments is described below:

		  •	 Financial assets measured as at amortised cost, 
contract assets and lease receivables: ECL is 
presented as an allowance, i.e. as an integral part 
of the measurement of those assets in the balance 
sheet. The allowance reduces the net carrying 
amount. Until the asset meets write-off criteria, 
the Group does not reduce impairment allowance 
from the gross carrying amount. 

		  •	 Loan commitments and financial guarantee 
contracts: ECL is presented as a provision in the 
balance sheet, i.e. as a liability.

		  •	 Debt instruments measured at FVTOCI: Since 
financial assets are already reflected at fair value, 
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impairment allowance is not further reduced from 
its value. Rather, ECL amount is presented as 
‘accumulated impairment amount’ in the OCI.

		  Financial liabilities

		  Initial recognition and measurement

	 	 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate.

		  All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
and in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

		  The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and 
other payables, loans and borrowings including bank 
overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and derivative 
financial instruments.

		  Subsequent measurement

	 	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
liabilities are classified in two categories: 

		  •	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 

		  •	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and 
borrowings)”

		  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

	 	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are 
classified as held for trading if they are incurred for 
the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This 
category also includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Group that are not designated as 
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined 
by Ind-AS 109. Separated embedded derivatives 
are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments.

		  Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognised in the profit or loss.	

		  Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition 
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind-
AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated as FVTPL, 
fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own 
credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/loss are 
not subsequently transferred to P&L. However, the 
Group may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within 
equity. All other changes in fair value of such liability 
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The 
Group has not designated any financial liability as at 
fair value through profit and loss.

		  Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Loans and 
Borrowings)

	 	 This is the category most relevant to the Group. 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation 
process.

		  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation 
is included as finance costs in the statement of profit 
and loss.

		  This category generally applies to borrowings. For 
more information refer Note 16.

	 	 Derecognition

	 	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced 
by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

		  Embedded derivatives

		  An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid 
(combined) instrument that also includes a non-
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derivative host contract - with the effect that some of 
the cash flows of the  combined instrument vary in a 
way similar to a stand-alone derivative. An embedded 
derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that 
otherwise would be required by the contract to 
be modified according to a specified interest rate, 
financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign 
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or 
credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of 
a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific 
to a party to the contract. Reassessment only occurs 
if there is either a change in the terms of the contract 
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial 
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss.

		  If the hybrid contract contains a host that is a financial 
asset within the scope of Ind AS 109, the Group does 
not separate embedded derivatives. Rather, it applies 
the classification requirements contained in Ind AS 109 
to the entire hybrid contract. Derivatives embedded in 
all other host contracts are accounted for as separate 
derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic 
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those 
of the host contracts and the host contracts are not 
held for trading or designated at fair value though profit 
or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss, unless designated as effective hedging 
instruments.

		  Reclassification of financial assets

	 	 The Group determines classification of financial 
assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After 
initial recognition, no reclassification is made for 
financial assets which are equity instruments and 
financial liabilities. For financial assets which are debt 
instruments, a reclassification is made only if there is 
a change in the business model for managing those 
assets. Changes to the business model are expected 
to be infrequent. The Group’s senior management 
determines change in the business model as a result 
of external or internal changes which are significant 
to the Group’s operations. Such changes are evident 
to external parties. A change in the business model 
occurs when the Group either begins or ceases to 
perform an activity that is significant to its operations. 

If the Group reclassifies financial assets, it applies the 
reclassification prospectively from the reclassification 
date which is the first day of the immediately next 
reporting period following the change in business 
model. The Group does not restate any previously 
recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains 
or losses) or interest. The following table shows various 
reclassification and how they are accounted for as per 
below:

		  i)	 Amortised cost to FVTPL - Fair value is measured at 
reclassification date. Difference between previous 
amortized cost and fair value is recognised in P&L.

		  ii)	  FVTPL to Amortised Cost  - Fair value at 
reclassification date becomes its new gross 
carrying amount. EIR is calculated based on the 
new gross carrying amount.

		  iii)	 Amortised cost to FVTOCI - Fair value is 
measured at reclassification date. Difference 
between previous amortised cost and fair value 
is recognised in OCI. No change in EIR due to 
reclassification.

		  iv)	 FVTOCI to Amortised cost - Fair value at 
reclassification date becomes its new amortised 
cost carrying amount. However, cumulative 
gain or loss in OCI is adjusted against fair value. 
Consequently, the asset is measured as if it had 
always been measured at amortised cost.

		  v)	 FVTPL to FVTOCI - Fair value at reclassification 
date becomes its new carrying amount. No other 
adjustment is required.

		  vi)	 FVTOCI to FVTPL - Assets continue to be measured 
at fair value. Cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in OCI is reclassified to Statement of 
Profit and Loss at the reclassification date.

		  Offsetting of financial instruments

	 	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously.
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	 q)	 Derivative financial instruments and hedge 
accounting

		  Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

	 	 The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such 
as forward currency contracts, to hedge its foreign 
currency risks. Such derivative financial instruments 
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on 
which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives 
are carried as financial assets when the fair value is 
positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is 
negative.

		  Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.

	 r)	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 	 Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet 
comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Bank balances other than the balance included in cash 
and cash equivalents represents balance on account 
of unpaid dividend and margin money deposit with 
banks.

	 s)	 Dividend

	 	 The Group recognises a liability to pay dividend to 
equity holders when the distribution is authorised and 
the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the 
Group. As per the corporate laws in India, a distribution 
is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders A 
corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.

	 t)	 Government Grant:

	 	 Government grants are recognised when there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attached conditions complied in. When the 
grant relates to an expense item, it Is recognised as 
Income on a systematic basis over the periods that the 
related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, 
are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is 
recognised as an income in equal amounts over the 
expected useful life of the related asset. When the 
Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the 

asset and the grant are recorded at fair value amounts 
and released to profit or loss over the expected useful 
life in a pattern of consumption of the benefit of the 
underlying asset i.e. by equal annual instalments.

		  When loans or similar assistance are provided by 
governments or related institutions, with an interest 
rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect 
of this favourable interest is regarded as a government 
grant. The loan or assistance is initially recognised and 
measured at fair value and the government grant is 
measured as the difference between the initial carrying 
value of the loan and the proceeds received. The loan 
is subsequently measured as per the accounting policy 
applicable to financial liabilities.

	 u)	 Investment properties

	 	 Investment properties are properties (land and 
buildings) that are held for long-term rental yields 
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties 
are measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any.

		  The cost includes the cost of replacing parts and 
borrowing costs (if any) for long-term construction 
projects if the recognition criteria are met. When 
significant parts of the property are required to be 
replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them 
separately based on their specific useful lives. All other 
repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred.

		  The Group depreciates building component of 
investment property over 30 years from the date of 
original purchase.

		  The Group, based on technical assessment made 
by the management, depreciates the building over 
estimated useful lives which are different from the 
useful life prescribed in Schedule II to the Companies 
Act, 2013. The management believes that these 
estimated useful lives are realistic and reflect fair 
approximation of the period over which the assets are 
likely to be used.

		  Though the Group measures investment property 
using cost based measurement, the fair value of 
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investment property is disclosed in the notes. Fair 
values are determined based on an annual evaluation 
performed by an accredited external independent 
valuer applying a valuation model recommended by 
the Banking and Operation Committee.

		  Investment properties are derecognised either 
when they have been disposed of or when they 
are permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or 
loss in the period of de-recognition.

	 v)	 Foreign currencies

	 	 The Group’s consolidated financial statements are 
presented in INR, which is also the parent Group’s 
functional currency. For each entity the Group 
determines the functional currency and items included 
in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency. The Group uses the 
direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a 
foreign operation the gain or loss that is reclassified to 
profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using 
this method.

		  Transactions and balances

	 	 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded 
in the functional currency, using the spot exchange 
rates at the date of the transaction first qualifies 
for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at 
the reporting date. Exchange differences that arise 
on settlement of monetary items e recognised in 
Statement of Profit and Loss. Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when 
the fair value is  determined. The gain or loss arising 
on translation of nonmonetary items measured at 
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the 
gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., 
translation differences on items whose fair value gain 
or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also 
recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

		  Group companies On consolidation, the assets and 
liabilities of foreign operations are translated into INR 
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date 
and their statements of profit or loss are translated 
at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. For practical reasons, the group uses 
an average rate to translate income and expense 
items, if the average rate approximates the exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. The exchange 
differences arising on translation for consolidation are 
recognised in OCI

	 w)	 Investment in subsidiary

	 	 Investment in subsidiary is carried at cost in the 
separate financial statements. Investment carried at 
cost is tested for impairment as per IND AS 36.

	 x)	 Contingent Liabilities

	 	 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events whose existence will be confirmed 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events beyond the control of the 
Group or a present obligation that is not recognized 
because it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent 
liability also arises in extremely rare cases where 
there is a liability that cannot be recognized because 
it cannot be measured reliably. The Group does 
not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its 
existence in the financial statements. Contingent 
assets are only disclosed when it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity.

	 y)	 Earnings per share

	 	 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the 
net profit or loss attributable to equity holders of parent 
Group (after deducting preference dividends and 
attributable taxes) by the weighted average number of 
equity shares outstanding during the period.

		  Partly paid equity shares are treated as a fraction of 
an equity share to the extent that they are entitled to 
participate in dividends relative to a fully paid equity 
share during the reporting period. The weighted 
average number of equity shares outstanding during 
the period is adjusted for events such as bonus issue, 
bonus element in a rights issue, share split, and reverse 
share split (consolidation of shares) that have changed 
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the number of equity shares outstanding, without a 
corresponding change in resources.

		  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable 
to equity shareholders of the parent Group and the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the period are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential equity shares.

	 z)	 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

		  New and amended standards

		  (i)  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: 
Amendments to Ind AS 109, Ind AS 107, Ind AS 
104 and Ind AS 116 		

			   The amendments provide temporary reliefs which 
address the financial reporting effects when an 
interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an 
alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR).

			   The amendments include the following practical 
expedients: 

			   -	 A practical expedient to require contractual 
changes, or changes to cash flows that 
are directly required by the reform, to be 
treated as changes to a floating interest rate, 
equivalent to a movement in a market rate of 
interest 

			   -	 Permit changes required by IBOR reform 
to be made to hedge designations and 
hedge documentation without the hedging 
relationship being discontinued 

			   -	 Provide temporary relief to entities from 
having to meet the separately identifiable 
requirement when an RFR instrument is 
designated as a hedge of a risk component 

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Group. The Group intends to 
use the practical expedients in future periods if 
they become applicable.

		  (ii)	 Conceptual framework for financial reporting 
under Ind AS issued by ICAI

			   The Framework is not a Standard and it does not 
override any specific standard. Therefore, this does 
not form part of a set of standards pronounced 
by the standard-setters. While, the Framework 
is primarily meant for the standard-setter for 
formulating the standards, it has relevance to the 
preparers in certain situations such as to develop 
consistent accounting policies for areas that are 
not covered by a standard or where there is choice 
of accounting policy, and to assist all parties to 
understand and interpret the Standards.

			   The amendments made in following standards due 
to Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
under Ind AS .includes amendment of the footnote 
to the definition of an equity instrument in Ind AS 
102- Share Based Payments, footnote to be added 
for definition of liability i.e. definition of liability is 
not revised on account of revision of definition 
in conceptual framework in case of Ind AS 37 - 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets etc.

			   The MCA has notified the Amendments to Ind AS 
consequential to Conceptual Framework under 
Ind AS vide notification dated June 18, 2021, 
applicable for annual periods beginning on or 
after April 1, 2021. Accordingly, the Conceptual 
Framework is applicable for preparers for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 
2021.	

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Group.

		  (iii) Ind AS 116: COVID-19 related rent concessions

			   MCA issued an amendment to Ind AS 116 Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 to 
update the condition for lessees to apply the relief 
to a reduction in lease payments originally due on 
or before 30 June 2022 from 30 June 2021. The 
amendment applies to annual reporting periods 
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beginning on or after 1 April 2021. In case a lessee 
has not yet approved the financial statements for 
issue before the issuance of this amendment, then 
the same may be applied for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020.

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Group.

		  (iv) Ind AS 103: Business combination

			   The amendment states that to qualify for 
recognition as part of applying the acquisition 
method, the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed must meet the definitions 
of assets and liabilities in the Framework for 
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements in accordance with Indian Accounting 
Standards* issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India at the acquisition date. 
Therefore, the acquirer does not recognise those 

costs as part of applying the acquisition method. 
Instead, the acquirer recognises those costs 
in its post-combination financial statements in 
accordance with other Ind AS.	

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Group.	

		  (v)	 Amendment to Ind AS 105, Ind AS 16 and Ind AS 
28

			   The definition of “Recoverable amount” is 
amended such that the words “the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use” are replaced with “higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use”. 
The consequential amendments are made in Ind 
AS 105, Ind AS 16 and Ind AS 28.	

			   These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Group.
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3	 Property, plant and equipment (Contd.)

Net book value 
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Property, plant and equipment  2,454.53  2,657.09 
Capital work in progress  212.98  80.54 
Asset classified as held for sale  595.04  10.90 

	 Property plant and equipment are subject to charge to secure the Group’s borrowings as discussed in Note 16 

	 Note: On transition to Ind AS (i.e. 1 April 2015), the company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all Property, plant 
and equipment measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as the deemed cost of Property, plant and 
equipment.	

	 Leasehold Land * 

	 Land for soda ash plant and for corporate office are taken on lease from the Government of India for a year of 90 to 99 years.
leasehold lands are capitalised and amortised over the life of lease or life of assets (whichever is lower).  

	 Leased Mines # 

	 Leased mines represents expenditure incurred on development of mines. 

	 Asset held for sale ** 

	 Assets held for sale represents the assets of Home textile business at Vapi unit to be transferred by the company pursuent to a 
Business transfer agreement and Land in Madurai (Yarn Unit) approved by Board for transfer in future. ( Refer Note no 45) 

	  Capitalised borrowing costs 

	 The amount of borrowing cost capitalised during the year ended March 31, 2022 was NIL (for the year March 31, 2021: INR 
0.34 Crore) on account of capacity expansion of soda ash plant and other capital expenditure. The rate used to determine the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was NIL (for the year March 31 2021: 8.25%) which is the effective interest 
rate of the specific borrowing.

4	 Intangible assets

 Cost  Trademarks  Software  Total 

As at April 1, 2020  2.65  8.61  11.26 
Additions  -    3.59  3.59 
Disposals  -    (0.00)  (0.00)
As at March 31, 2021  2.65  12.20  14.85 
Additions  -    -    -   
Disposals-continuing operations  -    -    -   
Adjustments due to Discontinued operations  (2.65)  (1.26)  (3.91)
As at March 31, 2022 0.00  10.94  10.94 
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4	 Intangible assets (Contd.)

Amortisation  Trademarks  Software  Total 

As at April 1, 2020  2.43  3.37  5.80 
Amortization  0.22  2.78  3.00 
Disposals  -    (0.00)  (0.00)
 As at March 31, 2021  2.65  6.15  8.80 
Amortization-continuing operations  -    2.91  2.91 
Amortization-continuing operations  -    0.12  0.12 
Disposals- Amortization charge for the year continuing operations  -    -    -   
Disposals- Amortization discontinuing operations  (2.65)  (0.85)  (3.50)
As at March 31, 2022  (0.00)  8.33  8.33 

Net book value  Trademarks  Software  Total 

As at March 31, 2022  0.00  2.61  2.61 
As at March 31, 2021  0.00  6.05  6.05 

CWIP
Amount in CWIP for a period of

TotalLess   than 
1 year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More    than    

3 years

Projects in progress -2021-22  198.78  8.00  5.78  0.42  212.98 
Projects in progress -2020-21  60.65  17.30  2.19  0.40  80.54 

CWIP
To be completed in

Less than1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More    than    

3 years

Debottlenecking project at Soda ash plant
As at 31st March 2022  55.53 - - -
As at 31st March 2021 -  14.17 - -

	  Note: Intangible assets include license for trademark acquired for obtaining exclusive manufaturing and marketing rights for one of its innovative textile 
product in USA. 

	  Note: On transition to Ind AS (i.e. 1 April 2015), the company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all Intangible assets measured as per 
the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as the deemed cost of Intangible assets. 

	 Capital Work in progress aging schedule(CWIP)

	 Completion schedule for capital-work-in progress, whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to 
its original plan :

	 All title deeds of Immovable Property are held in name of the Company
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Investments
Unquoted equity shares, at amortised cost
5200 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 5200 equity shares) of INR 10/- each 
fully paid up of DM Solar Farm Pvt Ltd *

 0.01  0.01 

132,700 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 63,400 equity shares) of INR 10/- 
each fully paid up of OPG Power Generation Pvt Ltd

 0.15  0.07 

12,00,000 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 12,00,000) of INR 10/- each fully 
paid up of SSMT Power Pvt Ltd *

 1.20  1.20 

950 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 950) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Puvaneshwari Enterprises #

 0.00  0.00 

950 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 950) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Sarojarajan Green Power Eenergy #

 0.00  0.00 

970 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 970) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
AFCM Wind Farms Pvt Ltd #

 0.00  0.00 

970 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 970) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
AJSM Green Energy Pvt Ltd #

 0.00  0.00 

780 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 780) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
APGL Green Energy Pvt Ltd #

 0.00  0.00 

780 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 780) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Jaichander Wind Farms Pvt Ltd #

 0.00  0.00 

780 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 780) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Sushmitha Titiksha Green Energy Pvt Ltd #

 0.00  0.00 

2,440 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 2,440) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Prechander Wind Farms #

 0.00  0.00 

2,440 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 2,440) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Prechander Green Energy #

 0.00  0.00 

2,440 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 2,440) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Jayanthi Wind Farms #

 0.00  0.00 

2,440 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 2,440) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Jayanthi Green Energy #

 0.00  0.00 

2600 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: NIL) of INR 10/- each fully paid up of 
Vaayu Renewable Energy (Mandvi) Pvt Ltd* #

 0.00  -   

100 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 100 equity shares) of TCP Ltd of INR 10/- 
each fully paid up #

 0.00  0.00 

Investment in Government Securities (at amortised cost)
7 years National Savings Certificates (Pledged with govt authorities)  0.04  0.04 
Quoted equity shares, at Fair value through OCI
83,000 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 83,000 equity shares) of HDFC Bank 
Limited of INR 1/- each fully paid up 

 12.20  12.74 

68,598 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 68,598 equity shares) of IDBI Bank 
Limited of INR 10/- each fully paid up

 0.29  0.30 

285 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 285 equity shares) of Bank of Baroda 
(formally known as Dena Bank) of INR 10/- each fully paid up

 0.00  0.00 

272,146 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 272,146 equity shares) of GTC 
Industries Limited of INR 10/- each fully paid up

 2.54  0.73 

5	 Investments
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5	 Investments (Contd.)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

4,500 equity shares (as at March 31, 2021: 4,500 equity shares) of Canara Bank of 
INR 10/- each fully paid up

 0.10  0.05 

Total Fair Investments  16.56  15.16 
Non-current  16.56  15.16 
Current  -    -   
Aggregate book value of quoted investments  15.13  13.82 
Aggregate market value of quoted investments  15.13  13.82 
Aggregate value of unquoted investments  1.42  1.33 
Total  16.56  15.15 

	 *Company does not exercise any significant influence on DM Solar Farm Pvt Ltd, SSMT Power Pvt Ltd & Vaayu Renewable 
Energy (Mandvi) Pvt Ltd thus are not considered as associates.					   

	 Investments at fair value through OCI (fully paid) reflect investment in quoted and unquoted equity securities and quoted debt 
securities. These equity shares are designated as FVTOCI as they are not held for trading purpose and are not in similar line of 
business as the Group. Thus disclosing their fair value fluctuation in profit or loss will not reflect the purpose of holding. The 
Group has not transferred any gain or loss within equity in the previous year. Refer note 39 for determination of their fair values.

	 #Amount being in thousands are not appearing

6A	Loans
	 (Unsecured, considered good, unless stated otherwise) ( at amortised cost)

6B	 Other non-current financial assets

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

-	 Others 7.88  -   
Total loans 7.88  -   

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Other Financial assets
Security Deposits  9.84  9.03 
Bank deposits with more than 12 months maturity
-	 On escrow account#  12.08  9.79 
-	 On account of margin money deposited*  0.15  0.80 
 Total non-current other financial assets  22.07  19.62 

	 # As per the guidelines of the Ministry of Coal, Government of India all Coal Mine owners who are operating Coal Mines are required to prepare a Mine 
Closure Plan and on approval of such plan need to open an escrow for depositing money towards mine closure activity. Annual amount to be deposited 
shall be as per mine closure plan. Total amount deposited along with interest shall be refunded as per conditions of approved mine plan

	 * Margin money held with banks against opening of letter of credit (LC) and Bank guarantee.
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8	 Inventories

9	 Trade receivables

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Inventories valued at lower of cost and net realizable value
Raw materials (at cost)  559.72  357.71 
[includes in transit INR 8.76 Crore (At March 31 ,2021: 6.68 Crore)]
Work-in-progress (at cost)  27.92  62.96 
Finished goods (at lower of cost and net realisable value)  99.09  195.82 
[includes in transit INR 26.03 Crore (At March 31 ,2021: 28.31 Crore)]
Stock-in-trade  (at lower of cost and net realisable value)  54.33  22.32 
[includes in transit Nil (At March 31, 2021: INR 3.32 Crore)]
Stores and spares  (at lower of cost and net realisable value)  203.17  124.69 
Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value  944.23  763.50 

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Trade receivables  229.44  228.36 
Total trade receivables  229.44  228.36 

7	 Other-non current assets

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Capital advances  84.81  60.94 
Deposit with statutory authorities under protest  5.54  5.63 
Total  90.35  66.57 

	 No Advances are due from directors or other officer of the Group either severally or jointly with any other person. Nor any 
advances are due from firm or any private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or a member 
other than stated above.	

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Trade receivables
Secured, considered good  84.66  62.94 
Unsecured, considered good  145.35  165.42 
Gross Trade receivable  230.01  228.36 
Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts  (0.57)  -   
Net trade receivables  229.44  228.36 

	 Break-up for security details:
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10A Cash and cash equivalent

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Balances with bank
-	 On current account  30.13  34.80 
-	 Deposits with original maturity of less than three months  213.37  -   
Cash on hand  0.08  0.17 
Total cash and cash equivalents  243.58  34.97 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise the following:
Balances with bank
-	 On current account  30.13  34.80 
-	 Deposits with original maturity of less than three months  213.37  -   
Cash on hand  0.08  0.17 
Cash at bank and Cash on hand attributable to discontinued operations(Note 47)  0.17  -   

 243.75  34.97 

Particulars

Outstanding for following  periods from due date of payment

Less  than 
6 months

6 months 
- 1 year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More  than 
3 years

Total

(i)	 Undisputed Trade receivables  –  considered good
	 As at 31-03-2022  229.44  -    -    -    -    229.44 
	 As at 31-03-2021  225.20  2.34  0.39  0.12  0.31  228.36 
(ii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables – which have 

significant increase in credit risk
	 As at 31-03-2022  -    0.03  0.11  0.07  0.36  0.57 
	 As at 31-03-2021  -    -    -    -    -    -   
(iii)	 Disputed Trade Receivables     considered good
(iv)	Disputed Trade Receivables     considered doubtful
Gross Trade receivable
As at 31-03-2022  229.44  0.03  0.11  0.07  0.36  230.01 
As at 31-03-2021  225.20  2.34  0.39  0.12  0.31  228.36 
Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts
As at 31-03-2022  (0.57)
As at 31-03-2021  -   
Net trade receivables
As at 31-03-2022  229.44 
As at 31-03-2021  228.36 

9	 Trade receivables (Contd.)

	 No trade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the Group either severally or jointly with any other 
person. Nor any trade or other receivable are due from firm or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, 
a director or a member other than stated above.

	 For terms and conditions related to related to related party receivables, refer Note 36

	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 45 to 180 days.
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11A	Loans current

	 (Unsecured, considered good, unless stated otherwise)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Loan to employees  2.01  2.23 
Loan to ESOS trust (Refer Note 36 & 43)  5.53  5.70 
Others 0.30  -  

7.84  7.93 

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Loans (Refer Note 6A and 11A) 15.72  7.93 
Security Deposits (Refer Note 6B)  9.44  9.03 
Trade receivables (Refer Note 9)  229.44  228.36 
Cash and cash equivalents (Refer Note 10A)  243.57  34.97 
Investments in Unquoted equity shares (Refer Note 5)  1.38  1.29 
Investments in Unquoted debt securities (Refer Note 5)  0.04  0.04 
Total financial assets carried at amortised cost 499.59 281.62

	 No Loans are due from directors or other officer of the Group either severally or jointly with any other person. Nor any loans are 
due from firm or any private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or a member other than stated 
above.

	 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets which generate a fixed or variable interest income for the Group. The 
carrying value may be affected by changes in the credit risks of the counter parties.

	 Break up of financial assets carried at amortised cost

10B Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

-	 On unpaid dividend account  4.52  4.26 
-	 On account of margin money deposited*  7.13  9.40 
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents  11.65  13.66 

	 * Margin money held with banks against opening of letter of credit (LC) and Bank guarantee.

	 As at March 31 2022, the Company has available INR 242 Crores (As at March 31 2021: INR 630 Crores) of undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities.

GHCL Limited Integrated Annual  Report  2021-22

352

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores)



(H in Crores)

Type of Borrower

 Amount of loan 
or advance  

in the nature of 
loan outstanding 

 Percentage to 
the total Loans 
and Advances  

in the nature of 
loans 

Promoters
March 31, 2022  -   
March 31, 2021  -   
Directors
March 31, 2022  -    -   
March 31, 2021  -    -   
KMPs
March 31, 2022  0.09 1.19%
March 31, 2021  0.12 1.48%
Related Parties
March 31, 2022  -    -   
March 31, 2021  -   -  

11B	Derivate instruments

11C	Others current financial asset

	 (Unsecured, considered good, unless stated otherwise)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Foreign exchange forward contracts  -    4.14 
Total derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss  -    4.14 

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Export incentives receivable  2.94  2.54 
GST refund receivable  -    5.90 
Subvention receivable  2.41  3.38 
Others  0.60  1.01 
(include Insurance Claim receivable)

 5.95  12.83 

	 Derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss reflect the positive change in fair value of those foreign exchange 
forward contracts that are not designated in hedge relationships, but are, nevertheless, intended to reduce the level of foreign 
currency risk for expected sales and purchases

11A	Loans current (Contd.)

	 Details of Loans or Advances in the nature of loans are granted to promoters, directors, KMPs and the related parties (as 
defined under Companies Act, 2013,) either severally or jointly with any other person, that are repayable on demand or 
without specifying any terms or period of repayment :
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Accounting profit before tax from continuing operations  810.80  418.18 
Profit/(loss) before tax from a discontinued operation  70.37  20.39 
Accounting profit before income tax  881.17  438.57 
At India’s statutory income tax rate of 25.168 % (March 31, 2021: 25.168%)  221.77  110.38 
Adjustment for tax purposes:
-	 Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years  -    (0.69)
-	 Difference in book depreciation & amortisation and depreciation & 

amortisation as per Income Tax Act, 1961
 4.36  3.49 

-	 Charity, donation and CSR expenses  2.49  2.48 
-	 Deduction under chapter VI-A  (0.04)  (0.52)
-	 Dimunition in value of investment  6.28  -   
-	 Loss of sale/disposal of land held for sale  0.40  2.19 
-	 Trade receivables from subsidiary (Grace Home Fashion)  adjusted for charge 

back and allowed in income tax
 (4.13)  (4.04)

-	 Others  3.37  0.09 
At the effective income tax rate of 26.61% (March 31, 2021: 25.85%)  234.50  113.38 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss from continuing 
operations

 204.10  104.85 

Deferred tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss from continuing 
operations

 8.43  7.42 

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss from 
discontinuing operations

 21.97  1.11 

 234.50  113.38 
Tax adjustment for earlier years  (0.03)  (0.93)
Total tax expense  234.47  112.45 

	 Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by India’s domestic tax rate for March 31, 2022 and 
March 31, 2021:

12	 Income Tax and deferred Tax

Current tax assets (net)
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Income tax paid / TDS/TCS  (At March 31, 2021: net of provision of INR 107.01 Crore)  -   9.73
Total  -    9.73

Current tax liabilities (net)
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Income tax payable (net of income tax paid/TDS/TCS of Rs. INR 226.09 )  14.54  -   
Total  14.54  -   
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Deferred tax expense/(income) relates to the following:
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Depreciation & amortisation  10.83  3.53 
Expenditure debited to Statement of Profit and loss but allowed for tax purposes 
in subsequent years (on payment basis)

 (1.38)  4.22 

Right to use asset  (0.27)  (0.40)
Lease liabilites  0.12  0.14 
Deferred tax expense/(income)  9.30  7.49 
Deferred tax expense/(income) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income  0.11  (0.41)
Total Deferred tax expense/(income)  9.41  7.08 

Deferred tax relates to the following:
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Deferred tax Liability 
Property, Plant and Equipment  (273.87)  (263.04)
Right to use asset  (2.79)  (3.06)
Deferred Tax Assets
Expenditure debited to Statement of Profit and loss but allowed for tax purposes 
in subsequent years (on payment basis)

 3.69  2.41 

Lease liabilites  3.40  3.53 
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)  (269.57)  (260.16)
Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:
Deferred tax assets  7.09  5.94 
Deferred tax liabilities:  (276.66)  (266.10)
Deferred tax liabilities, net  (269.57)  (260.16)

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Balances with statutory authorities  64.97  15.71 
Advances recoverable in cash or kind  66.00  15.21 
Prepaid expenses  2.61  3.74 
Total other current assets  133.58  34.66 

	 The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current 
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

13	 Other current assets

	 (Unsecured, Considered good, unless stated otherwise)

	 No Advances are due from directors or other officer of the Group either severally or jointly with any other person. Nor any advances are due 
from firm or any private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or a member other than stated above.

12	 Income Tax and deferred Tax (Contd.)
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	 Issued equity capital

Particulars Number of Shares Amount

Equity shares of INR 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid
As at April 1, 2020  95,013,286  95.01 
Changes in share capital  -    -   
As at March 31, 2021  95,013,286  95.01 
Changes in share capital- ESOS issued during the year ( July 15,2021)  337,500  0.34 
As at March 31, 2022  95,350,786  95.35 

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Shareholder's holding more than 5 % shares
Promoter and Promoter Group 19.07% 19.24%
DSP Small Cap Fund   8.53% 9.09%
Ares Diversified 4.86% 5.19%

	 As per records of the parent, including its register of shareholders/members and other declarations received from shareholders 
regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of shares.

	 No shares have been issued by the parent for consideration other than cash, during the period of five years immediately 
preceding the reporting date.

	 Shares reserved for issue under options

	 For details of shares reserved for issue under the share based payment plan of the holding company, please refer note 33.

Particulars Number of Shares (of INR 10 each) Amount

As at April 1, 2020  175,000,000  175.00 
Increase/(Decrease) during the year  -    -   
As at March 31, 2021  175,000,000  175.00 
Increase/(Decrease) during the year  -    -   
As at March 31, 2022  175,000,000  175.00 

14	 Share capital

	 Authorised share capital

	 Terms / rights attached to equity shares

	 The holding company has one class of equity shares having a par value of INR 10 per share. Each shareholder is entitled to one 
vote per equity share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in 
the ensuring Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. In the event of liquidation of the Group, the equity 
shareholders are eligible to receive remaining assets of the Group, after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to 
their shareholding.
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14	 Share capital (Contd.)
	 Details of shares held by promoters as at 31st March 2022

Sr. 
no.

Promoter name
No. of Shares 
at beginning 

of the year

Change 
during the 

year

No. of 
Shares at 

the year end

%of total 
shares

% Change 
during the *

1 HINDUSTAN COMMERCIAL COMPANY LIMITED *    2,944,737  -    2,944,737 3.09% 0.01%
2 GEMS COMMERCIAL COMPANY LIMITED *                                                                                                                                                2,940,207  -    2,940,207 3.08% 0.01%
3 BANJAX LIMITED  *                               2,789,700  -    2,789,700 2.93% 0.01%
4 HEXABOND LIMITED *                                           2,718,200  -    2,718,200 2.85% 0.01%
5 OVAL INVESTMENT PVT.LTD.*  2,588,848  -    2,588,848 2.72% 0.01%
6 LHONAK ENTERNATIONAL PRIVATE LIMITED  *                      1,365,599  -    1,365,599 1.43% 0.01%
7 ANURAG DALMIA HUF *                                        572,774  -    572,774 0.60% 0.00%
8 CARISSA INVESTMENT PRIVATE LIMITED *  481,752  -    481,752 0.51% 0.00%
9 HARVATEX ENGINEERING AND   

PROCESSING COMPANYLIMITED *         
 415,723  -    415,723 0.44% 0.00%

10 WGF FINANCIAL SERVICES LTD *                        378,807  -    378,807 0.40% 0.00%
11 ANURAG TRADING LEASING AND 

INVESTMENT COMPANYPRIVATE LTD *                        
 287,200  -    287,200 0.30% 0.00%

12 DALMIA FINANCE LTD *                                       200,244  -    200,244 0.21% 0.00%
13 ARCHANA TRADING AND INVESTMENT 

COMPANY PRIVATE LIMITED *                  
 132,848  -    132,848 0.14% 0.00%

14 ANURAG DALMIA                                                          100,000  10,000  110,000 0.12% -0.01%
15 NEELABH DALMIA                                                         69,500  35,000  104,500 0.11% -0.04%
16 BHARATPUR INVESTMENT LIMITED *                     38,842  -    38,842 0.04% 0.00%
17 SANJAY TRADING INVESTMENT COMPANY 

PRIVATE LIMITED * 
 29,100  -    29,100 0.03% 0.00%

18 GENERAL EXPORTS AND CREDITS LIMITED *                            17,000  -    17,000 0.02% 0.00%
19 GOLDEN TOBACCO LIMITED *                        16,578  -    16,578 0.02% 0.00%
20 PASHUPATINATH COMMERCIAL PVT. LTD. *                              15,000  -    15,000 0.02% 0.00%
21 SOVEREIGN COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. *                   6,000  -    6,000 0.01% 0.00%
22 DALMIA HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED *                     5,707  -    5,707 0.01% 0.00%
23 TRISHUL COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. *                        5,100  -    5,100 0.01% 0.00%
24 SWASTIK COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD. *           3,700  -    3,700 0.00% 0.00%
25 ALANKAR COMMERCIAL PRIVATE LIMITED *                                         2,600  -    2,600 0.00% 0.00%
26 RICKLUNSFORD TRADE AND INDUSTRIAL 

INVESTMENT LTD *        
 1,960  -    1,960 0.00% 0.00%

27 CHIRAWA INVESTMENT LIMITED *                                  1,860  -    1,860 0.00% 0.00%
28 MOURYA FINANCE LIMITED *                                    1,860  -    1,860 0.00% 0.00%
29 LAKSHMI VISHNU INVESTMENT LIMITED *       1,860  -    1,860 0.00% 0.00%
30 SIKAR INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED *                                                   1,800  -    1,800 0.00% 0.00%
31 ANTARCTICA INVESTMENT PVT LTD *          768  -    768 0.00% 0.00%
32 COMOSUM INVESTMENT PVT LTD *          701  -    701 0.00% 0.00%
33 LOVELY INVESTMENT PVT LTD *                     645  -    645 0.00% 0.00%
34 ALTAR INVESTMENT P LTD*                                 318  -    318 0.00% 0.00%
35 ILAC INVESTMENT PRIVATE LIMITED *                            217  -    217 0.00% 0.00%
36 DEAR INVESTMENT P. LTD.*  55  -    55 0.00% 0.00%
37 RAM KRISHNA DALMIA FOUNDATION  145,000  (145,000)  -   0.00% 0.15%

Total  18,282,810  (100,000)  18,182,810 19.07% 0.17%
	 * Change during the year on account of shares issued pursuant to exercise of employee stock option by the employees
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14	 Share capital (Contd.)

	 Details of shares held by promoters as at 31st March 2021

Sr. 
no.

Promoter name
No. of Shares 
at beginning 

of the year

Change 
during the 

year

No. of 
Shares at 

the year end

%of total 
shares

% Change 
during the *

1 HINDUSTAN COMMERCIAL COMPANY LIMITED*                                                    2,333,590  611,147  2,944,737 3.10% 0.64%
2 GEMS COMMERCIAL COMPANY LIMITED                     2,940,207  -    2,940,207 3.09%  -   
3 BANJAX LIMITED                                                              2,789,700  -    2,789,700 2.94%  -   
4 HEXABOND LIMITED                                                      2,718,200  -    2,718,200 2.86%  -   
5 OVAL INVESTMENT PVT.LTD.  2,588,848  -    2,588,848 2.72%  -   
6 LHONAK ENTERNATIONAL PRIVATE LIMITED  1,365,599  -    1,365,599 1.44%  -   
7 ANURAG DALMIA HUF                                              549,602  23,172  572,774 0.60% 0.02%
8 CARISSA INVESTMENT PRIVATE LIMITED  481,752  -    481,752 0.51%  -   
9 HARVATEX ENGINEERING AND   

PROCESSING COMPANYLIMITED             
 415,723  -    415,723 0.44%  -   

10 WGF FINANCIAL SERVICES LTD                           378,807  -    378,807 0.40%  -   
11 ANURAG TRADING LEASING AND 

INVESTMENT COMPANYPRIVATE LTD                                 
 287,200  -    287,200 0.30%  -   

12 DALMIA FINANCE LTD                                           200,244  -    200,244 0.21%  -   
13 ARCHANA TRADING AND INVESTMENT 

COMPANY PRIVATE LIMITED        
 132,848  -    132,848 0.14%  -   

14 ANURAG DALMIA                                                                100,000  -    100,000 0.11%  -   
15 NEELABH DALMIA                                                       11,000  58,500  69,500 0.07% 0.06%
16 BHARATPUR INVESTMENT LIMITED                      38,842  -    38,842 0.04%  -   
17 SANJAY TRADING INVESTMENT COMPANY 

PRIVATE LIMITED                   
 29,100  -    29,100 0.03%  -   

18 GENERAL EXPORTS AND CREDITS LIMITED                               17,000  -    17,000 0.02%  -   
19 GOLDEN TOBACCO LIMITED                                       16,578  -    16,578 0.02%  -   
20 PASHUPATINATH COMMERCIAL PVT. LTD.                                  15,000  -    15,000 0.02%  -   
21 SOVEREIGN COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD.                           6,000  -    6,000 0.01%  -   
22 DALMIA HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED                            5,707  -    5,707 0.01%  -   
23 TRISHUL COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD.                              5,100  -    5,100 0.01%  -   
24 SWASTIK COMMERCIAL PVT.LTD.                                 3,700  -    3,700 0.00%  -   
25 ALANKAR COMMERCIAL PRIVATE LIMITED              2,600  -    2,600 0.00%  -   
26 RICKLUNSFORD TRADE AND INDUSTRIAL 

INVESTMENT LTD        
 1,960  -    1,960 0.00%  -   

27 CHIRAWA INVESTMENT LIMITED                                   1,860  -    1,860 0.00%  -   
28 MOURYA FINANCE LIMITED                                   1,860  -    1,860 0.00%  -   
29 LAKSHMI VISHNU INVESTMENT LIMITED                                     1,860  -    1,860 0.00%  -   
30 SIKAR INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED                                 1,800  -    1,800 0.00%  -   
31 ANTARCTICA INVESTMENT PVT LTD                      768  -    768 0.00%  -   
32 COMOSUM INVESTMENT PVT LTD                               701  -    701 0.00%  -   
33 LOVELY INVESTMENT PVT LTD                              645  -    645 0.00%  -   
34 ALTAR INVESTMENT P LTD                                          318  -    318 0.00%  -   
35 ILAC INVESTMENT PRIVATE LIMITED                                               217  -    217 0.00%  -   
36 DEAR INVESTMENT P. LTD.  55  -    55 0.00%  -   
37 RAM KRISHNA DALMIA FOUNDATION  165,000  (20,000)  145,000 0.15% -0.02%
38 INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES LIMITED*                        611,147  (611,147)  -   0.00% -0.64%

Total  18,221,138  61,672  18,282,810 19.24% 0.06%
	 *Due to merger/amalgamation of company
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	 Notes:

	 15A	Capital reserve

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  7.57 
Changes during the year  -   
As at March 31, 2021  7.57 
Changes during the year  -   
As at March 31, 2022  7.57 

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  73.89 
Changes during the year  -   
At March 31, 2021  73.89 
Changes during the year  -   
As at March 31, 2022  73.89 

		  The parent has recognised cash subsidy received from government on account of its operations, surplus on re-issue of 
forfeited shares and forfeiture of preferential warrants under capital reserve in earlier years.

	 15B	Business development reserve

		  In earlier years, certain fixed assets of the group were revalued at their respective fair value as determined by government 
approved competent valuer appointed by the Company. The amount of such revaluation was transferred to business 
development reserve as per scheme of arrangement as approved by Hon’ble Gujarat High Court on 30th November, 2008.

15	 Other equity

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Capital reserve (Note 15A)  7.57  7.57 
Business development reserve (Note 15B)  73.89  73.89 
Capital redemption reserve (Note 15C)  16.36  16.36 
Securities premium (Note 15D)  10.68  -   
Retained earnings (Note 15E)  2,857.49 2,262.73 
Share based payment reserve (Note 15F)  5.51 11.43
Foreign currency translation reserve (Note 15I)  (0.33) (0.47)
General reserve (Note 15G)  5.45  5.45 
FVTOCI reserve (Note 15H)  13.61 12.29
Total  2,990.22 2,389.24
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15	 Other equity (Contd.)
	 15C	Capital redemption reserve

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  16.36 
Changes during the year  -   
At March 31, 2021  16.36 
Changes during the year  -   
As at March 31, 2022  16.36 

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  -   
Changes during the year  -   
As at March 31, 2021  -   
Changes during the year-on account of shares issued pursuent to exercise of employee stock 
option by the employees

 10.68 

As at March 31, 2022  10.68 

		  In earlier years, an amount of INR 16.36 Crore (equivalent to nominal value of the equity shares bought back and cancelled by 
the holding company in earlier years) has been transferred to Capital Redemption Reserve from General Reserves pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 69 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the article 7 of the Article of Association of the Company.

	 15D	Securities premium

		  During the year company has issued 3,37,500 equity shares of Rs. 10 yeach under ESOS scheme. The excess of aggregate 
consideration received over the face value of shares amounting to INR 10.68 Crore is credited to Securities premium.

	 15E	 Retained earnings

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  9.87 
Changes during the year  1.56 
As at March 31, 2021  11.43 
Changes during the year  (5.92)
As at March 31, 2022  5.51 

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  1,937.83 
Changes during the year-Profit for the year  326.12 
Changes during the year-Other comprehensive income  (1.22)
As at March 31, 2021  2,262.73 
Changes during the year-Profit for the year  646.70 
Changes during the year-Dividend paid  (52.27)
Changes during the year-Other comprehensive income  0.33 
As at March 31, 2022  2,857.49 

	 15F	 Share based payment reserve

		  The parent has share option schemes under which options to subscribe for the parent’s shares have been granted to certain 
executives and senior employees.

		  The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payments provided to employees, 
including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 33 for further details of these plans.
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		  Distributions made and proposed

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Cash dividends on equity shares declared and paid:
Final dividend for the year ended on March 31, 2021: INR 5.50 per share 
(March 31, 2020: NIL)

 52.27  -   

 52.27  -   
Proposed dividends on Equity shares:
Proposed dividend for the year ended on March 31,2022: Rs 15.00 per 
equity share (including Rs 5.00 per equity share as a special dividend)  
(March 31, 2021: INR 5.50 per share)

 143.03  52.27 

 143.03  52.27 

15	 Other equity (Contd.)
	 15G	General reserve

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  5.45 
Changes during the year  -   
As at March 31, 2021  5.45 
Changes during the year  -   
As at March 31, 2022  5.45 

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  6.34 
Changes during the year  5.95 
As at March 31, 2021  12.29 
Changes during the year  1.32 
As at March 31, 2022  13.61 

Particulars Amount

As at April 1, 2020  (3.34)
Changes during the year  2.87 
At March 31, 2021  (0.47)
Changes during the year  0.14 
As at March 31, 2022  (0.33)
The company recognises the profit or loss on fair value of investments under fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI) reserve.
Particulars Amount

Grand Total (15) as on March 2020  2,053.96 
Grand Total (15) as on March 2021  2,389.24
Grand Total (15) as on March 2022  2,990.22 

	 15H	FVTOCI reserve

		  The parent recognises the profit or loss on fair value of quoted investments under fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI) reserve.	

	 15I	 Foreign currency translation reserve

		  Proposed dividends on equity shares are subject to approval at the annual general meeting and are not recognized as a 
liability as at year end.
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16A Non-current Borrowings

Non-current Borrowings
Nature of 

Charge
Effective 

interest rate %
Maturity

 As at  
March 31, 2022 

 As at  
March 31, 2021 

Term Loans 
From Banks
Rupee Term Loans (secured) Refer Note 

a to h
7.72% December 2022 

- April 2028
 415.64  550.88 

Foreign currency loans (secured) Refer Note i 3.21% April 2025  8.96  12.94 
Total non-current borrowings  424.60  563.82 
Current Borrowings
Short Term Loans from Banks 4.91% On Demand  198.05  41.35 
Short Term Loans from Banks 4.55% On Demand  10.00  -   
Current maturities of long term loan
-	 Rupee Term Loans (secured) 7.72% April 2022 - 

March 2023
 130.81  149.05 

-	 Foreign currency loans (secured) 3.21% April 2022 - 
March 2023

 3.99  13.88 

Total current Borrowings  342.85  204.28 
Aggregate Secured loans  757.45  768.10 
Aggregate Unsecured loans  10.00  -   

16.1 Term loans from banks / institutions have been secured against: -

	 a) 	 Loan aggregating to Rs. 12.83 crores (Previous Year Rs. 23.43 crores) is secured by exclusive charge on the specific fixed 
assets created out of the proceeds of the loan for Company’s Soda Ash Division situated at village Sutrapada, Veraval in 
Gujarat. The remaining tenure of the loans is 1 to 2 years.

	 b) 	 Loan aggregating to Rs 441.42 crores (Previous Year Rs. 329.60 crores) is secured by way of first pari passu charge on 
movable fixed assets of Soda Ash Division situated at village Sutrapada, Veraval, Gujarat excluding assets exclusively 
charged to other lenders both present and future. The remaining tenure of the loans is 3 to 6 years.

	 c) 	 Loan aggregating to Nil (Previous Year Rs. 46.20 crores) is secured by exclusive charge on specific fixed assets created out 
of the proceeds of the for Company’s Home Textile Division situated at Vapi in Gujarat.

	 d) 	 Loan aggregating to NIL (Previous Year Rs. 5.73 crores) is secured by an exclusive first charge over movable fixed assets 
pertaining to Windmill Project situated at Jodia, Jamnagar District, Gujarat, both present and future, created out of the 
proceeds of the loan. The term loan has been prepaid during current year.

	 e) 	 Loan aggregating to Rs. 92.21 crores (Previous Year Rs.144.42 crores) is secured by exclusive charge on the specific fixed 
assets created out of the proceeds of the loan for Company’s Textile Division situated at Madurai, Tamil Nadu. The remaining 
tenure of the loans is 3 to 6 years.

	 f)	 Loan aggregating to NIL (Previous Year Rs. 124.74 crores) is secured by first charge on pari passu basis over movable fixed 
assets of Company’s Textile division present and future situated at Paravai and Manaparai, Tamilnadu excluding movable 
assets already hypothecated on exclusive charge basis. Term Loan has been prepaid during current year.

	 g)	 Loan aggregating to NIL (Previous Year Rs. 9.88 crores) is secured by first exclusive charge on movable fixed assets of Textile 
Division (including Phase I, II, III) Madurai, Tamil Nadu. The loan has been repaid during current year.

	 h)	 Loan aggregating to NIL (Previous Year Rs. 17.24 crores) is secured by an exclusive first charge over movable and immovable 
fixed assets pertaining to Windmill Project situated at Tirunelveli District, Tamilnadu, both present and future, created out of 
the proceeds of the loan. The term loan has been prepaid during current year.	
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16B Current borrowings

Particulars Nature of Charge
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Short term loans from banks (Secured)
Cash credit facilities

Refer Note a

13.06
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 2.02 2.74
Working capital demand loan 195.00 5.00
Sales Bill Discounting 1.03 1.33
Export Packing Credit (Rupee Loan) Refer Note a  -   18.67
Export Bill Discounting (Foreign Currency Loan) Refer Note b  -   0.55
Secured Short Term Borrowing 198.05 41.35
Current maturities of Long Term Borrowings 134.80 162.93
Total Secured Short Term Borrowing 332.85 204.28
Short term loans from banks - (Unsecured)
Short Term Loan 10.00  -   
Total Unsecured Short Term Borrowing 10.00  -   
Total 342.85 204.28

	 i)	 Loan aggregating to Rs. 12.95 (Previous Year Rs.25.51 crores) crores is secured by an exclusive first charge over movable 
fixed assets pertaining to Windmill Project situated at Tirunelveli District, Tamilnadu, both present and future, created out of 
the proceeds of the loan. The remaining tenure of the loan is 3 years.	

	 j)	 Out of all the aforesaid secured Loans appearing in Note 16 (1) (a) to 16 (1) (i) totaling Rs. 559.42 crores (Previous Year Rs. 726.75 
crores), an amount of Rs. 134.80 crores (Previous Year Rs. 162.93 crores) is due for payment in next 12 months and accordingly 
reported under Note 16(B) under the head “Short term borrowings” as “current maturities of Long Term Borrowings”.

	 k)	 The Company has satisfied all the loan covenants.

16.2	Short term borrowings: This facility is secured by way of hypothecation on inventory and trade receivables and borrowed 
as under:

	 (a)	 Credit Facilities in Indian Rupees: The facilities availed by way of Cash Credit, Working capital demand loan and Bill 
Discounting are repayable on demand and carries an average interest rate of 4.90% p.a (Previous Year 5.70% p.a) on the 
amount outstanding.

	 (b)	 Credit facilities in foreign currency : The facilities availed by way of foreign currency demand loan, packing credit in foreign 
currency, Export Bill discounting and Supplier's Credit are repayable as per maturity dates being not more than 1 year and 
carries an average interest NIL (without forward premium) (Previous Year 0.45% p.a) on the amount outstanding.

	 (c ) 	quarterly returns or statements of current assets filed by the Company with banks or financial institutions are in agreement 
with the books of accounts

16.3 	The Company has satisfied all the loan covenants.	

16.4 	As at March 31 2022, the Company had available INR 242 Crores (As at March 31 2021: INR 630 Crores) of undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities. 

16.5 	The Company's long term borrowings under indian rupees carry interest rate in range of 6.60% to 8.4% p.a. (excluding TUFS 
benefit availed in few Textile loans)

16.6 	The Company's long term borrowings under foreign currency carry interest rate of 3.21% p.a.
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	 17B	 Short term provisions

	 17C	Other non-current liabilities

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

 Provision for compensated absences  11.47  12.24 
 Provision for gratuity (Refer Note 32)  -    2.12 
 Other Provision  0.44 

 11.91  14.36 

Category	
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Opening Balance  0.73  -   
Received during the year  0.15  0.87 
Released to the statement of profit and loss (0.88)  (0.14)
Closing Balance  -    0.73 
Current  -    0.03 
Non-current  -    0.70 

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Deferred income - Government grants  -    0.70 
Others  -    0.70 

17	 Provisions

	 (A) 	 Long term provisions

Particulars Provision for mines restoration *

As at April 1, 2020  6.27 
Arising during the year  0.77 
Utilised  (4.02)
As at March 31, 2021  3.02 
Arising during the year  7.17 
Utilised  (2.57)
As at March 31, 2022  7.62 

		  *The parent company provides for the estimated expenditure required to restore quarries and mines. The total estimate of restoration expenses is 
apportioned over the period of estimated mineral reserves and a provision is made based on minerals extracted during the year. The total estimate 
of restoration expenses is reviewed periodically, on the basis of technical estimates.

		  Ministry of Textiles has released TUF capital subsidy amounting to INR 0.15 (March 31, 2021 INR 0.87) crore under the 
Scheme of “Technology Upgradation Scheme (Amended)”. Ministry of Textiles has approved the subsidy for purchase 
of certain items of Property, Plant and Equipment. In previous year company has given Bank guarantee to the ministry to 
Textiles to release the capital subsidy. 
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18	 Trade payables

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

(a)	 Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  41.67  23.43 
(b)	 Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises
 301.17  353.19 

Trade payable ageing schedule :  342.84  376.62 

Particulars	

Outstanding for following  periods from 
due date of  payment

 Total 
 Less than    

1 year 
 1-2 years 

 2-3 
years 

 More  than  
3 years 

 

(i)	 Micro enterprises and small enterprises 
(MSME)

As at 31-03-2022  41.67  -    -    -    41.67 
As at 31-03-2021  23.42  -    0.01  0.00  23.43 
(ii)	 Others
As at 31-03-2022  291.89  4.48  2.03  2.77  301.17 
As at 31-03-2021  344.71  3.56  3.10  1.82  353.19 

	 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on around 90 days terms. There are no dues payable to related parties

	 Information as required to be furnished as per section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 
(MSMED Act) for the year ended March 31, 2022 is given below. This  information has been determined to the extent such parties 
have been identified on the basis of information available with the holding Company.

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

i) 	 Principal amount and interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier 
covered under MSMED Act:

	 Principal  41.67  23.43 
	 Interest  -    0.44 
ii)	 The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section16, of the MSMED 

Act, 2006 along with the amounts of the payment made to the supplier beyond 
the appointed day during each accounting year

	 Principal  25.14  43.59 
	 Interest  0.45  0.80 
iii)	 The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making 

payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the 
year) but without adding the interest specified under MSMED Act

 -    -   

iv)	 The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each 
accounting year

 -    0.44 

v)   The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the 
succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above are actually 
paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible 
expenditure under section 23 of the MSMED Act, 2006

 -    0.44 
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19A Derivative instruments

19B Other current financial liabilities

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Foreign exchange forward contracts  1.46  -   
Total derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss  1.46  -   

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Other financial liabilities
Dealer deposits*  5.02  6.24 
Security deposits  0.95  0.87 
Capital creditors  28.11  18.18 
Unpaid dividend  4.52  4.26 
Interest accrued  0.11  0.44 
Others**  300.70  4.87 

 339.41  34.86 

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Statutory dues  43.92  13.93 
Deferred income (Refer Note 17C)  -    0.03 
Liability towards Corporate Social Responsibility ( Refer Note 28)  -    0.77 
Others  1.40  3.14 

 45.32  17.87 

	 Derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss reflect the positive change in fair value of those foreign exchange 
forward contracts that are not designated in hedge relationships, but are, nevertheless, intended to reduce the level of foreign 
currency risk for expected sales and purchases.

	 *Dealer deposits for Soda Ash division are interest bearing and have an average term of around 75 days. Interest payable is normally settled annually. 
Other than dealer deposits for soda ash division all other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of around 75 days.

	 **Includes amount received from M/s Indo count Industries Limited of Rs. 300 Crore in current year on account of sale of Vapi division, Refer Note 48

20	 Other liabilities
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Segment

For the year ended  
March 31, 2022

 Total  

For the year ended 
 March 31, 2021  Total 

 Inorganic 
Chemicals Textiles Inorganic 

Chemicals  Textiles

Type of goods or service 
Sale of manufactures products 
Sale of Soda Ash  2,625.74  -    2,625.74  1,670.02  -    1,670.02 
Sale of Textile products  -    920.49  920.49  -    609.23  609.23 
Sale of Consumer products  15.44  -    15.44  40.70  -    40.70 
Sale of traded products  -    -    -    -   
Sale of Consumer products  24.31  -    24.31  0.37  -    0.37 
Sale of Chemicals  192.38  -    192.38  170.86  -    170.86 
Total revenue from contracts with customers  2,857.87  920.49  3,778.36  1,881.95  609.23  2,491.18 
India  2,704.66  808.61  3,513.27  1,816.34  569.11  2,385.45 
Outside India  153.20  111.88  265.09  65.61  40.12  105.73 
Total revenue from contracts with customers  2,857.87  920.49  3,778.36  1,881.95  609.23  2,491.18 
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time  2,857.87  920.49  3,778.36  1,881.95  609.23  2,491.18 
Services transferred over time  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Total revenue from contracts with customers  2,857.87  920.49  3,778.36  1,881.95  609.23  2,491.18 

Segment

For the year ended  
March 31, 2022

 Total  

For the year ended 
 March 31, 2021  Total 

 Inorganic 
Chemicals Textiles Inorganic 

Chemicals  Textiles

Revenue
External customer*  2,857.87  920.49  3,778.36  1,881.95  609.23  2,491.18 
Inter-segment  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 2,857.87  920.49  3,778.36  1,881.95  609.23  2,491.18 
Inter-segment adjustment and elimination  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Total revenue from contracts with customers  2,857.87  920.49  3,778.36  1,881.95  609.23  2,491.18 

21	 Revenue from operations-Revenue from contracts with customers	

	 1)	 Disaggregated revenue information

		  Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers: 

		  Set out below, is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the 
segment information

		  * Sale of Yarn to Home Textile undertaking at Vapi unit in normal course of business has been considered by the Company as part of its revenue 
from continued operations.	
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Trade receivables *  229.44  228.36 
Contract liabilities
-	 Advances from customers**  7.08  3.91 

Particulars
For the year 

ended  
March 31, 2022

For the year 
ended  

March 31, 2021

Revenue as per contracted price  3,933.72  2,658.76 
Adjustments
Sales return  (2.02)  (0.14)
Rebate  0.17  (0.18)
Discount  (153.51)  (167.26)
Revenue from contract with customers  3,778.36  2,491.18 

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Advances from customers (Refer Note 21.2)  7.08  3.91 
 7.08  3.91 

21	 Revenue from contracts with customers (Contd.)

	 2)	 Contract balances

		  The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with 
customers

		  * Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 45 to 180 days.

		  ** Advances from customers relate to payments received in advance of performance under the contract. Advances from customers are recognized 
as revenue as (or when) the Group performs under the contract.	

	 3)	 Reconciling the amount of revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with the contracted price

	 4)	 The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 
March 31, 2022 are, as follows:

		  Management expects that the entire transaction price allotted to the unsatisfied contract as at the end of the reporting 
period will be recognised as revenue during the next financial year.
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22	 Other income

23	 Cost of raw material consumed ( Refer Note 42) 

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Interest income from financial assets measured at amortised cost
-	 from bank deposits  0.39  0.53 
Dividend income  0.05  -   
Other non-operating income
Gain on foreign exchange (net)  0.98  1.28 
Profit on sale of investments  0.51  1.27 
Rental income  1.33  0.41 
Sale of scrap  6.77  3.42 
Miscellaneous income  2.11  0.55 

 12.14  7.46 

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Inventory at the beginning of the year  314.70  376.09 
Add: Purchases  1,734.13  888.41 

 2,048.83  1,264.50 
Less: inventory at the end of the year  (559.71)  (314.70)
Cost of raw material consumed  1,489.12  949.80 

24	 (Increase)/decrease in inventories of finished goods, stock-in-trade and work-in-progress

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Opening stock
Finished Goods  195.82  207.47 
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Finished Goods  (95.01)  (89.02)
Stock in Process  62.96  54.11 
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Finished Goods  (45.50)  (37.35)
Stock in trade  22.32  18.21 
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Stock in trade  -   

 140.59  153.42 
Closing stock 
Finished Goods  99.09  195.82 
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Finished Goods  (2.28)  (95.01)
Stock in Process  27.92  62.96 
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Finished Goods  (45.50)
Stock in trade  54.33  22.32 
Adjustment on account of discontinued operations-Stock in trade  -   

 179.06  140.59 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories of finished goods, stock-in-trade and work-
in-progress

 (38.47)  12.83 
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25	 Employee benefit expenses

26	 Depreciation and amortization expense

27	 Finance costs

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Salaries, wages and bonus  134.04  111.22 
Contribution to provident and other funds  9.44  8.42 
Share based payment expenses (Refer Note 33)  0.04  1.56 
Gratuity expenses (Refer Note 32)  2.96  2.44 
Staff welfare expenses  6.75  4.91 

 153.23  128.55 

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Depreciation of tangible assets (Refer Note 3)  112.38  107.38 
Amortization of intangible assets (Refer Note 4)  2.91  2.59 
Depreciation of Right-of-use assets (Refer Note 34)  1.49  1.43 

 116.78  111.40 

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Interest on borrowings  48.28  69.86 
(Net of TUF interest subsidy amounting to INR 2.12 Crore (March 31, 2021 INR 
0.57 Crore ))
Exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs  3.91  0.14 
Interest others  0.40  (4.17)
Bank charges  5.59  5.77 
Interest on lease liabilities (Refer note 34)  1.41  1.43 
Interest on tax matters  3.98  1.29 

 63.57  74.32 

28	 Other expenses

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Consumption of stores and spares  66.06  49.75 
Loss due to flood  4.40  -   
Other manufacturing expenses  37.38  32.47 
Packing expenses  58.84  44.74 
Bad debts - written off  0.33  1.57 
Freight and forwarding  53.44  29.83 
Commission on sales  7.88  5.16 
Advertisement and business promotion expenses  -    0.55 
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28	 Other expenses (Contd.)

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

To Statutory auditor:
Audit fee  0.57  0.45 
Limited review  0.75  0.75 
In other capacity
Other services (certification fees)  0.33  0.15 
Reimbursements of expenses  0.02  0.02 

 1.67  1.37 
To Cost auditor
Audit fee  0.03  0.03 
Reimbursements of expenses  0.00  0.00 

 0.03  0.03 

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Travelling and conveyance  8.67  6.53 
Rent  3.09  3.59 
Repairs and maintenance
	 Plant and machinery  22.52  15.10 
	 Buildings  1.69  1.50 
	 Others  7.80  6.14 
Rates and taxes  1.37  1.14 
Insurance  16.42  15.72 
Deficit on sale/discarding of PPE (Net)  2.84  8.66 
Commission to non whole time directors  3.54  1.77 
Communication expenses  1.10  1.06 
Legal and professional expenses  17.35  11.60 
Donation  0.06  0.03 
Donation to political parties  -    0.10 
CSR expenditure (refer details below)  9.85  9.80 
Miscellaneous expenses  13.22  11.76 

 337.85  258.57 

	 Payment to auditors

	 Details of CSR expenditure

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

(a)	 Gross amount required to be spent by the 
Group during the year

 9.79 9.80

(b)	 Amount approved by the Board to be spent 
during the year

9.83 9.80
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Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

(e)	 Details related to spent / unspent obligations:
	 i)	 Contribution to Public Trust   -   
	 ii)	 Contribution to Charitable Trust  9.85  9.03 
	 iii)	 Unspent amount in relation to:  -   
		  -	 Ongoing project  0.77 
		  -	 Other than ongoing project  -   

	 Details of ongoing project and other than ongoing project

Opening Balance Amount 
required to 

be spent 
during the 

year 

Amount spent during the year Closing Balance

With Company 
In Separate CSR 

Unspent A/c

From 
Company’s 

bank A/c 

From 
Separate 

CSR 
Unspent A/c

 
With 

Company 
 

In Separate 
CSR 

Unspent A/c

-  0.77  9.79  9.85  0.77 - -

	 *MCA has notified Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Amendment Rules, 2021, Companies (Amendment) Act 2019, Companies 
(Amendment) Act 2020. The notification states that “any amount remaining unspent under section 135 (5), pursuant to any ongoing project, fulfilling 
such conditions as may be prescribed, undertaken by a company in pursuance of its Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, shall be transferred by 
the Company within a period of thirty days from the end of the financial year to a special account to be opened by the Company in that behalf for that 
financial year in any scheduled bank to be called the Unspent Corporate Social Responsibility Account, and such amount shall be spent by the company 
in pursuance of its obligation towards the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy within a period of three financial years from the date of such transfer, 
failing which, the Company shall transfer the same to a fund specified in Schedule VII, within a period of thirty days from the date of completion of the 
third financial year”.

29	 Components of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Particulars FVTOCI reserve Retained earnings  Total

The disaggregation of changes to OCI by each type of reserve 
in equity is shown below:
During the year ended March 31, 2022
Re-measurement losses on defined measurement plans  0.33  0.33 
Re-measurement of investment in equity  1.32  1.32 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  0.14  0.14 

 1.46  0.33  1.79 

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

(c)	 Amount spent during the year ending on 
March 31, 2022:

 In cash 
 Yet to be 

paid in cash*
 Total

 

	 i)	 Construction / acquisition of any asset 0.00  0.00 
	 ii)	 On purpose other than (i) above  9.85  9.85 
(d)	 Amount spent during the year ending on 

March 31, 2021:
 In cash 

 Yet to be 
paid in cash*

 Total 

	 i)	 Construction / acquisition of any asset  0.02  0.02 
	 ii)	 On purpose other than (i) above  9.01  0.77  9.78 

28	 Other expenses (Contd.)

	 Details of CSR expenditure

GHCL Limited Integrated Annual  Report  2021-22

372

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores)



29	 Components of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

30	 Earnings per share

	 Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by weighted 
average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.

	 Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average 
number of Equity shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of Equity shares that would be issued 
on conversion of all the dilutive potential Equity shares into Equity shares.

	 The following reflects the income and share data used in computation of Basic EPS:

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Continuing operations  598.30  306.84 
Discontinued operation  48.40  19.28 
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for basic earnings  646.70  326.12 
Weighted average number of equity shares for basic EPS  95,253,697  95,013,286 
Basic earnings per share (Face value of INR 10/- per share)
Continuing operations  62.81  32.29 
Discontinued operation  5.08  2.03 
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
Continuing operations  598.30  306.84 
Discontinued operation  48.40  19.28 
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent adjusted for the effect of 
dilution

 646.70  326.12 

weighted average number of equity shares and common equivalent shares 
outstanding*

 95,545,654  95,262,327 

Diluted earnings per equity share -  (Face value of INR 10/- per share)
Continuing operations  62.62  32.21 
Discontinued operation  5.07  2.02 

Particulars FVTOCI reserve Retained earnings  Total

The disaggregation of changes to OCI by each type of reserve 
in equity is shown below:
During the year ended March 31, 2021
Re-measurement losses on defined measurement plans  -    (1.22)  (1.22)
Re-measurement of investment in equity  5.95  5.95 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  2.87  2.87 
Total  8.82  (1.22)  7.60 
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29	 Earnings per share (contd.)

	 *Weighted average number of Equity shares adjusted for the effect of dilution

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic EPS  95,253,697  95,013,286 
Effect of dilution:
Employee share option scheme  291,957  249,041 
Weighted average number of equity shares and common equivalent shares 
outstanding

 95,545,654  95,262,327 

31	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions	

	 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses and the accompanying disclosures. Uncertainty about the assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets or liabilities affected in future years.

	 Other disclosures relating to the Company’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes: 

	 •	 Financial risk management objectives and policies in Note 40

	 •	 Sensitivity analyses disclosures in Note 32 and Note 40

	 •	 Estimation uncertainty relating to the Global health pandemic on Covid 19 in Note 50

	 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

	 Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:	

	 (i)	 Judgements

	 	 In the process of applying the accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the Group’s financial statements:

		  Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee 

		  The Group evaluates if an arrangement qualifies to be a lease as per the requirements of Ind AS 116. Identification of a lease 
requires significant judgment. The Group uses significant judgement in assessing the lease term (including anticipated 
renewals) and the applicable discount rate.

		  “The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable year of a lease, together with both years covered by an option to 
extend the lease if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and years covered by an option to terminate the 
lease if the Group is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. In assessing whether the Group is reasonably certain 
to exercise an option to extend a lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate a lease, it considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option to extend the lease, or not to exercise 
the option to terminate the lease. The Group revises the lease term if there is a change in the non-cancellable period of a 
lease.”	
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31	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions	 (Contd.)

		  Revenue from contracts with customers

	 	 The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue 
from contracts with customers:

		  Revenues from customer contracts are considered for recognition and measurement when the contract has been approved, 
in writing, by the parties to the contract, the parties to contract are committed to perform the irrespective obligations under 
the contract, and the contract is legally enforceable.

		  The Group’s contracts with customers could include promises to transfer multiple product. The Group assesses the products 
promised in a contract and identifies distinct performance obligations in the contract. Identification of distinct performance 
obligation involves judgement to determine the deliverables and the ability of the customer to benefit independently from 
such deliverables.

		  “Judgement is also required to determine the transaction price for the contract and to ascribe the transaction price to 
each distinct performance obligation. The transaction price could be either a fixed amount of customer consideration 
or variable consideration with elements such as volume discounts, cash discount, price concessions and incentives. 
The transaction price is also adjusted for the effects of the time value of money if the contract includes a significant 
financing component. Any consideration payable to the customer is adjusted to the transaction price, unless it 
is a payment for a distinct product from the customer. The estimated amount of variable consideration is adjusted in 
the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognised will not occur and is reassessed at the end of each reporting year. The Group allocates the 
elements of variable considerations to all the performance obligations of the contract unless there is observable 
evidence that they pertain to one or more distinct performance obligations.	

		  Provisions and contingencies

	 	 The assessments undertaken in recognising provisions and contingencies have been made in accordance with Ind AS 37, 
‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’. The evaluation of the likelihood of the contingent events has 
required best judgment by management regarding the probability of exposure to potential loss.

		  Assessment of Equity instruments

	 	 The Group has designated investments in equity instruments as FVTOCI investments since the group expects to hold these 
investment with no intention to sale. The difference between the instrument’s fair value and Indian GAAP carrying amount 
has been recognized in retained earnings.

	 (ii)	 Estimates and assumptions

	 	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change 
due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in 
the assumptions when they occur.

		  Impairment of non-financial assets	

	 	 Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based 
on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices 
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows 
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are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet 
committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the CGU being tested. The 
recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows 
and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to impairment assessment of 
property plant and equipment and investment in subsidiary companies, recognised by the Company. Company has done 
the impairment assessment of Home Textile Division during the previous year.

		  Share-based payments

	 	 For the measurement of the fair value of equity-settled transactions with employees at the grant date, the Group uses a 
Black-Scholes model for employee share option plan (GESP).The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for 
share based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 33.

		  Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

	 `	 The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on a number of factors including the effects of 
obsolescence, demand, competition, internal assessment of user experience and other economic factors (such as the 
stability of the industry and known technological advances) and the level of maintenance expenditure required to obtain 
the expected future cash flows from the asset. The Group reviews the useful life of property, plant and equipment at the 
end of each reporting date.	

	 	 Post-retirement benefit plans

	 	 Employee benefit obligations (gratuity obligation) are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the 
discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term 
nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at 
each reporting date. Further details about gratuity obligations are given in Note 32.

		  Fair value measurement of financial instruments

	 	 When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on 
quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the DCF model. The inputs 
to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement 
is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and 
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Refer 
Note 39 for further disclosures.

	 	 Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

	 	 The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate 
(IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no 
observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group 
estimates the IBR using observable inputs when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

		  Judgements, estimates and assumptions for Dicontinued operations

		  a)	 Sale of Yarn to Home Textile undertaking at Vapi unit in normal course of business has been considered by the Company 
as part of its revenue from continued operations.

31	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions	 (Contd.)
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32	 Defined benefit and contribution plan
	 Defined contribution plan

	 The Company makes contributions towards provident fund and superannuation fund to a defined contribution retirement 
benefit plan for qualifying employees. Under the plan, the Company is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll 
cost to the retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. Contribution paid for provident fund and superannuation fund are 
recognised as expense for the year :

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Employer's contribution to provident fund/pension scheme  9.86  8.86 
Employer's contribution to superannuation fund  1.34  1.42 

	 Defined benefit plan

	 Gratuity (funded)

	 The employees’ gratuity fund scheme managed by a trust is a defined benefit plan. The present value of the obligation is 
determined based on actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method, which recognises each year of service as 
giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation.

	 Employees who are in continuous service for a year of 5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of gratuity payable to an 
employee upon leaving the company is the 50% of Fixed cost to company per month computed proportionately for 15/26 days 
salary multiplied for the number of years of service. The gratuity plan is a funded plan and the Company makes contributions to 
Group Gratuity Trust registered under Income Tax Act-1961.

	 The most recent actuarial valuation of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation for gratuity were 
carried out as at 31 March 2022. The present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost and 
past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

	 The plan assets are managed by the Gratuity Trust formed by the Company. The management of 100% of the funds is entrusted 
according to norms of Gratuity Trust, whose pattern of investment is available with the Company.

 31	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions	 (Contd.)

		  b)	 Pursuant to the terms of the BTA, certain assets pertaining to HT Business are pass through in nature (i.e. the beneficial 
ownership of these assumed assets continued to be with the Company) such as export incentives receivable, claims 
receivables which would be transferred immediately to the Company by the Purchaser whenever received post-closing 
date. Consequently, such receivables have been retained by the Company and is forming part of the continuing 
operations.

		  c) 	 Contingent liabilities of the HT Business have been reported on the basis of list of assumed litigations read with excluded 
liabilities as per the terms specified in the BTA subject to the amendments and substitution vide Supplemental BTA.
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32	 Defined benefit and contribution plan (Contd.)

Particulars

Gratuity cost charged to profit or loss Re-measurement (gains) / losses in other comprehensive income

As at 
March 31, 

2021

As at 
April 1, 

2020

Service 
cost

Net 
interest 

expense/ 
(Income)

Amount 
included in 

profit or loss 
-discontinued 

operations

Sub-total 
included in 

profit 
or loss 

-Continued 
operations *

Benefits 
paid

Return on 
plan assets 
(excluding 

amounts 
included in 

net 
interest 

expense)

Actuarial 
changes 

arising from 
changes in 

financial 
assumptions/
Demographic 
Assumptions

Experience 
adjustments

Subtotal 
included 

in OCI

Contributions 
by employer

Defined 
benefit 
obligation

43.25  2.88  2.85  0.29  5.44  (3.07)  1.13  2.13  3.26  49.17 

Fair value of 
plan assets

 42.61  (2.81)  (2.81)  -    (1.63)  (1.63)  -    47.05 

Benefit 
liability

 0.64  0.29  2.63  1.63  2.12 

	 Changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets (in respect of gratuity fund) As at March 31, 2022

	 Changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets (in respect of gratuity fund) as at 31st March 2021:

	 The major categories of plan assets of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows:

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Insurance fund  50.31  47.05 
The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity are:
Mortality table - LIC Indian Assured 

Lives Mortality 
2012-14 (Urban)

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2006-08)
Discount rate 6.84% 6.49%
Estimated rate of return on plan assets 6.84% 6.49%
Estimated future salary growth 8.00% 7.00%
Rate of employee turnover 11.00% 11.00%

Particulars

Gratuity cost charged to profit or loss Re-measurement (gains) / losses in other comprehensive income

As at  
March 31, 

2022

As at 
April 01, 

2021

Service 
cost

Net 
interest 

expense/ 
(Income)

Amount 
included in 

profit or loss 
-discontinued 

operations

Sub-total 
included in 

profit 
or loss 

-Continued 
operations *

Benefits 
paid

Return on 
plan assets 
(excluding 

amounts 
included in 

net 
interest 

expense)

Actuarial 
changes 

arising from 
changes in 

financial 
assumptions/
Demographic 
Assumptions

Experience 
adjustments

Subtotal 
included 

in OCI

Contributions 
by employer

Defined 
benefit 
obligation

 49.17  3.36  3.19  0.40  6.15  (5.67)  1.10  (1.33)  (0.24)  49.81 

Fair value of 
plan assets

 47.05  (3.05)  (3.05)  -    (0.21)  (0.21)  -    50.31 

Benefit 
liability

 2.12  0.40  3.10  (0.45)  (0.50)

	 * The Gratuity Cost charged to profit or loss amounting INR 0.14 crores. (Previous Year INR 0.19 crores) pertains to employees of captive production 
units and has been included in Raw material and power & fuel costs as explained in Note No. 42
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32	 Defined benefit and contribution plan (Contd.)
	 A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at March 31, 2022 is as shown below:

	 A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at March 31, 2021 is as shown below:

Assumptions Employee turnover Salary Discount rate

Sensitivity level
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease

Impact on defined benefit obligation  (0.18)  0.19  1.81  (1.67)  (1.67)  1.85 

Assumptions Employee turnover Salary Discount rate

Sensitivity level
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease

Impact on defined benefit obligation  (0.11)  0.12  1.74  (1.60)  (1.60)  1.76 

	 The following payments are projected benefits payable in future years from the date of reporting from the fund:

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting year)  15.56  14.73 
2nd Following Year  5.54  6.38 
3rd Following Year  6.93  6.48 
4th Following Year  5.35  5.89 
5th Following Year  4.95  4.56 
Sum of Years 6 to 10  14.03  14.10 
Total expected payments  52.36  52.14 

	 The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting year is 5 years (31 March 2021: 5 years).

	 Risks associated with defined benefit plan

	 Gratuity is a defined benefit plan and company is exposed to the Following Risks:

Interest rate Risk:  A fall in the discount rate which is linked to the G.Sec. Rate will increase the present value 
of the liability requiring higher proportion. A fall in the discount rate generally increases the 
mark to market value of the assets depending on the duration of asset.

Salary Risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
future salaries of members. As such, an increase in the salary of the members more than 
assumed level will increase the plan’s liability.

Investment Risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate 
which is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting year on 
government bonds. If the return on plan asset is below this rate, it will create a plan 
deficit. Currently, for the plan in India, it has a relatively balanced mix of investments in 
government securities, and other debt instruments.

Asset Liability Matching Risk: The plan faces the ALM risk as to the matching cash flow. Since the plan is invested in lines 
of Rule 101 of Income Tax Rules, 1962, this generally reduces ALM Risk.	

Mortality Risk: Since the benefits under the plan is not payable for life time and payable till retirement age 
only, plan does not have any longevity risk.

Concentration Risk: Plan is having a concentration risk all the assets are invested with the insurance company 
and a default will wipe out all the assets. Although probability of this is very low as insurance 
companies have to follow regulatory guidelines which mitigate risk.
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33	 Share based compensation

	 In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (share based employee benefits) Regulations, 2014 and the 
guidance Note on accounting for ‘Employees share-based payments, the scheme detailed below is managed and administered, 
compensation benefits in respect of the scheme is assessed and accounted by the company. To have an understanding of the 
scheme, relevant disclosures are given below.

	 a)	 As approved by the shareholders at their Annual General Meeting held on 23rd July 2015, the Company has got 50,00,000 
number of Options under the employee stock option scheme “GHCL ESOS 2015”. The following details show the actual 
status of ESOS granted during the financial year ended on March 31, 2022.

	 b)	 During the year 25,000 equity share options lapsed upon cessation of employment. 

		  The relevant details of the Scheme are as under:

Particulars Grant 3 Grant 5 Grant 6

Date of grant 24/10/2017 24/10/2017 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Date of board approval 24/10/2017 24/10/2017 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Date of shareholder's 
approval

23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015

Number of options 
granted

 25,000  25,000  610,000  610,000  15,000  15,000 

Method of settlement Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity
Vesting year (see table 
below)
Fair value on the date of 
grant (In Rs)

110.59 123.20  161.33  183.41  183.41  192.68 

Exercise year 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years

Vesting conditions
As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

Vesting year from the 
Grant date

Grant 3 Grant 5 Grant 6

On completion of 12 
months

 25,000  -    610,000  -    -    -   

On completion of 24 
months

 -    25,000  -    -    -    -   

On completion of 36 
months

 -    -    -    610,000  15,000 

On completion of 48 
months

 -    -    -    15,000 

		  Details of the vesting year are:
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As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021

Total No. of 
Stock options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Total No. of 
Stock options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Options outstanding at beginning of year  667,500  150  827,500  150 
Options granted during the year  -    -    -    -   
Options forfeited/lapsed during the year  25,000  150  160,000  150 
Options exercised during the year  337,500  -    -    -   
Options expired during the year  -    -    -    -   
Options outstanding at end of year  305,000  150  667,500  150 
Options vested but not exercised during the year  7,500  170  112,500  151 

Particulars Grant 7 Grant 8

Date of grant 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Date of board approval 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Date of shareholder's approval 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015 23/07/2015
Number of options granted  25,000  25,000  60,000  60,000  60,000 
Method of settlement Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity
Vesting year (see table below)
Fair value on the date of grant (In Rs)  183.41  192.68  183.41  192.68  200.98 
Exercise year 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years 5 Years
Vesting conditions As per policy 

approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

As per policy 
approved by 
Shareholders

Vesting year from the Grant date Grant 7 Grant 8

On completion of 36 months  25,000  -    60,000  -    -   
On completion of 48 months  -    25,000  -    60,000  -   
On completion of 60 months  -    -    -    -    60,000 

33	 Share based compensation (Contd.)

		  Details of the vesting year are:

		  Set out below is a summary of options granted under the plan:		

Particulars

As at March 31, 2022 Total

Grant 3 Grant 5 Grant 6
Number of  

optionsNumber of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  5,000  2,500  105,000  445,000  10,000  10,000  577,500 
Granted during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Forfeited during the year  -    -    -    25,000  -    -    25,000 
Exercised during the year  -    -    105,000  210,000  5,000  -    320,000 
Expired during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Outstanding at the end of the year  5,000  2,500  -    210,000  5,000  10,000  232,500 
Exercisable at the end of the year  5,000  2,500  -    -    -    -    7,500 
Weighted average remaining 
contractual life (in years)

 -    -    -    -    -    0.07 

Weighted average fair value of 
options granted during the year

 110.59  123.20  161.33  183.41  183.41  192.68 

		  The details of activity of the Scheme have been summarized below:-
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Particulars Grant 3 Grant 5 Grant 6

Date of grant 24/10/2017 24/10/2017 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Stock price at the date of 
grant

251.05 251.05 286.5 286.5 286.5 286.5

Exercise price 170 170 150 150 150 150
Expected volatility 36.77 36.77 39.51% 39.51% 39.51% 39.51%
Expected life of the option 2 3 2 4 4 5
Risk free interest rate (%) 6.762 6.762  7.647  7.647  7.647  7.647 
Weighted average fair 
value as on grant date

 110.59  123.20 161.33 183.41  183.41  192.68 

Particulars
Grant 7 Grant 8 Total

Grand 
Total of 

ESOS

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Number of  
options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  15,000  15,000  20,000  20,000  20,000  90,000  667,500 
Granted during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
Forfeited during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -    25,000 
Exercised during the year  7,500  -    10,000  -    -    17,500  337,500 
Expired during the year  -    -    -    -    -   
Outstanding at the end of the year  7,500  15,000  10,000  20,000  20,000  72,500  305,000 
Exercisable at the end of the year  -    -    -    -    -    -    7,500 
Weighted average remaining 
contractual life (in years)

 -    0.07  -    0.07  1.07 

Weighted average fair value of 
options granted during the year

 183.41  192.68  183.41  192.68  200.98 

Particulars Grant 7 Grant 8

Date of grant 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018 25/04/2018
Stock price at the date of grant 286.5 286.5 286.5 286.5 286.5
Exercise price 150 150 150 150 150
Expected volatility 39.51% 39.51% 39.51% 39.51% 39.51%
Expected life of the option 4 5 4 5 6
Risk free interest rate (%)  7.647  7.647  7.647  7.647  7.647 
Weighted average fair value as on grant date 183.41 192.68 183.41  192.68  200.98 

34	 Leases	
	 Company as a lessee

	 The Company has lease contracts for various items of Building and Salt works (fields taken on lease for salt production) in its 
operations. Leases of Building generally have lease terms between 1 and 10 years, while salt works generally have lease terms 
between 3 and 30 years. The Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. 
Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets and some contracts require the Company 
to maintain certain financial ratios. There are no major lease contracts that include extension and termination options and 
variable lease payments.

33	 Share based compensation (Contd.)
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34	 Leases	

	 Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period:

Particulars Leasehold building Saltworks Total

At 1st April 2020 6.31 7.42  13.73 
Additions -  -   
Depreciation expense (1.03) (0.49)  (1.52)
Termination  (0.05)  (0.05)
As at 1st April 2021  5.23  6.93  12.16 
Additions 7.70 0.00  7.70 
Depreciation expense-Continue operations (1.11) (0.38) (1.49)
Depreciation expense-Discontinue operations (1.15) (1.15)
Termination (0.13) 0.00 (0.13)
As at 31 March 2022  10.54  6.55  17.09 

	 Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under interest-bearing loans and borrowings) and 
the movements during the period:

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Balance at the beginning of the year  14.01  14.60 
Additions  7.70  -   
Accretion of interest-Continue operations  1.41  1.43 
Accretion of interest-Discontinue operations  0.26 
Payments  (3.23)  (2.02)
Termination  (0.04)  -   
Balance at the end of the year  20.11  14.01 
Current  2.21  0.68 
Non-current  17.90  13.33 
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 40.
The effective interest rate for lease liabilities is 10%.

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets  1.49  1.52 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  1.41  1.43 
Expense relating to short-term leases* 3.81  3.90 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss  5.99  6.85 

	 The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

	 The Group had total cash outflows for leases of INR 7.04 crores in March 31, 2022 (INR 5.92 crores in March 31, 2021). There are no non-cash additions 
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. There are no future cash outflows relating to leases that have not yet commenced.

	 * Expenses relating to Short - term leases includes figures from continued and discontinued operations amounting Rs. 3.09 Crores & Rs. 0.72 Crores 
respectively (included in other expenses).
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Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

(a)	 Estimated value of contracts remaining to be executed on Capital Account 
and not provided for

 293.67  57.71 

(b)	 Contingent liabilities :
	 - 	 Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts*
	 -	 Income tax**  12.78  158.27 
	 -	 Sales tax / VAT  0.04  0.04 
	 -	 Excise, custom & service tax  127.36  127.12 
	 -	 Unpaid labour dues#  4.57  4.57 
	 -	 Other claims##  17.93  18.26 

35	 Commitments and contingencies

	 * Cases pending before appellate authorities/dispute resolution panel in respect of which the Company has filed appeals.

	 On the basis of current status of individual case for respective years and as per legal advice obtained by the company, wherever applicable, the 
company is confident of winning the above cases and is of the view that no provision is required in respect of above cases.		

	 ** ‘In previous year, an order passed by Income Tax Appellate Tribunal (ITAT), Ahmedabad dated March 05, 2021, ITAT has disposed off cases pertaining 
to AY 2009-10, AY 2010-11, AY 2011-12, AY 2012-13, AY 2013-14 and AY 2014-15 and decided in favour of the company. As the Income Tax Authorities (the 
Department) has not filed an appeal to the High Count against the Appellate Tribunal’s order within stipulated time, therefore the amount pertains to 
above mentioned assessment years i.e. INR 154.65 Crores is not considered as contingent liability as on 31st March 2022. 

	 # Government of India vide its notification dated March 29, 2021, issued under the National Disaster Management Act 2005, directed that all employers 
shall make full payment of wages, of their workers at their workplaces, for the period of closure under the lockdown. Subsequently on the petition filed 
by some of the employers against the aforementioned notification , the Honourable Supreme Court of India, passed an interim order dated June 12, 
2021 and directed employers to enter into a negotiation and settlement with workers for wages payment during the lockdown period. The aforesaid 
notification also stands withdrawn w.e.f May 18, 2021. In the meanwhile, the Company had made payments to its workers and will do the final settlement 
if any as per  the final order of the Honourable Supreme Court of India. If the Honourable Supreme Court upheld the notification of Government of 
India  the Company will have to pay further wages of Rs. 4.57 Crores to the workers, whereas based on the management’s assessment the chances of 
the same is remote. 	

	 ##Claims under this heading relate to legal cases pending in different courts under the jurisdiction of Gujarat High Court and the courts subordinate to 
it. Some of the cases relates to execution of ex-parte foreign decrees which are not enforceable in India. Certain claims relate to contractor’s workmen, 
whose services have been terminated by the concerned contractor and the matter is in between the contractor and their workmen and GHCL is 
made a party to the dispute only. Other cases relate to some ex-workmen who after opting VRS scheme duly approved by the regional Labour Officer 
challenged the same and this case is a week case since workmen have already lost one round of litigation till Hon’ble SC where directions were issued to 
deposit the entire amount received during VRS before initiating the legal proceedings. Apart from theses certain civil disputes are also pending which 
on merit are weak and GHCL has fair chances in winning these cases.

	 These include claims against the Company for recovery lodged by various parties.
	 The aforesaid Appendix did not have an impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

(c)	 Guarantees:
	 Corporate guarantee to bank on behalf of erstwhile subsidiaries of the 

Company
 3.00  3.04 

(d)	 EPCG Commitment (value of exports) - The Company has export obligations 
to the extent INR 412.01 crores (as at March 31, 2021 INR 538.22 crores) of on 
account of concessional rates of import duties paid on capital goods under 
the Export Promotion Capital Goods Scheme enacted by the Government of 
India which is to be fulfilled over the next eight /six years. Due to the remote 
likelihood of the Company being unable to meet its export obligations, the 
Company does not anticipate a loss with respect to these obligations and 
hence has not made any provision in its financial statements.

33.74*  84.94 

	 *	 For Discontinued operation EPCG commitment is INR 4.16 Crore
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36	 Related party transactions

	 a)	 The following table provides the list of related parties and total amount of transactions that have been entered into with 
related parties for the relevant financial years

		  A)	 Key managerial personnel	

			   Mr. R. S. Jalan, Managing Director

			   Mr. Raman Chopra, CFO & Executive Director (Finance)

			   Mr. Neelabh Dalmia- Executive Director

			   Mr. Bhuwneshwar Mishra, Sr. GM- Sustainability & Company Secretary

		  B)	 Non-whole-time directors

			   Mr. Mr. Sanjay Dalmia

			   Mr. Anurag Dalmia

			   Mrs. Vijaylaxmi Joshi

			   Dr. Lavanya Rastogi

			   Dr. Manoj Vaish

			   Mr. Arun Kumar Jain

			   Justice Ravindra Singh

		  C)	 Relative of key managerial personnel	

			   Mrs. Sarita Jalan, w/o Mr. R. S. Jalan

			   Mrs. Bharti Chopra, w/o Mr. Raman Chopra

			   Mrs. Vandana Mishra, w/o Mr. Bhuwneshwar Mishra

		  D)	 Enterprises over which key managerial personnel are able to exercise significant influence	

			   Dalmia Centre for Research & Development

			   GHCL Foundation Trust

			   GHCL Employees Group Gratuity Scheme

			   Gujarat Heavy Chemical Limited Superannuation Scheme

			   Dalmia Biz Private Limited.

			   Dalmia Healthcare Limited
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	 b)	 Transactions with relative of key management personnel 

	 c)	 Transactions with enterprises over which significant influence exercised by directors	

	 d)	 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Leasing & hire purchase transactions
Mrs. Sarita Jalan, w/o Mr. R. S. Jalan 0.18 0.18
Mrs. Bharti Chopra, w/o Mr. Raman Chopra 0.12 0.12
Mrs. Vandana Mishra, w/o Mr. Bhuwneshwar Mishra 0.02 0.02

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Royalty paid
Dalmia Centre for Research & Development  -    0.02 
Rent & Other Receipts
Dalmia Biz Private Limited.  -    0.03 
Dalmia Healthcare Limited  -    0.03 
Net contribution
GHCL Foundation Trust  9.85  9.03 
Gujarat Heavy Chemical Limited Superannuation Scheme  1.34  1.42 

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Mr. R. S. Jalan  15.19  6.14 
Mr. Raman Chopra  8.76  3.58 
Mr. Neelabh Dalmia  2.52  1.40 
Mr. Bhuwneshwar Mishra  0.62  0.52 
Total compensation paid to key management personnel  27.09  11.64 
Short-term employee benefits  24.90  11.22 
Post-employment gratuity and medical benefits  0.48  0.42 
Share-based payment transactions (Taxable component of ESOS)  1.71  -   
Total compensation paid to key management personnel  27.09  11.64 

36	 Related party transactions (Contd.)

		  The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. 
Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no 
guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group 
has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken 
each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party 
operates.	
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36	 Related party transactions (Contd.)

	 e)	 Transactions with non-whole-time directors

	 f)	 Disclosure required under Sec 186(4) of the Companies Act 2013 (refer note 6A)

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021
Name Sitting Fees Commission Sitting Fees Commission

Mr. Sanjay Dalmia  0.036  0.900  0.020  0.450 
Mr. Anurag Dalmia  0.036  0.750  0.024  0.375 
Dr. Manoj Vaish  0.064  0.390  0.040  0.195 
Justice Ravindra Singh  0.064  0.375  0.040  0.188 
Mrs. Vijaylaxmi Joshi  0.072  0.375  0.048  0.188 
Mr. Arun Kumar Jain  0.060  0.375  0.040  0.188 
Dr. Lavanya Rastogi  0.032  0.375  0.020  0.188 

 0.36  3.54  0.23  1.77 

Name of the Loanee
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

GHCL Employee Stock Option Trust 5.53 5.70

37	 Segment information
	 The Group is primarily engaged in the business of manufacture of inorganic chemicals and textiles and based on this it has two 

reportable segments:

	 Inorganic chemicals segment majorly includes manufacture of soda ash which is an important raw material for detergent and 
glass industry. Major raw materials to manufacture soda ash are salt, limestone, coke, briquette, coal and lignite.

	 Textiles segment manufactures cotton and polyester yarn and home textile products. GHCL Limited is one of the largest 
integrated textile manufacturers in the country with own spinning, weaving and processing & dyeing and cutting & sewing 
manufacturing facility.	

	 The management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is measured 
consistently with profit or loss in the financial statements. Income taxes are managed on Company basis and are not allocated 
to Operating segments.

	 Summary of Segment information For the year ended March 31, 2022

Particulars
Inorganic 

Chemicals
Textiles

Others / 
unallocated

Total

Revenue
Total revenue  2,857.87  920.49  -    3,778.36 
Inter-segment adjustment and elimination  -    -    -    -   
Total revenue from contracts with 
customers

 2,857.87  920.49  -    3,778.36 

Segment profit  693.66  225.03  (1.14)  917.55 
Total assets 2,973.16 1,315.37 115.41  4,403.94 
Total liabilities 1,212.56 303.48  311.27  1,827.31 
Capital expenditure 83.88  29.85 -  113.73 
Depreciation and amortization 86.93  29.85 -  116.78 
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Reconciliation of profit
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Segment profit  917.55  517.84
Un- allocated expenditure  (43.18)  (25.34)
Other finance costs  (63.57)  (74.32)
Profit before tax  810.80  418.18 

	 For the year ended March 31, 2021
37	 Segment information  (Contd.)

Particulars
Inorganic 

Chemicals
Textiles

Others / 
unallocated

Total

Revenue
Total revenue  1,881.95  609.23  -    2,491.18 
Inter-segment adjustment and elimination  -    -   
Total revenue from contracts with 
customers

 1,881.95  609.23  -    2,491.18 

Segment profit  431.54  86.46  (0.16)  517.84 
Total assets  2,373.29  978.00  67.03  3,418.32 
Total liabilities  780.30  258.85  279.71  1,318.86 
Capital expenditure  112.99  10.92 -  123.91 
Depreciation and amortization  81.61  29.79  -    111.40 

	 All other adjustments and eliminations are part of detailed reconciliations presented further below.		

	 Adjustments and eliminations

	 Finance income and costs, and fair value gains and losses on financial assets are not allocated to individual segments as the 
underlying instruments are managed on a Group basis. Current taxes, deferred taxes and certain financial assets and liabilities 
are not allocated to those segments as they are also managed on a Group basis.	

	 Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

	 Reconciliations to amounts reflected in the financial statements

Inorganic chemicals
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Home textiles  2,973.16  2,373.29
Un-allocated  1,315.37  978.00 
Total assets  115.41  67.03 
Total assets  4,403.94  3,418.32 
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Revenue from external customers
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

India  3,513.27  2,385.45 
Outside India  265.09  105.73 
Total revenue per statement of profit and loss  3,778.36  2,491.18 

37	 Segment information (Contd.)

Reconciliation of liabilities
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Inorganic chemicals  1,212.56  780.3
Home textiles  303.48  258.85 
Un-allocated  311.27  279.71 
Total liabilities  1,827.31  1,318.86 

Trade receivable
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

India  193.66  161.34 
Outside India  35.78  67.02 
Total Trade Receivable  229.44  228.36 

Trade receivable
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Segment Revenue *  819.73  512.41 
Segment Results  70.37  20.39 
Segment Assets  591.43  559.54 
Segment Liabilities  82.49  174.76 

38	 Hedging activities and derivatives

	 Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments	

	 The Group is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary risks managed using derivative 
instruments are foreign currency risk.							     

	 The Group’s risk management strategy and how it is applied to manage risk are explained in Note 40.

	 The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage some of its transaction exposures. The foreign exchange forward 
contracts are not designated as cash flow hedges and are entered into for periods consistent with foreign currency exposure 
of the underlying transactions generally from one to 24 months. These contracts are not designated in hedge relationships and 
are measured at fair value through statement of profit or loss.	

	 The segment information stated above does not include the following information relating to discontinued operations

	 * For the purpose of disclosure, segment revenue of discontinued operations has been considered on a stand-alone basis without considering the 
reversal of inter-unit transfers to the division.
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38	 Hedging activities and derivatives (Contd.)

Particulars
Currency

Continuing Operation Discontinued Operation
Unhedged Exposure

Unhedged Exposure Unhedged Exposure
As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Amount 
in INR

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Amount 
in INR

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Amount 
in INR

Trade Receivables
USD  0.52  39.92  0.67  50.60  -    -   
NZD  -    -    0.03  1.69 

Current Liabilities
USD  0.05  4.00  0.02  1.45  1.02  74.85 
EUR  0.00  0.04  0.02  1.40 
CHF  0.07  5.79  0.00  0.14 
GBP  -    -    0.00  0.19  0.00  0.15 

Non-Current Liabilities
USD  0.12  9.46  0.18  12.98 

Particulars
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value

As at  
March 31, 2022

As at  
March 31, 2022

As at  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2021

Financial assets measured at fair value
Investments (refer note 5)  16.56  16.56  15.15  15.15 
Derivative instruments  -    -    4.14  4.14 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Loan to ESOS trust (refer note 11A)  5.53  5.53  5.70  5.70 
Security deposits (refer note 6A)  18.02  18.02  9.03  9.03 
On escrow account (refer note 6B)  12.08  12.08  9.79 9.79
On account of margin money deposited 
(refer note 6B)

 0.15  0.15  0.80 0.80

Subvention receivable (refer note 6B)  -    -    -   0.00
Loan to employees (refer note 11A)  2.01  2.01  2.23  2.23 
Others * (refer note 11)  0.60  0.60  1.01  1.01 
Financial liabilities at fair value
Derivative instruments ( refer note 19A)  1.46  1.46 - -
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Term loans (refer note 16A)  559.40  559.40  726.75  726.75 
Short term borrowings (refer note 16B)  208.05  208.05  41.35  41.35 

39	 Fair values

	 Set out below, is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments, other than 
those with carrying amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair values:
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39	 Fair values (Contd.)

	 The management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, Export incentives receivable, GST receivable, Subvention receivable, trade payables and other current financial 
liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The other current 
financial liabilities represents Dealer deposits, Security deposits, Capital creditors, Unpaid dividend and Interest accrued on 
bank deposits, the carrying value of which approximates the fair values as on the reporting date.	

	 *The other non-current financial assets represents bank deposits and Insurance claim receivable

	 The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:	

	 i	 The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument is exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

	 ii	 The fair values of the FVTOCI financial assets are derived from quoted market prices in active markets.

	 The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

	 Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at March 31, 2022:	

Particulars
Date of 

valuation
Carrying 

amount

Fair value measurement using
Quoted 

prices in 
active 

markets 
(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

FVTOCI financial investments
Quoted equity shares (refer note 5) March 31, 2022  15.13  15.13 

March 31, 2021  13.82  13.82 
Unquoted equity shares (refer note 5) March 31, 2022  0.16  0.16 

March 31, 2021  0.08  0.08 
Unquoted debt securities (Refer Note 5) March 31, 2022  0.04  0.04 

March 31, 2021  0.04  0.04 
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss
Derivative instruments March 31, 2022  -    -  

March 31, 2021  4.14  4.14  
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Security deposits (refer note 6A) March 31, 2022  9.84  9.84 

March 31, 2021  8.65  8.65 
Loan to ESOS trust (refer note 11A) March 31, 2022  5.53  5.53 

March 31, 2021  5.70  5.70 
Demand deposits (Refer Note 6B) March 31, 2022 0.00 0.00

March 31, 2021 0.00 0.00
On escrow account (refer note 6B) March 31, 2022 12.08 12.08

March 31, 2021 9.79 9.79
On account of margin money deposited 
(refer note 6B)

March 31, 2022 0.15 0.15
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Particulars
Date of 

valuation
Carrying 

amount

Fair value measurement using
Quoted 

prices in 
active 

markets 
(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

March 31, 2021 0.80 0.80
Subvention receivable (refer note 6B) March 31, 2022 0.00 0.00

March 31, 2021 0.00 0.00
Loan to employees (refer note 11A) March 31, 2022  2.01  2.01 

March 31, 2021  2.23  2.23 
Others (refer note 11C) March 31, 2022  0.60  0.60 

March 31, 2021  1.01  1.01 
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative instruments ( refer note 19A) March 31, 2022  1.46  1.46  

March 31, 2021  -   -     
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
Floating rate borrowings (India) March 31, 2022  767.45  767.45 

March 31, 2021  768.10  768.10 

39	 Fair values (Contd.)

	 There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the period.

Particulars
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
technique

Inputs used		

FVTOCI financial investments
Quoted equity shares Level 1 Market 

valuation 
techniques

Prevailing rates in the active markets	

Unquoted equity shares
Level 3 Discounted 

cash flow
Long-term growth rate for cash flows for 
subsequent years, weighted average cost of 
capital, long-term operating margin, discount 
for lack of marketability

Unquoted debt securities

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through statement of profit and loss
Derivative instruments Level 2 Market 

valuation 
techniques

 Forward foreign currency exchange rates 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Security deposits

Level 2 Amortised 
Cost Prevailing interest rates in the market, Future payouts.Loan to ESOS trust

Loan to employees
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative instruments Level 2 Market 

valuation 
techniques

 Forward foreign currency exchange rates 

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Floating rate borrowings (India) Level 2 Amortised 

Cost
 Prevailing interest rates in the market, Future payout
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40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies	

	 The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, lease liabilities trade and other 
payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations and to provide guarantees to support 
its operations. The Group’s principal financial assets include loans, trade and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents 
that derive directly from its operations. The Group also holds FVTOCI investments and enters into derivative transactions.

	 The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s senior management oversees the management 
of these risks. The Group’s senior management is supported by a banking and operations committee that advises on financial 
risks and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Group. The financial risk committee provides assurance 
to the Group’s senior management that the Group’s financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures 
and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives. All 
derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by expert list teams that have the appropriate skills, experience 
and supervision. It is the Group’s policy, that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes may be undertaken. The Board of 
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

	 Market risk	

	 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk. 
Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits and derivative financial instruments.

	 The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the position as at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021. The sensitivity 
analysis have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of the debt are 
all constant.	

	 a)	 Interest rate risk

	 	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s 
long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.							     

		  In order to optimize the Group’s position with regards to interest income and interest expenses and to manage the interest 
rate risk, treasury performs a comprehensive corporate interest rate management by balancing the proportion of fixed rate 
and floating rate financial instruments in its total portfolio.

		  The Group in not exposed the significant interest rate as at a respective reporting date.

		  Interest rate sensitivity

		  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans 
and borrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is effected through the impact on 
floating rate borrowings, as follows:

Particulars Increase/decrease in basis points Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-).50% ‘(-)/+ 3.84

Particulars Increase/decrease in basis points Effect on PBT

March 31, 2021 +/(-).50% ‘(-)/+ 3.84
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40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd.)

	 b)	 Foreign currency risk	

		  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to its 
operating activities. The Group manages its foreign currency risk by hedging transactions that are expected to occur within 
a maximum 12 month periods for hedges of forecasted sales and purchases in foreign currency. The hedging is done 
through foreign currency forward contracts.

	 c)	 Foreign currency sensitivity

Particulars Change in USD rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 1.29

Particulars Change in NZD rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘+/(-) 0.00

Particulars Change in CHF rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.06

Particulars Change in EUR rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2022 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.00

Particulars Change in USD rate
Effect on PBT 

in Rs

March 31, 2021 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.81

Particulars Change in NZD rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2021 +/(-)1% ‘+/(-) 0.02

Particulars Change in CHF rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2021 +/(-)1% '(-)/+ 0.00

Particulars Change in EUR rate Effect on PBT

March 31, 2021 +/(-)1% ‘(-)/+ 0.00

	 d)	 Equity price risk

		  The Group’s listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of the 
investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification and by placing limits on individual 
and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior management on a regular 
basis. The Group’s Board of Directors reviews and approves all equity investment decisions.

		  At the reporting date, the exposure to unlisted equity securities at fair value was INR 1.37 crores as on March 31, 2022 (INR 
1.29 crores as on March 31, 2021).
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		  At the reporting date, the exposure to listed equity securities at fair value was INR 15.14 Crore as on March 31, 2022 (INR 
13.82 as on March 31, 2021). A decrease of 10% on the NSE/BSE market index could have an impact of approximately INR 1.51 
Crore on the OCI or equity attributable to the company. An increase of 10% in the value of the listed securities would also 
impact OCI and equity. These changes would not have an effect on profit or loss

	 e)	 Commodity risk

		  The Group is impacted by the price volatility of coal and cotton. Its operating activities require continuous manufacture of 
soda ash, and therefore require a regular supply of coal. Cotton is the key raw material for the spinning unit. Due to the 
significant volatility of the price of coal and cotton in international market, the company has entered into purchase contract for 
coal with its designated vendor(s). The price in the purchase contract is linked to the certain indices. The Group’s commercial 
department has developed and enacted a risk management strategy regarding commodity price risk and its mitigation.

	 f)	 Credit risk

		  Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and 
from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and 
other financial instruments.

		  Trade receivables

		  Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control 
relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on customer profiling, credit 
worthiness and market intelligence. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored and any shipments to major 
customers are generally covered by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance

		  An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major customers. In addition, a large number 
of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous Company’s and assessed for impairment collectively. The calculation is 
based on exchange losses historical data. The Group is not having the history of the significant bad debts expect one off cases. 
The receivables are recovered in business operating cycle. The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade 
receivables as low, as its customers are located in several jurisdictions and industries and operate in largely independent markets.

		  Financial instruments and cash deposits

		  Credit risk from balances with banks is managed by the Group’s treasury department in accordance with the Group’s 
policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each 
counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Group’s Board of Directors on an annual basis, and may be 
updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Banking & Operations Committee. The limits are set to minimise the 
concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through counterparty’s potential failure to make payments.

		  The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 
2021 is the carrying amounts as illustrated in Note 9 except for financial guarantees and derivative financial instruments. 
The Group’s maximum exposure relating to financial guarantees and financial derivative instruments is noted in note on 
commitments and contingencies and the liquidity table below.

		  Liquidity risk

		  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled 
by delivering cash or another financial asset. The approach of the Group to manage liquidity is to ensure , as far as possible, that 
it should have sufficient liquidity to meet its respective liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risk damage to their reputation. The Group also believes a significant liquidity risk with 
regard to its lease liabilities as the current assets are sufficient to meet the obligations related to lease liabilities as and when they 
fall due. The Group assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to be low.

40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd.)
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40	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd.)

		  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments.

As at March 31, 2022 On Demand 0 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Borrowings  208.05  135.83  388.29  35.28  767.45 
Trade and other payables  -    342.84  -    -    342.84 
Lease Liabilities  -    2.21  9.62  8.28  20.11 
Other financial liabilities  9.54  328.92  0.95  -    339.41 

 217.59  809.80  398.86  43.56  1,469.81 

As at March 31, 2021 On Demand 0 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Borrowings  41.35  162.93  466.88  96.94  768.10 
Trade and other payables  -    376.62  -    -    376.62 
Lease Liabilities  -    0.68  2.14  11.19  14.01 
Other financial liabilities  -    27.75  0.87  -    28.62 

 41.35  567.98  469.89  108.13  1,187.35 

41	 Capital management

	 For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, security premium and all other 
equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Group. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to 
maximise the shareholder value.	

	 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net 
debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio of less than 75%. The Group includes 
within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and other payables, less cash and cash equivalents.

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

Borrowings  767.45  768.10 
Trade payables  342.84  376.62 
Lease liabilities  20.11  14.01 
Other financial liabilities  391.81  56.64 
Less: Cash and bank balances  (243.58)  (34.97)
Net debt  1,278.63  1,180.40 
Equity  3,085.57  2,484.25 
Capital and net debt  4,364.20  3,664.65 
Gearing ratio 29% 32%

	 In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets 
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches 
in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no 
breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current year.	

	 No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended March 31, 2022.
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Dividend for the financial year ended 2021-22 2020-21

Dividends to non-resident shareholders  25,474,518  -   
Number of non-resident shareholders  549  -   
Number of shares  5,877,108  -   

42	 Raw material and power & fuel costs include expenditure on captive production of salt, limestone, 
briquette and lignite as under:

Particulars
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Manufacturing expenses*  201.44  132.98 
Stores and spares consumed  1.84  1.43 
Power and fuel  3.60  3.94 
Excise duty, cess and royalty  4.98  4.66 
Repairs and maintenance  -   
	 Building  0.84  0.24 
	 Plant and machinery  1.09  0.70 
	 Earth work  13.67  6.64 
	 Others  0.63  0.45 
Salaries and wages ( refer Note no 32)  8.61  8.24 
Travelling & conveyance  0.80  0.69 
Lease rent  0.88  0.91 
Rates and taxes  0.20  0.13 
Insurance  2.25  1.38 
Misc. expenses (including deferred revenue & intangible expenses)  3.61  0.90 
Less: Other misc. income  (9.88)  (0.84)
Total  234.56  162.45 

	 *It includes consumption of breeze, starch binder and other production and mining cost.

43	 In prior years as per SEBI (ESOS & ESPS) guidelines 1999 the Employees Stock Option Schemes of GHCL was administered by 
the registered Trust named GHCL Employees Stock Option Trust. However, the SEBI circular dated November 29, 2013, required 
the closure of all Employee Stock Option Trusts by June 2014. Accordingly, GHCL closed its ESOS Scheme, disposed of GHCL 
shares but retained its ESOS Trust for a limited purpose of litigation. ESOS Trust owns 20,46,195 GHCL shares, out of which 
15,79,922 shares were illegally sold by broker involved, against which ESOS Trust has initiated legal proceedings and 4,66,273 
shares were blocked for transactions by Stock exchange under legal proceedings. During the earlier year, 4,66,273 shares were 
transferred/released to ESOS Trust as per NSE order dated July 24, 2019 and are currently held by the Trust.	

	 During the tenure of ESOS Trust, the company had advanced INR 29.54 crores interest free loan to the Trust to buy the shares 
and at the end of March’2014, the company had written off an amount of INR 23.34 crores due from ESOS Trust on account of 
permanent diminution in the value of 20,46,195 shares as on March 31, 2014 held by the Trust.

	 Once the legal matter will settle ESOS Trust will get the possession of 15,79,922 shares also, the sale proceeds from the disposal 
of these 20,46,195 shares by ESOS Trust will first be used to repay the loan amounting to INR 29.54 crores due to GHCL which 
includes restatement of earlier write-off of INR 23.34 crores taken in March, 2014 and the balance surplus (if any) will be used for 
the benefit of the employees of the company as per the recommendation of GHCL’s Compensation Committee.

44	 Remittances during the year in Foreign currency on account of

a)	 Dividend for the financial year ended
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Particulars
As at March 31, 2022 As at March 31, 2021

Acres  Amount Acres  Amount 

Opening balance  24.74  10.90  48.33  31.46 
Add: Transferred from Property, plant and 
Equipment

2.42  1.65  -    -   

Add: Transferred from Investment property  21.85  8.56 
Less: Sold  22.32  8.94 12.25  9.92 
Less: Transferred to Property, plant and 
Equipment

 -    -   33.19  19.20 

Closing balance  4.84  3.61  24.74  10.90 

45	 Non-Current Assets held for Sale

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 
 As at  

March 31, 2021 

(a)	 Assets classified as held for Sale and discontinued operations
	 Discontinued operations ( footnote"i)  591.43  -   
	 Assets held for Sale ( footnote"ii) 3.61 10.90

(b)	 Liabilities directly associated with discontinued operations
	 Discontinued operations ( footnote"i)  82.49  -   

	 (i)	 For details relating Discontinued operations  ( Home Textiles business at Vapi, Gujarat) refer note no 47

	 (ii)	 The management has balance excessive and surplus land of 50.75 acres (Previous Year 48.33 acres) outside the premises 
of factory at Madurai, that is being disposed off and balance is held as non current asset held for sale. During the year the 
group has sold 22.32 acres (Previous Year 12.25 acres) of land. Also the group has transferred 2.42 acres (Previous Year 33.19 
acres) of land from/to Property, Plant and Equipment being to be sold after the approval of Board of directors.
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47	 Note : Discontinued Operations

	 A. 	 The Board of Directors and shareholders of GHCL Limited (‘Company’) at their respective meetings held on December 6, 
2021 and January 21, 2022 (through Postal Ballot), approved the sale and transfer of the Company’s Home Textiles Business 
(comprising of weaving, processing and cutting and sewing of home textiles products) to Indo Count Industries Limited 
(“ICIL”) on a going concern basis under a slump sale arrangement. Accordingly, a Business Transfer Agreement (‘BTA’) was 
executed on December 6, 2021 between the Company and ICIL (read with the Amendment agreement (‘ABTA’) dated March 
30, 2022 entered into to record the amendment and substitution of certain provisions of the BTA). In addition, Grace Home 
Fashions LLP (‘GHF’), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company also entered into an Asset Transfer Agreement (ATA) on 
December 6, 2021 for transfer of its identified assets (i.e., inventory and intellectual property) to Indo Count Global Inc., USA 
(US subsidiary of ICIL), Indo Count Global Inc., USA together with “ICIL” known as “Purchaser” (read with the Amendment 
agreement (‘AATA’) dated March 30, 2022 entered into to record the amendment and substitution of certain provisions of 
the ATA).

	 B. 	 The transfer of Home Textile Business and identified assets of GHF (“Divestment”) to the Purchaser was subject to the 
satisfaction of conditions precedent as stipulated in the BTA, AA and ATA and receipt of applicable permissions and consents 
from concerned authorities. The Company and GHFsuccessfully completed the divestment on April 2, 2022 in accordance 
with the terms of BTA and ATA for a consolidated consideration of Rs. 592.8 Crores (subject to validation of customary 
closing date adjustment of working capital in terms of the BTA and ATA), in addition Company/GHF expects to realise Rs. 
15.5 crores on its own account.  The Company has received Rs. 300 crores as advance from the said consideration on 
March 30, 2022.”	

	 C. 	 In the Consolidated Financial Statements, Assets and liabilities of Home Textiles business and GHF covered by the BTA and 
ATA have been disclosed as held for sale and disclosed separately in the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2022 as “Assets of 
discontinued operations classified as held for sale” and ”Liabilities of discontinued operations classified as held for sale” 
respectively. As mandated by Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 105 Asset Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
(“Ind AS 105”), assets and liabilities has not been reclassified or re-presented for prior period i.e. year ended March 31, 2021  

	 D. 	 Further the net results of Home Textile Business and GHF has been disclosed separately as discontinued operation as 
required by Ind AS 105. Consequently, the Company’s Statement of Profit and Loss  for the year ended March 31, 2022 
presented pertains to its continuing operations only and for that purpose the Statement of Profit and Loss for the  year 
ended March 31, 2021 has been restated accordingly.

	 E.	 The closing date being subsequent to the balance sheet date, no gain/loss with respect to the Divestment have been 
recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2022. The total assets and liabilities of the Home 
Textile business and GHF are Rs 591.43Cr and Rs 82.49 Cr respectively as at March 31, 2022”

Particulars			 
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Revenue
Revenue from operations 819.73 512.41
Other income 14.38 19.57
Total Income 834.11 531.98
Expenses
Cost of raw materials consumed 500.04 290.45
Purchase of stock in trade 4.15  -   
(Increase)/  Decrease in inventories of finished goods, stock-in-trade and 
work-in-progress

(14.75) (14.14)

Power, fuel and water 66.1 43.54
Employee benefit expenses 46.28 45.92

GHCL Limited Integrated Annual  Report  2021-22

400

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (INR in crores)



47	 Note : Discontinued Operations (Contd.)

Particulars			 
For the year ended  

March 31, 2022
For the year ended  

March 31, 2021

Depreciation and amortization expense 15.09 22.01
Finance costs 7.04 16.86
Other expenses 139.79 106.95
Total expenses 763.74 511.59
Profit for the year 70.37 20.39

Particulars
 As at  

March 31, 2022 

I.	 Assets	
	 (1)	 Non-current assets
		  (a)	 Property, plant and equipment 271.97
		  (b)	 Capital work-in-progress 0.36
		  (c)	 Intangible assets 0.41
		  (d)	 Financial assets
			   (i)	 Other non-current financial assets 0.31
		  (e)	 Other-non current assets 0.08
		  Total Non-Current Assets 273.13
	 (2)	 Current assets
		  (a)	 Inventories 200.61
		  (b)	 Financial assets
			   (i)	 Trade receivables 102.11
			   (ii)	 Cash and cash equivalents 0.17
			   (iii)	 Loans 0.20
			   (iv)	Other current financial asset 2.30
		  (c)	 Other current assets 12.91
		  Total Current Assets 318.3
		  Total assets classified as held for sale 591.43
	 Liabilities
	 (1)	 Current liabilities
		  (a)	 Financial liabilities
			   (i)	 Borrowings 17.96
			   (ii)	 Trade payables
				    (a)	 Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 14.04
				    (b) 	Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises
47.22

			   (iii)	 Other financial liabilities 0.7
		  (b)	 Provisions 0.54
		  (c)	 Other current liabilities
			   (i)	 Contract liabilities 0.97
			   (ii)	 Other liabilities 1.06
		  Total Current Liabilities 82.49
		  Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale 82.49
		  Net Assets 508.94

		  Major Class of assets and liabilities of HT are as follows :
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47	 Note : Discontinued Operations (Contd.

		  Net Cash flow attributable to HT business are as follows :	

Particulars
For the year ended 

31st March 2022

Net cash generated from operating activities (A)  53.79 
Net cash used in investing activities (B)  3.40 
Net cash used in financing activities (C )  (58.81 )
Net (Decrease) / Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  (1.62 )
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  1.79 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  0.17 

48	 Demerger

	 In view of the divestment of HT Business of the Company to ICIL pursuant to BTA (mentioned above), the Board of Directors 
of the Company, at their meeting held on December 06, 2021 approved withdrawal of the existing Scheme of Arrangement 
u/s 230-232 of the Companies Act 2013, involving demerger of its entire Textiles business into GHCL Textiles Limited (‘Original 
Scheme’) and correspondingly approved "Scheme of Arrangement consisting of demerger of Spinning Division of GHCL 
Limited ("Demerged Company") into GHCL Textiles Limited ('Resulting Company')" (the "Scheme"). Subsequently, on December 
20, 2021, Hon’ble NCLT (Ahmedabad Bench) allowed the withdrawal petition. The Company has received the observation letter/
approval from BSE,NSE on March 03, 2022  and competition commission of india  on March 24, 2022 .The Company is in process 
of filing the 1st motion petition along with requisite documents with the Ahmedabad jurisdiction of NCLT. 

	 Upon the Scheme becoming effective, the Textile Business (along with all assets and liabilities thereof) shall be carved out and 
transferred to the Resulting Company on a going concern basis. As a consideration for the Demerger, the Resulting Company 
would issue its equity shares to the shareholders of GHCL as on the record date in a 1:1 swap ratio (i.e. One (1) share of INR 2 
each would be issued by the Resulting Company for every one (1) share of INR 10 each held in GHCL), following which the 
shareholding of both Companies shall be same as at the record date.

	 "Post Demerger, GHCL shall continue with the Chemicals Business while the Resulting Company shall house the Textiles 
Spinning division. Shares of GHCL shall continue to be listed on the BSE and NSE and that of the Resulting Company shall 
also be listed on the BSE and NSE. The Demerger is expected to facilitate focused growth, concentrated approach, business 
synergies and increased operational and customer focus for respective business verticals apart from exploring independent 
business opportunities with efficient capital allocation.

49	 Other Statutory Information

1	 The Group do not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Group for holding 
any Benami property.

2	 The Group do not have any transactions with companies struck off.

3	 The Group do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period,

4	 The Group have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.

5	 The Group have not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities 
(Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:					   

	 (a)	 directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Group (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or
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49	 Other Statutory Information

	 (b) 	 provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

6	 The Group have not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the 
understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Group shall:					   

	 (a)	 directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 					   

	 (B)	 provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries,

7	 The Group have not any such transaction which is  not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed 
as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant 
provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961

8	 Ratio (Continuing operations) :

Particulars Numerator Denominator
Mar 31, 

2022
Mar 31, 

2021
Variation Reason for variance

(a)	 Current 
Ratio,

Current Assets Current Liabilities  1.42  1.70 -16%

(b)	 Debt-Equity 
Ratio,

Total Debt Shareholders Equity  0.25  0.31 -20%

(c)	 Debt 
Service 
Coverage 
Ratio,

Earnings for debt 
service = Net profit 
after taxes + Non-
cash operating 
expenses

Debt service = 
Interest & Lease 
Payments + Principal 
Repayments

 2.45  1.45 69% On account of higher cash 
profit earned during the 
year there is significant 
improvement in the ratio

(d)	 Return on 
Equity Ratio,

Net Profits after 
taxes – Preference 
Dividend (if any)

Average 
Shareholder’s Equity

 0.21  0.13 62% On account of higher Net 
profit earned during the 
year there is significant 
improvement in the ratio

(e)	 Inventory 
turnover 
ratio,

Cost of goods sold Average Inventory  1.93  1.45 33% Majorly on account of higher 
sales in the current year 
as compare to previous 
year due to which there is 
favourable movement in the 
ratio.

(f)	 Trade 
Receivables 
turnover 
ratio,

Net credit sales = 
Gross credit sales - 
sales return

Avg. Accounts 
Receivable

 18.14  15.54 17%

(g)	 Trade 
payables 
turnover 
ratio,

Net credit 
purchases = Gross 
credit purchases - 
purchase return

Average Trade 
Payables

 6.13  3.24 89% Majorly on account of higher 
purchase in the current year 
as compare to previous year 
due to higher sales thereby 
leading to a significant 
change in the ratio.
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Particulars Numerator Denominator
Mar 31, 

2022
Mar 31, 

2021
Variation Reason for variance

(h)	 Net capital 
turnover 
ratio,

Net sales = Total 
sales - sales return

Working capital = 
Current assets – 
Current liabilities

 8.07  8.17 -1%

(i)	 Net profit 
ratio,

Net Profit Net sales = Total 
sales - sales return

 0.16  0.12 29% On account of higher Net 
profit earned during the 
year there is significant 
improvement in the ratio

(j)	 Return on 
Capital 
employed,

Earning before 
interest and taxes

Capital Employed 
= Tangible Net 
Worth + Total Debt 
+ Deferred Tax 
Liability

 0.20  0.11 91% On account of higher earning 
before interest and taxes 
earned during the year there 
is significant improvement in 
the ratio

(k)	 Return on 
investment-
Mutual fund

Interest (Finance 
Income)

Investment 3.53% 4.15% -15%

L)	 Operating 
profit 
Margin (%)

Earning before 
interest and taxes

Revenue from 
operations

23% 20% 17%

m)	 Return on Net 
Worth (%)

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year, net of tax

Net worth 21% 13% 56% On account of higher total 
comprehensive income 
earned during the year there 
is significant improvement in 
the ratio

49	 Other Statutory Information

50	 Coronavirus (COVID-19) Impact on Financial Reporting – Accounting Year Ending March 31, 2022

	 The Group has considered the possible effects that may result from COVID-19 in the preparation of these Standalone financial 
statements including the recoverability of carrying amounts of financial and non-financial assets. Based on the current year 
performance and estimates arrived at using internal and external sources of information, the group does not expect any 
material impact on such carrying values. Based on the projected cash flows for the next one year the management is confident 
of liquidating its liabilities as and when they fall due and the Going concern assumption used for preparation of these financial 
statements is appropriate. 

51	 The Code on Social Security, 2020 (‘Code’) relating to employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits 
received Presidential assent in September 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the date on 
which the Code will come into effect has not been notified and the final rules/interpretation have not yet been issued. The group 
is in the process of assessing the impact of the code and will record the same, if any, in the year the Code becomes effective.

52	 There are no new standards that are notified, but not yet effective, upto the date of issuance of the Group financial statements.
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53	 As per the Transfer Pricing Rules of the Income Tax Act, 1961 every company is required to get a transfer pricing study conducted 
to determine whether the transactions with associated enterprises were undertaken at an arm’s length basis for each financial 
year end. Transfer pricing study for the transaction pertaining to the year ended March 31, 2022 is currently in progress and 
hence adjustments if any which may arise there from have not been taken into account in these financial statements for the 
year ended March 31, 2022 and will be effective in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023. However, in the 
opinion of the Company’s management, adjustments, if any, are not expected to be material.

54	 Previous year’s figures have been regrouped / rearranged wherever necessary, to conform to current year’s presentation. As 
required by Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 105 “Asset Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, the Statement of Profit 
and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2021 has been restated to make it comparable however Balance Sheet as at March 31, 
2021 has not been reclassified or re-presented.

As per report of even date		  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of GHCL Limited

For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No. 301003E/E300005	 Sanjay Dalmia			   Manoj Vaish 
			  Chairman				    Director 
			  DIN: 00206992			   DIN: 00157082

per Atul Seksaria		  R. S. Jalan 			   Raman Chopra 
Partner	  	 Managing Director 			   CFO & Executive Director-Finance 
Membership No. 086370	  	 DIN: 00121260 			   DIN: 00954190

Place : New Delhi	  	 Place : New Delhi 			   Bhuwneshwar Mishra 
Date: April 30, 2022		  Date: April 30, 2022 		  Sr. GM- Sustainability & 
								       Company Secretary 
								       Membership No.: FCS 5330
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